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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
B"ofE OB OR A OB A FH

BUSINESS STRUCTURE AND FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

BUSINESS STRUCTURE

During the year under review, Vantage International
(Holdings) Limited and its subsidiaries are principally engaged
in the following businesses in Hong Kong:

e the contract works business, through Able Engineering
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1627) and its subsidiaries;

e the property investment and development business; and

e the provision of finance business.

HIGHLIGHTS

e Turnover for the year ended 31 March 2019 increased by
approximately 2.4% to approximately HK$3,545 million
from approximately HK$3,463 million for the year ended
31 March 2018.

e Net profit for this year increased to approximately
HK$740 million, representing an increase of

approximately 63% as compared with approximately
HK$453 million for the year ended 31 March 2018.

e Basic earnings per share for the year ended 31 March

2019 amounted to HK41.86 cents (2018: HK23.94 cents).

e  Proposed final dividend per share for the year ended 31
March 2019 amounted to HK2 cents (2018: HK2 cents)

per share.
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RESULTS

Year ended 31 March
BE=ZH="+—HILFEEF

VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

B

# Ok A R & W

F1vE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

T4 B 5 e 2

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
SR | SR )N\E ZFLE DR NFE ZFHE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000  HK$'000  HK$ 000
T#7C FC Foc FBoc T
REVENUE WA
Contract works revenue HHTRRBA 2,385,415 3,112,264 2,232,895 2,374,377 1,933,864
Property gross rental income MEM WA 84,562 80,088 77,425 36,723 17,880
Sale of properties e R A 1,054,860 252,296 = = =
Interest income from loans receivable JRE Wi 8 3k A R B U 19,682 18,429 16,521 5,665 =
3,544,519 | 3,463,077 2,326,841 2,416,765 1,951,744
Contract works costs B H TR R A (2,149,888)| (2,862,972) (1,982,527) (2,080,515) (1,814,232)
Property costs L/Ed b3 (566,213)| (140,658) (3,694) (5,024) (1,810)
Gross profit BF 828,418 459,447 340,620 331,226 135,702
Other income and gains, net Al e A B W 2 (%) 179,704 190,674 12,021 383,417 41,573
Administrative, selling and AT~ B R
marketing and other expenses oAl B S (141,260) (114,233)  (124,031) (65,677) (54,108)
Finance costs I % % (32,429) (27,536)  (22,147)  (15,468)  (14,120)
Share of profits and losses of joint ventures JEA% 5 2 A 3 2 ¥z Al & g 18 2,170 9) (18,336) 182,732 22,829
Income tax expenses i IE 3 th (96,725) (55,670)  (34,606)  (44,041) (9,902)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROM FERB BB Z AR RA
CONTINUING OPERATIONS 739,878 452,673 153,521 772,189 121,974
Profit from a discontinued operation O IL RS 2 = = = 358 16,494
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR A7 JE Yt A 739,878 452,673 153,521 772,547 138,468
Profit attributable to: JRE A 3 A
Owners of the parent BEARFRE H 704,520 408,930 141,543 772,483 134,500
Non-controlling interests i J5e 1 P WE 2% 35,358 43,743 11,978 64 3,968
739,878 452,673 153,521 772,547 138,468

2018-20195EH &



VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

#mofE OB K A B A W

F1vE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

T A7 B 85 I 2

FINz%AN‘CIAL POSITIONS

MR o
As at 31 March
R=H=+—H
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
R0 | 2R N\E DR DR RE EF L4
HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T#x T#or T T T
Investment properties HEWE 2,138,000 2,039,000 1,851,000 1,008,500 920,200
Property, plant and equipment W~ B B 1,160,495 127,503 136,525 143,453 147,825
Properties held for development WHEEERZYE 74,362 396,877 396,855 324,334 728,257
Investments in joint ventures NEBAERNRE 104,962 8,800 8,614 26,950 141,418
Other non-current assets A I i ) 5,867 118,419 5,203 4,241 4,260
Properties under development wREp ¥ 808,215 419,033 413,456 579,105 536,282
Properties held for sale FHAEELREZWE 246,181 667,226 762,025 510,185 -
Other current assets A 0 ) 5 2,420,658 | 2,217,911 2,110,781 1,670,832 1,216,095
Liabilities =K (2,425,062) | (2,236,369) (2,253,868) (1,501,984) (1,560,639)
NET ASSETS ¥ A i 4,533,678 | 3,758,400 3,430,591 2,765,616 2,133,698
Issued capital CE AT A 42,074 42,074 44,042 43,667 43,667
Reserves fii H 4,163,445 | 3,422,040 3,136,006 2,721,949 2,033,499
Equity attributable to owners of RO W) F5 A 5 R AN RE 25
the parent 4,205,519 | 3,464,114 3,180,048 2,765,616 2,077,166
Non-controlling interests I e ol e E 2 328,159 294,286 250,543 - 56,532
TOTAL EQUITY BB 2% 4,533,678 | 3,758,400 3,430,591 2,765,616 2,133,698

Annual Report 2018-2019



PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
BB

VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
#"ofE OB OKR A OB A F

F1vE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

T4 B 5 B

Notes 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
Mt | BN | SR\ DR DR A R L
Basic earnings (HK cents) per B S FEA LAY (AL
share (i) 41.86 23.94 8.07 44.21 6.98
Dividends (HK cents) per share % BB & (¥4l) 2 2 2 2 5
Net assets attributable to owners B BE 2 ) F5 A & BEAL
of the parent (HK$) per share % E - (o) (ii) 2.50 2.06 1.81 1.58 1.19
Current ratio R (iii) 1.44 1.48 1.46 1.92 1.14
Gearing ratio (%) FE AR EE R (%) (iv) 37 40 53 32 42
Interest coverage ratio (times) FE PR BE L R (%) (v) 25 14 8 44 10
Notes: Wit

(iii)

(iv)

This figure was measured as profit from continuing operations
attributable to owners of the parent of the year divided by weighted
average number of shares in issue during the respective reporting
periods.

This figure was measured as net assets (excluding non-controlling
interests) divided by the number of issued shares outstanding at the end
of the respective reporting periods.

This ratio was measured as total current assets divided by total current
liabilities at the end of the respective reporting periods.

This ratio was measured as total bank borrowings divided by equity
attributable to owners of the parent at the end of the respective
reporting periods.

This ratio was measured as EBITDA (earnings before interest, tax,
depreciation and amortization) divided by interest on bank borrowings
(before capitalization) during the respective reporting periods.

Performance indicators in respect of environmental and social
perspective will be disclosed in the Company’s “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” to be published within three months from the
date of this annual report.

(it)

(iii)

(iv)

A2 B R A T T 2 B 8 R A A A A
35 2 kR B DLAR P9 T BEAT IR B P £ G
o

M R R (O B35 JE Pl M A ) B DA 4%
WA HR T BT R WE R

% P 0 A% 4 4 I R I 3 B A AR B DL A B
A

% PO B A U R I R AT SRk AR L B A
T & ANl a5 5

W b R 5 4 ) 5 0 B Z EBITDA (REHFE ~ Bl
T~ PTRE SCHE S BT AY A ) B DLERAT B Z AR
(R A1 B3 & AL 8B AR) R o

A BRI BR I B pk @y Jy T ) 28 BLAR B AT A AC A R I [ B8
oo AE RGO | PR > SO R A
H R EH =18 H T g e

=3
=]
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

#mofE OB K A B A W

F1vE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

T A7 B 85 I 2

Revenue from Continuing Operations:

KHAFBRBEHZBA :
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
BofE OB OR A OB A F

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

B F:
Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors of Vantage International
(Holdings) Limited, I am delighted to report the annual results
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

During the year under review, the Group was principally
engaged in the contract works business, the property
investment and development business and the provision of

finance business in Hong Kong.

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group’s profit
attributable to owners of the parent amounted to HK$705
million compared to HK$409 million in last year, an increase
of 72%. Excluding revaluation gains from its investment
properties, the Group’s underlying net profit of this year
rose to HK$647 million from HK$269 million of the year
ended 31 March 2018. The basic earnings per share for this
year was HK41.86 cents compared to HK23.94 cents in last
year. In addition, the equity attributable to owners of the
parent as at 31 March 2019 amounted to HK$4,206 million
(approximately HK$2.50 per share), representing an increase
of 21% (31 March 2018: HK$3,464 million (approximately
HK$2.06 per share)). The substantial increase in the
underlying net profit for the year ended 31 March 2019 was
largely due to the completion of all sales transactions of the

Group’s “Pokfulam Peak” project in this year.

On the other hand, the performance of contract works,
property investment and provision of finance businesses
remained stable in this year. Upon the initial adoption of
HKFRS 15 on 1 April 2018, the Group recognised contract
works profits of approximately HK$92 million directly in
equity.

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend
of HK2 cents (2018: HK2 cents) per share for the year ended
31 March 2019. The proposed final dividend will be payable
on or before Friday, 20 September 2019, subject to the
approval of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming

2019 annual general meeting of the Company.

Annual Report 2018-2019
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ACQUISITION OF JOINT VENTURE

In November 2018, a subsidiary of the Group’s major
subsidiary, Able Holdings (stock code: 1627), entered into
transactions to acquire 50% equity interests in and 50%
shareholder’s loan to Gold Victory for a total consideration
of HK$60 million. Accordingly, Gold Victory and its
subsidiaries, which mainly engaged in manufacturing, trading
and installation of doors, door frames, furniture in Hong Kong
and the PRC become joint ventures of the Group. Through
this acquisition, the business of Able Group expanded into
a new scope of works which broaden its income source while

diversify its business risk.

ACQUISITION OF PROPERTIES

In March 2019, the Group acquired No. 18 Shek O Headland,
Hong Kong through the acquisition of York Star Holdings
Limited for a consideration of HK$338 million. Given the
property’s prime location in the luxury residential area of Shek
O, this acquisition enhances the property portfolio of the
Group.

To strengthen the land bank of the Group, we also entered
into a provisional sales and purchase agreement with an
independent third party in April 2019 to acquire No. 12
Wiltshire Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong for a consideration of
HK$140 million. This acquisition was completed subsequent
to the year end on 21 May 2019.

VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
#"ofE OB OKR A OB A F

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
BofE OB OR A OB A F

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

ERW

OUTLOOK

In recent years, housing policy remains a prime focus of
the HKSAR Government. As addressed in the 2018 Policy
Address, the HKSAR Government will implement various
measures to increase land and public housing supplies, such
as the redevelopment of aged housing estates and allocate
70% (based on housing units) of newly developed land to
public housing development. All these measures involve
building construction works which are one of the key business
of the Group. Accordingly, the Directors believe that the
construction industry will remain active in the future. To stay
competitive, the Group will put more effort in enhancing
our work efficiency and work safety, supporting research and
development projects in construction materials and other
sectors, as well as actively investing in the use of technologies

in daily operation.

For the property investment and development business, after
a modest decline in property prices in Hong Kong during Q3
of 2018/19, residential prices in both the luxury and mass
segments all rebounded in Q4 of 2018/19 and continue to
increase in April 2019. However, current market sentiments
are affected by the trade war between China and the US and
recent social contradiction in Hong Kong. In this regard,
it is expected the current market outlook remains heavily
dependent on how the trade war and the social instability
plays out. Should the trade war or social conflict persist and
escalate, the intensifying downside risk will affect most of
the industries. The Directors are confidence that market
fundamentals like wage levels, unemployment rate, interest,
property supply and interest rate will remain stable in the
short to medium term, while the long-term outlook of the
property market are unclear. The Group will keep a close
look on the market and be flexible to adjust its property
sales strategy and to replenish its property investment and
development projects. Disregard of the market conditions,
as the Group only has one ready-for-sale property project on
hand, it is expected that the revenue and profits that can
be earned from the property development business will drop
significantly in the year 2019/20.

Annual Report 2018-2019
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In response to increasing uncertainties and instabilities, the
Group will continuously keep a close eye on the market and
be prepared to react quickly to challenges and new investment
and development opportunities. To manage investment risk,
the Group may also co-operate with different independent

partners in tendering projects and expand its business.

CHANGE IN BOARD MEMBERS

In May 2019, Mr. MONG Chan has been appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company. The
Board would like to express its warm welcome to Mr. MONG

for joining as a member of the Board.

APPRECIATION

Finally, on behalf of the Board, I would like to extend
our gratitude and sincere appreciation to the management
and staff members of the Group for their diligent work
and dedication, as well as to all business partners and all

shareholders of the Company for their continuous support.

Sincerely,

NGAI Chun Hung
Chairman

VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

Hong Kong, 25 June 2019
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
B"ofE OB OR A B A F

SUMMARY OF
PROPERTIES
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PROPERTIES HELD BY THE GROUP
AT 31 MARCH 2019

VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
#"ofE OB OKR A B A #

SUMMARY OF PROPERTIES

AR B A 2%
RoZ—-EZA=Z1—H

10.

11.

Address
Mt

I"roperti‘es in Hong Kong
REEZIE
G/F to 2/F, No. 123 Tung Choi Street,

Mong Kok, Kowloon
JURE HE 4 R AT 12358 30 F 24

3/F to 17/F, No. 123 Tung Choi Street,
Mong Kok, Kowloon
JUBEHE A B SRAT 1233 1 7

Shop Nos. 5 and 6 and Storeroom 3,

Ist Floor, Fou Wah Centre,

No. 210 Castle Peak Road, Tsuen Wan,

New Territories

FIRZEE T B2 1095 % 3O 1S R oE o &

IREME

A 3-storey commercial centre and

an adjoining 5-storey car park building within
Tin Ma Court, 55 Chuk Yuen Road,

Wong Tai Sin, Kowloon

JUBE SR APY B8 55 98K 16 26 9 2 — W3 e v 7 3 I

AR 2 — i 5 135 457 HE 50 KB

A 3-storey commercial/car park building

as well as associated areas within

Kam Ying Court, 9 Kam Ying Road,

Ma On Shan, Sha Tin, New Territories
SR T G L 0 S O R 8 04 P < — i
3 3 A T K DA A o

No. 155 Waterloo Road, Kowloon Tong, Kowloon
JUREJURESE B AT € T 1555

No. 157 Waterloo Road, Kowloon Tong, Kowloon
JUREJURE S B 4T 2 TE 15757

3987 Tai Po Road Yuen Chau Tsai, Tai Po,
New Territories

R K 4 % G A B398 79

Lot No.1583 and Lot No. 1584 in Demarcation
District No.109, Kam Tin, Yuen Long,

New Territories

3050 B 88 EH S A0 0y 0 R AR 10998 »

HB 1583 BE B b B3 15843%

Man Shung Industrial Building, No. 7,

Lai Yip Street, Kwun Tong, Kowloon

JJU LS D 8 7 I T K

(Held by the Able Group, 75% of which is

attrlbutable to owners of the parent)

(HZREMEFF > ﬂ"?%ﬁ%‘?ﬁﬁa $175%)

No. 18 Shek O Headland, Hong Kong
Bl BLL AF 1 8%%

Use
ik

Shogﬁ

Hotel
W)

Shopping centre and
car parking spaces

7 5 B B 55

Shopping centre and
car parking spaces

1 5 B A 5

Office
WA

Office
WAE
Residential

8

Agricultural

Industrial

T

Resideqtial
B

Tenure

£

Long term lease

REHA

Long term lease

REHA

Medium term lease

HRIRLA

Medium term lease

Lk

Medium term lease

TR

Medium term lease

A

Medium term lease

FRIREA

Medium term lease

LA

Medium term lease

i )

Medium term lease

A

Long term lease

R A

B3R

Percentage held
by the Group
AREFA T A

100%
100%

100%

100%

100%

100%
100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

2018-20195EH &
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
BofE OB OR A OB A F

SUMMARY OF PROPERTIES

B3R

AT 31 MARCH 2019

Address
Hihk

1L Properties Held for Sale in Hong Kong
AT Z 354 1 £

I. Belfran Peak, No. 9 Belfran Road, Ho Man Tin, Kowloon, Hong Kong
JUHE T SC H 25 36 9%% Belfran Peak

Saleable area: Approximately 1,079.25 square meter
(excluding car parking spaces)

Stage of development: Occupation permit and certificate of
compliance obtained; fitting-out
works completed

Properties details: 20-storey residential building with 6
duplex units, 1 triplex unit, 8 car
parking spaces and 1 motor cycle
parking space

Expected sales date: Sales in progress

TR #11,079.25°F 7k OF L% 1 HLfir)

BERERE L : B A T AR (A0 RA 4
SERGE W E (WA s BR8ME
Y 4 i TR

ETAE —HZtE R T AN

WAL —fH = AL )\
R D) S (N RTE R K A

A H BT

III.  Properties under Development in Hong Kong
R R E

1. 28 Lugard Road, The Peak, Hong Kong
v 1L TR 7 28 R
Site area: 1,728.17 square meter
Gross floor area: 862.30 square meter
Stage of development: Foundation works in progress
Expected completion date: Beyond 2021
R : 1,728.17°F 75K
M TR : 862.30 7k
BRIRREE ERETHME TR
EEATHH “ERIER

Annual Report 2018-2019

R -WAEZA=Z1T—H

Use
i}

Residential
fe

Residential

i<t

Percentage held
Tenure by the Group

B OARRBRAE 2

Long term lease 100%
REHA
Long term lease 100%



AT 31 MARCH 2019

Iv.

Address

St

No. I & No. 1A Wood Road, Hong Kong

T I8 AR B 1 9E S 1 AR

Site area: 432.00 square meter

Stage of development:

Expected completion date: 2022

W TR : 432.00FJ5 %
PR Al EEAT IR TR
HRATHE - EICE

Properties Held for Development in Hong Kong
REFE A MR IR

Wing Lung Wai 173A (The Remaining Portion of Lot No.462,
The Remaining Portion of Lot No.464 and The Remaining
Portion of Lot No.465, all in Demarcation District No.109),
Kam Tin, Yuen Long, New Territories, Hong Kong

7 87 1 S0 P A 173 A O 6L 26 -0 A 27109
HB 462 BT ER B ~ B 40455 8% B K 0 BE5R465 9% i BY)

Site area:

HgwR

5,528.52 square meter
5,528.50F I K

The Remaining Portion of Lot No.544 and The Remaining
Portion of Lot No.545, both in Demarcation District No.109,
Kam Tin, Yuen Long, New Territories, Hong Kong

B 50 ) P S R 551095

Ho B3R 5449 B B B M B 5 545 0% B B

Site area:

HgwR

528.06 square meter
528.06FJ5 %

Planning for demolishing works

VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
#"ofE OB OKR A OB A F

SUMMARY OF PROPERTIES

Py 3 Bt
L =V EX

Percentage held

Use Tenure by the Group
ik R AREBFA T2

Residential Long term lease 100%
g R

Residential and ~ Medium term lease 100%
village type
development
EER HRLA
AR
Residential ~ Medium term lease 100%
g HI LA

2018-20195EH &
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
BofE OB OR A OB A F

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS ON HAND

K T BT AU

At 31 March 2019, the management estimates the gross and RZF—NLE=ZA=+—H » FHEBEMNFI AL

outstanding values of the Group’s substantial contracts on  Z KT8 G 4 5808 S A 58 A AV AE 53 B 49 2%
hand amounted to approximately HK$9,108 million and  91.08{8 ¥ C &54.82fE ¥ 6 - WEF T KR FHA A

HK$5,482 million, respectively. Details of these substantial —Z#FAl &R W F -

contracts on hand are set out below:

Projects Contract value
¥H g of =t
HK$ million
A # T
Building Construction
B gl 5
Main Contract for the Proposed Residential Development at NKIL No. 6567 1,898
Kai Tak Area 1K Site 1, Kai Tak
JUTE RO A 1K e 1 5% b B BT L BE L B SR 656 TR Z AR B R Rt R R TR
Design and Construction of Redevelopment of Queen Mary Hospital, Phase 1 2,835
— Main Works at Pok Fu Lam Road (Note 1)
WAt AR MIRRE SRR TR TRE - - EE TR (Hfat1)
Extension and Conversion to St. Paul’s Primary Catholic School at Wong Nai Chung Road, 322
Happy Valley
908 3 e A D S b B B B AR R R EUNR TR
Construction of Subsidised Sale Flats Development at Shatin Area 16, 707
Wo Sheung Tun Street, Fo Tan and Footbridge Improvement Works at
Siu Hong Road, Tuen Mun
WH 16 KRR I3 B B 5 2 5wl g g AR R ol Y KRR AT N R AR s AR
Construction of Subsidised Sale Flats Development at Texaco Road 496
RN R R e g b e R
Construction of Public Housing Development at Lai Chi Kok Road 2,590
— Tonkin Street Phase 1 & 2
B AEAR R — - ARG R R TR
Repair, Maintenance, Alteration and Addition (“RMAA”) Works
HEfs - DRE - Vol ot (7408 - PR3% -~ ot Bt ) TR
Hospital Authority Term Contract for Gascoigne Road Site of 260
Minor Capital Project 15/16 (Note 2)
6 e A B SR ) 2 M g = /R TR S #1516 (Htat2)
Note: WAk ¢
1. Project with a contract sum of HK$9,450 million has been awarded to 1L IR — 2R G E (ﬂf#ﬁﬁéﬁ@ﬁ{]@%) i&fgz
Paul Y.-Able Joint Venture, an unincorporated body which 30% interest of HH ’ B AT RBAE04. 501 v T - AL 5 % 2 I
this joint operation is attributable to the Group. AEZ30% M af -

2. Due to the nature of the contract, the contract value represents our best — Z- HIR G AP - 15 79 (1 7 e A1 28 77 ] 14

estimation based on the relevant tender document. X AF T 1 R AE A A e

Annual Report 2018-2019



The following table summarises the details of the major
qualifications and licences obtained by members of the Group

as at 31 March 2019.

VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
#"ofE OB OKR A OB A F

(QUALIFICATIONS AND LICENCES

A e o 1L

TRBER ZF-NEZA=+—H o REER
B2 AU i 3 B AR R A

Government Agencies Category Group

BOR BB BN #15%

Able Engineering Company Limited R TEARAF

Works Branch, Development Bureau Buildings C (confirmed)

BRRLEFR % 7 (R
Plumbing Installation II (probation)
KA e 11 Gl 1)

Repair and Restoration of Historic Buildings — For
works related to ‘Western Style Buildings’ only

Ml RAB LA JE s i e — SRR B UM 5 A
L

Turn-key Interior Design and Fitting-out Works

EVES YIS IR
Housing Authority Building (New Works) NW2 (confirmed)
EREH® B R %) NW?2 (i)
Building (Maintenance) M1 (confirmed)
HEE(RE) M1 (R
Decoration Contractors -
B AR v
Buildings Department General Building Contractors -
[FE — g SRR
Site Formation Works -
Ho PR AR
Foundation Works -
M T2
Housing Society Building Works List 2
IZ3=4 8 BFEEE TR 2% =
Urban Renewal Authority Repair/Maintenance Works Upper Tier
R HACYL S IR g
Electrical and Mechanical Services Registered Electrical Contractors (Electricity Ordinance) -
Department FE AT 3 ARG (B R A))
WELREE
Able Building Construction Limited &R %A B2 7
Buildings Department General Building Contractors -
BT #E — B S A
Able Contractors Limited EREEARAA
Housing Authority Decoration Contractors -
RRER® BEAE AR T
View Finance Limited FEMBARAE
Licensing Court Money Lenders Licensee -
i 3 B2 SN EEEEY DN

2018-20195EH &
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
B"ofE OB OR A B A F

*,." ANAGEMENT

&-— ANALYSIS
P R A LA

The following discussions should be read in conjunction with DA Fafim R A G RERARAR ([A4H 1) &2
the audited consolidated financial statements of Vantage ZZF—JUEEH=1—HIMEEZRELEGH
International (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) for the B #E 20 -

year ended 31 March 2019.

PERFORMANCE EHRB
During the year under review, Vantage International FFEIEEAERN > BfEHEBERAE ((ARAH])
(Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries  AJEFHE AR (GH (A B M | > S5 R TR
(collectively, the “Group”, including Able Engineering MRAMRAFE ([ LM 5 BARGE : 1627) KIE
Holdings Limited (“Able Holdings”; stock code: 1627) and its M A (S [ ZMEM ) TERFHELE S
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Able Group”)) was principally — #1 LR (% b 1 E A HHE T /L RS - R
engaged in the contract works business, which mainly & - S@ g ([ 46 - e - Yo Lomgd]) T
comprised of building construction and repair, maintenance, F2) ~ ¥ G KPR KR BEhEHEF -
alteration and addition (“RMAA”) works, the property
investment and development business and the provision of
finance business in Hong Kong.

22 Annual Report 2018-2019




VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
#"ofE OB OR A OB A #

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group’s profit
attributable to owners of the parent amounted to HK$705
million compared to HK$409 million in last year, an increase
of 72%. Excluding revaluation gains from its investment
properties, the Group’s underlying net profit of this year
rose to HK$647 million from HK$269 million of the year
ended 31 March 2018. The basic earnings per share for this
year was HK41.86 cents compared to HK23.94 cents in last
year. In addition, the equity attributable to owners of the
parent as at 31 March 2019 amounted to HK$4,206 million
(approximately HK$2.50 per share), representing an increase
of 21% (31 March 2018: HK$3,464 million (approximately
HK$2.06 per share)). The substantial increase in the
underlying net profit for the year ended 31 March 2019 was
largely due to the completion of all sales transactions of the
Group’s “Pokfulam Peak” project in this year.

On the other hand, the performance of contract works,
property investment and provision of finance businesses
remained stable in this year. Upon the initial adoption of
HKFRS 15 on 1 April 2018, the Group recognised contract
works profits of approximately HK$92 million directly in
equity.

DIVIDEND

No interim dividend has been paid or declared by the
Company during this year (2018: nil). At the Company’s
annual general meeting (“AGM”) held on 31 August 2018,
shareholders approved the payment of a final dividend of HK2
cents per ordinary share for the year ended 31 March 2018
which amounted to a total of approximately HK$33,659,000.
The dividend was paid on 21 September 2018.

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of
HK2 cents (2018: HK2 cents) per ordinary share for the year
ended 31 March 2019 to the shareholders whose names appear
on the register of members of the Company on 10 September
2019, Tuesday. The proposed payment of the final dividend is
subject to the approval of the Company’s shareholders at the
forthcoming 2019 AGM of the Company and has not been
recognised as a liability as at 31 March 2019.

Based on the 1,682,966,400 ordinary shares of the Company
in issue as of the approval date of this annual report, the total
final dividend amounted to approximately HK$33,659,000.

B PR ki 5L 2y By

NBREZZ—NEZH=Z1T—HILEE » REH
B A T F5 A F REAG A i 2548 8 24,0008 % >
EF2%E7.05E#EIC - BB E W EZ B
Witk > REFZFHMNBHRE_-F— )E=
A=Z+—HILFEEZ2.698# 0 » LI EAREE
MI6.4 7R TG o AE EZ IR FE AU F) 241,86
fly > T AR 2523.94 %Al o BEAL > T F—JUAE
ZH=1—H MR 6 R # AL RERR %542.06
s e (B8 B By Al 2.50% o8) » B R4 LA
21% (RZF—/)E=ZH=+—H : 34.645¥% 0
(B B e fh2.06%8)) - BE F—NILFE=
HZE+—H IR B2 S f) 2 B R
A A 45 E 4 [ Pokfulam Peak | 38 H B ME N 56 1K,
BRI -

=i AR TR - WERE KRR
BEEGAAEFRFEERM - R2F—)ENA—H
B R v I i i e ) BB 1S B > ARAE A
F2 7 E 25 HE TR A00.92 B W B 4 TR M i Al o

JgE B

AR A ] A AR A B 3 B YR Bk S A R B R (R
— )\ ) o RZF— )\FE)NH=+—HELT
AR A ARG ([BERBAE R ) b > B
K AREZFT— )E=ZH=1—HIEFEIKR
B R B B2 W A AR B L - JE£933,659,000%
JC e B ER ZF—/)ENLH Z+—HIRM -

EEFRERKE-ZUEZA=ZTH RS
BERR = F—IEA R (B Z) #FARAT
JBe 3R 4% ik L Y Je SRUR 8 R U B8, > A B A 2
WAl (2 — V4 = 234l - IR KRR B
AR 23 W] B SR 47 1 R — JUAR IR 4F K
RS e AL E > 7 AR o RIS I T i
REZF-NFE=ZA=Z+—HHERHAR-

FRAAE BE A A R HARA R 2 BT IR
131,682,966,400 % % 488 B e Ay 5 5 » A H B S 4
4 #4533,659,0008 I °

2018-20195EH &
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
BofE OB OR A OB A F

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B PR ik il 5L 5y

BUSINESS REVIEW

Business Model and Strategies

The Group’s businesses are focused in Hong Kong. It adopted
a diversified business model which comprises “three pillars”
namely, the contract works business, the property investment
and development business and the provision of finance
business. The contract works business and the property
investment business provide a reliable income source to the
Group, while the property development business is a profit
driver, and the provision of finance business allows the
Group to better utilize its short-term cash resources. The
Group is dedicated to maximising value for shareholders
over the long term by conducting our business in an efficient
and environmentally sound manner, as well as building and
maintaining a diversified and competitive land bank and
achieving a growth through acquisition strategy.

Contract Works

Market review

In recent years, housing policy remains a prime focus of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (the “HKSAR” or
“Hong Kong”) Government. As addressed in the 2018 Policy
Address, the HKSAR Government will implement various
measures to increase land and public housing supplies, such as
the redevelopment of aged housing estates and allocate 70%
(based on housing units) of newly developed land to public
housing development. All these measures involve building
construction works which are one of the key business of the
Group. The Directors believe that the construction industry
will remain promising in the future.

The Group’s performance

The Group currently carries on its contract works business
through the Able Group. The contract works segment can
be further divided into two businesses according to nature of
contracts, being building construction and RMAA works. As
of 31 March 2019, the Group’s substantial contracts on hand
were mainly related to building construction works from the
public sector.

Annual Report 2018-2019
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
#"ofE OB OKR A OB A F

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

For the year ended 31 March 2019, external revenue
amounted to approximately HK$2,385 million (2018:
approximately HK$3,112 million), representing a decrease
of 23% from that of last year. The decrease in turnover was
mainly resulted from the completion of substantial portion
of certain large-scale building construction projects of the
Able Group during the year. A large portion of revenue of
these matured projects had already been recognised last year
and they reached final stage of development in this year.
Accordingly, these projects did not contribute much revenue
to the Able Group in current year. On the other hand, works
regarding those new construction projects awarded to the Able
Group only commenced in the second half year of 2018/19
that they did not contribute much revenue for the year ended
31 March 2019.

The gross profit margin of this segment increased from 8.0%
for the year ended 31 March 2018 to 9.9% for the year
ended 31 March 2019. The increase was mainly resulted
from the effect of the adoption of HKFRS 15 since 1 April
2018. In prior years, revenue and costs of contract works
were recognised using the percentage of completion method
and a relatively even gross profit margin was achieved
for an individual contract over the life of the contract.
Under HKFRS 15, contract works costs related to satisfied
performance obligations in a contract would be recognised
in profit or loss immediately, resulting in uneven gross profit
margins in individual reporting periods over the life of each
contract. Albeit the overall profit that can be recognised for
a project will not be affected by HKFRS 15, it is expected
the gross profit margins of the contract works business will
fluctuate over different reporting periods, depending on the
actual revenue certified and costs incurred for the construction
works performed. As further explained in note 2.2 to the
audited consolidated financial statements, the Group
recognised contract works profits of approximately HK$92
million directly in equity upon the initial adoption of HKFRS
15 on 1 April 2018.

Substantial building construction works contracts awarded to
the Group during the year ended 31 March 2019 were set out
below:

° Main Contract for the Proposed Residential
Development at NKIL No. 6567 Kai Tak Area 1K Site 1,
Kai Tak

° Extension and Conversion to St. Paul’s Primary
Catholic School at Wong Nai Chung Road, Happy
Valley

B PR ki 5L 2y By

BEZZ-IWEZA=Z+—HILFE > SAEFKRA
#14523.85 W00 (ZF— )UF  F3 1. 12f%50) »
W RAE WA 23% o MEBT B EEH R R RE
[ s A A ) 58 A 1 TR R TR 9 1 T H 1 R
4y TR » 3% COBCIHE B R4 W T 5 T
TR A AR AT BB fo A5 B R B B > O AAT [ 3 AR
ARZREBEBMKNZWA - B—JiH » BRR
PR R A HER B RHA R —F—N\Z
—JUEE BT REA B T > %5 0H B K AR
BRECR-NEZHAZT—HILEEHRAE K
KER -

Koy BHNEHRE_Z— )\FE=ZH=+—H
IHEENS. % L AERE_—F—NFE=HA=1—
HIE4EE0.9% o ML EHPEH T —/)\FENH
— H B MR PR A0 7 s A S i i R RSB 159 BT 3L - R
VLRTAEBE » A 41 TRE WA BORAR T34 58 T
43 VoW 7 e R s AR A A0 A3 P9 A [
1 B R B RT3 o 7 TR AN A v B 2 i e R
1SR - A CERBA HENA A TREA
315 BB 1R 25 P R R - B R S TR A AT
S [ 391 A B R 2R 1 o 45 A8 N I H S e
F N & 3275 s B S SRS MR SR 1SR S8 2 »
BEATRESMZ B RSE T OIS TR
Jit B A 2 8% R B WA B B A T 7 S [l e 15 39
M BT o BRAb » 300 48 35 4% A B I 7 i 3 B
FE2.2P0ak > R ZF— )AENH — H H R EB
Vb g s 1 1 B S 1S R IR o A 452 [ A 25 T R
#10.92E W LA L TR B AF -

ALEPRBRE R -NEZA =+ HIRFE R
DG ZEARMEFREGHSIRWT ¢

. JU HE R B 1KCIR 1555 b 8 P 5 L BE P 3 B
SROS6THE X AT R R A H R L T

. S e v L R M R A R A R B

JNEL
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
BofE OB OR A OB A F

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B PR ik il 5L 5y

o Design and Construction of Redevelopment of Queen
Mary Hospital, Phase 1 — Main Works at Pok Fu Lam
Road (Note)

Note: Project with a contract sum of HK$9,450 million has been awarded

to Paul Y.-Able Joint Venture, an unincorporated body which 30%
interest of this joint operation is attributable to the Group. The
Able Group and the other joint operator party contractually agree to
share control of the arrangement, and have rights to the assets, and
obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement

We expect the abovementioned contracts will be completed in
two to five years from project commencement.

The Group completed the following substantial contracts
regarding building construction works during the year ended

31 March 20109:

o Construction of Public Housing Development at
Eastern Harbour Crossing Site Phase 7 and Demolition
of Ex-Tung Wah Lung Kong Mrs. Fung Yiu Hing
Memorial Primary School, Chai Wan

o Construction of Public Housing Development at Tung
Chung Area 39

Property Investment and Development

Market review

The elevated US-Mainland trade conflicts and the interest
rate hikes weakened market sentiment in the second half of
2018/19 that property price recorded a drop from August to
December 2018. However, as supported by strong demand
from home buyers and investors and slower than expected
increase in interest rates, the property price and transaction
volume rebounded in the last quarter of 2018/19.

The Group’s performance

Property investment

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group’s gross
rental income increased from approximately HK$80 million
for the year ended 31 March 2018 to approximately HK$85
million. The increase of rental income was mainly contributed
from temporary leasing of certain units of the newly acquired
Man Shung Building (as defined in this annual report) during
the year under the leases brought forward from the acquisition
and before such leases expired.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

# Ok A R & #

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group’s “Investment properties” were valued amounting
to HK$2,138 million in aggregate as of 31 March 2019
(31 March 2018: HK$2,039 million) by an independent
professional valuer. Based on the independent valuation
performed, the Group recorded net gain on changes in fair
value of investment properties of approximately HK$93
million for the year ended 31 March 2019 (31 March 2018:
approximately HK$183 million). The increase in fair value
in this year was mainly contributed from general market
appreciation and increase in rental potential at Tin Ma Court,

Wong Tai Sin.

As at 31 March 2019, approximately half of the aggregated
value of the Group’s investment properties portfolio referred
to the investment properties at Tin Ma Court, Wong Tai Sin
and Kam Ying Court, Man On Shan acquired in May 2016.

Property development

As mentioned in the Company’s 2017/18 annual report, the
Group’s revenue earned from property development business
rose significantly in 2018/19. While only one property sales
transaction of “Pokfulam Peak” project was recognised in last
year, the Group completed the sales of remaining properties
of the project in this year, leading to substantial increase in
revenue and profits of the property development business
from approximately HK$252 million and HK$121 million of
the year ended 31 March 2018 to approximately HK$1,055
million and HK$497 million, respectively, in this year.

Regarding the Group’s proposed redevelopment at No. 1 &
No. 1A Wood Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong (the “Wood Road
Property”), the Group successfully bided for the acquisition of
the Wood Road Property at a public auction held on 29 June
2018 under the Land (Compulsory Sale for Redevelopment)
Ordinance (Cap. 545) (the “Wood Road Acquisition”). The
Wood Road Acquisition was completed in August 2018 and
further details of the acquisition was set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 29 June 2018. As of 31 March 2019,
all units of the Wood Road Property were vacant for
redevelopment and the Group was planning the demolishing
works of the building.

The site foundation works of the residential development at
No. 28 Lugard Road, The Peak, Hong Kong (the “Lugard
Project”) was in progress during the year and as of 31 March
2019. Due to the geographical location of this project and road
conditions of nearby areas, it is expected that the development
of the Lugard Project will be completed after 2021.
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As of 31 March 2019, the Group’s “Properties held for sale”
in the consolidated statement of financial position were
referring to properties at “Belfran Peak”. This high-end
residential development project is located at No. 9 Belfran
Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong. The project was granted the
certificate of compliance and is ready for sale. “Belfran Peak”
consists of a 20-storey residential building, which contains six
duplex apartments, a triplex apartment, car parking spaces and
recreational facilities.

Details of the Group’s “Investment properties”, “Properties
held for development”, “Properties under development” and
“Properties held for sale” as at 31 March 2019 have been
disclosed in pages 16 to 19 of this annual report.

Provision of Finance

A wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group has been granted a
licence under the “Money Lenders Ordinance” to carry on the
provision of finance business in Hong Kong since September
2015. During this year, interest at rates ranging from
approximately 2% to 30% per annum (2018: approximately
4% to 41% per annum) were charged to borrowers and interest
income of approximately HK$20 million was earned (2018:
approximately HK$18 million).

Other Income and Gains, Net

Other income and gains (net) recorded a decrease from
approximately HK$191 million for the year ended 31 March
2018 to approximately HK$180 million for the year ended 31
March 2019. The decrease was mainly attributable to the drop
of net gain on changes in fair value of the Group’s investment
properties from approximately HK$183 million for the year
ended 31 March 2018 to approximately HK$93 million in
current year. The higher net fair value gains recorded in last
year was mainly due to increase in rental potential of certain
investment properties after change in floor layout while
the increase in this year was mainly resulted from general
market appreciation in Hong Kong. Besides, a property sales
transaction was canceled this year that confiscated deposits
and compensation income of approximately HK$75 million
was also recognised.

Selling and Marketing Expenses

Expenses incurred for the year ended 31 March 2018
represented respective advertising and marketing costs
incurred for the marketing of the “Pokfulam Peak” project
while that of current year represented cost incurred for the
launch of “Belfran Peak” project, including costs related to
sales brochure, project website and advertising, etc..
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Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses increased from approximately
HK$114 million for the year ended 31 March 2018 to
approximately HK$141 million for the year ended 31 March
2019. The higher administrative expenses of current year was
mainly due to the depreciation, maintenance and operating
costs incurred for newly acquired properties such as the
Man Shung Building, and the increase in director’s and staff
related costs, including salary, discretionary bonus and welfare
expenses.

Finance Costs

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group recognised
approximately HK$32 million finance costs as expenses
(2018: approximately HK$28 million) while the Group’s
total interest on bank loans before interest capitalisation to
“Properties under development” was approximately HK$37
million (2018: approximately HK$30 million). The increase
in overall finance costs was mainly caused by the increase in
average bank loans and interest rates during this year.

Share of Profits and Losses of Joint Ventures

To expand into new sector of the contract works businesses,
the Group, through the Able Group, acquired 50% interest
in Gold Victory (as defined in this annual report) through
the JV Acquisition (as defined in this annual report) on 30
November 2018. During the four months from the completion
of the JV Acquisition to 31 March 2019, net profits shared
by the Group from Gold Victory amounted to approximately
HK$2 million.

Income Tax Expense

Income tax expense increased by 74% from approximately
HK$56 million for the year ended 31 March 2018 to
approximately HK$97 million for this year. The increase was
consistent with the increase in taxable profit for this year.

Profit Attributable to Owners of the Parent

As a result of the foregoing, the Group’s profit attributable to
owners of the parent for this year recorded an increase from
approximately HK$409 million for the year ended 31 March
2018 to approximately HK$705 million of current year.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Capital Structure, Liquidity and Financial Resources

The capital of the Company only comprises ordinary
shares. The Group’s banking facilities, comprising primarily
bank loans, overdrafts and performance bond, amounted
to approximately HK$3,305 million as of 31 March 2019
(31 March 2018: approximately HK$3,202 million), of
which approximately HK$1,455 million (31 March 2018:
approximately HK$1,642 million) was unutilised. The Group
monitors capital structure using gearing ratio and net gearing
ratio. Gearing ratio is measured as total bank borrowings
divided by equity attributable to owners of the parent while
net gearing ratio is measured as total bank borrowings less cash
and cash equivalents, divided by equity attributable to owners
of the parent. As at 31 March 2019, the Group’s gearing and
net gearing ratios were 37.4% and 0.4% (31 March 2018:
39.8% and -2.9%), respectively.

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents recorded an increase
by 4.8% from approximately HK$1,481 million as at 31 March
2018 to approximately HK$1,552 million as at 31 March
2019. In this year, the Group recognised significant net cash
outflows in investing activities for the acquisition of the
Man Shung Building, the Shek O Property (as defined in this
annual report) and certain land lots at Kam Tin, Yuen Long
for the Group’s own use. On the other hand, operating net
cash inflows from both contract works business and property
investment and development business remained strong in this
year.

Current ratio of the Group stood at 1.44 as at 31 March
2019, while that as at 31 March 2018 was 1.48. Current ratio
is measured as total current assets divided by total current
liabilities. The Group maintains sufficient working capital
resources to execute its contract works, property investment
and development plans and provision of finance business.

Looking forward, due to the commencement of a substantial
hospital project awarded to the joint operation in which a
subsidiary of the Group is a joint operator, it is expected
significant amount of cash would be consumed by the contract
works business in the coming twelve months. The Group will
continuously take a prudent and cautious approach to cash
application and capital commitments.
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Interest and Foreign Exchange Exposure

The Group’s business operations are principally engaged
in Hong Kong, and certain operation of a joint venture is
engaged in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).
Majority of the Group’s business transactions are denominated
in the local currencies. Hence, the Group is not exposed to
significant foreign exchange risk.

At 31 March 2018 and 31 March 2019, the Group’s bank
borrowings were all denominated in Hong Kong dollars and on
a floating rate basis. The Group’s bank accounts were operated
with principal bankers in Hong Kong. The interest rates
of these bank accounts are determined by reference to the
respective banks’ offer rate. For the year ended 31 March 2018
and 31 March 2019, the Group did not engage in any interest
rates and currency speculation activities.

Non-current Prepayments and Other Assets

As at 31 March 2018, the Group recorded non-current
prepayments and other assets of approximately HK$115
million, which represented prepayments and deposits of
approximately HK$114 million paid for the acquisition of
total 25/26 shares in the Man Shung Building and deposits of
approximately HK$1 million paid for the acquisition of certain
land lots at Kam Tin, Yuen Long. Both acquisitions were
completed in this year.

Accounts Receivable

As at 31 March 2019, approximately 99% (31 March 2018:
approximately 99%) of the Group’s accounts receivable
represented the receivables of contract works business of the
Able Group, among which, accounts receivable only included
contract trade receivables in accordance with HKFRS 15,
while that as of 31 March 2018 also combined retentions
receivable and unbilled revenue which rights to receipt have
not yet become unconditional in relation to completed and
on-going contract works projects. Contract trade receivables
represent progress billing of work performed by the Able Group
and which the amounts have been verified by the progress
payment certificates issued by and received from customers.
The level of contract trade receivables is principally affected
by work progress and the amount of the progress payment
certificate received from customers before the end of the
reporting period. Approximately 93% of the contract trade
receivables as at 31 March 2019 were subsequently settled
by 31 May 2019 (31 March 2018: approximately 97% were
subsequently settled by 31 May 2018).
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Prepayment, Other Receivables and Other Assets

Both the Group’s balances at 31 March 2018 and 31 March
2019 contained refundable security deposits of HK$45 million
paid for the potential acquisition of RICHREAR INT’L (as
defined in this annual report), prepaid insurance for contract
works, bank interest receivable, deposits paid for building
management services, wastage disposal, utilities, etc.. Increase
in balance at current year was mainly due to approximately
HK$75 million sales proceeds of “Pokfulam Peak” escrowed at
lawyer.

Contract Assets

Balance at current year end represented retention of accounts
receivable and unbilled revenue of HK$162 million and
HK$58 million, respectively, which the Group’s rights to
receipt have not yet become unconditional. Both balances
were previously classified under “Accounts receivable” before
the adoption of HKFRS 15 on 1 April 2018. In general,
half of the retention money will be released upon practical
completion of a project and the remaining half of the
retention money is released upon expiry of the defect liability
period.

Other Payables and Accruals

The Group’s balances at 31 March 2019 mainly represented
provision of contract works, staff costs payable, rental income
received in advance and deposits received from tenants,
etc.. Significant increase in balance in current year end was
primarily caused by the increase in provision of contract works
after the adoption of HKFRS 15. Besides, amount received
in advance for the sale of properties as of 31 March 2018 had
been recognised as income upon completion of respective sales
transactions in this year.

Charges on Assets

At 31 March 2019, the following assets of the Group were
pledged in favour of certain banks to secure certain banking
facilities granted by those banks to certain members of the
Group:

o investment properties with an aggregate carrying
amount of HK$2,138,000,000 (31 March 2018:
HK$2,039,000,000);

° land and buildings with an aggregate carrying amount of

HK$95,059,000 (31 March 2018: HK$85,354,000);
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o properties held for development with an aggregate
carrying amount of HK$67,949,000 (31 March 2018:
HK$146,877,000);

o properties under development with an aggregate
carrying amount of HK$445,846,000 (31 March 2018:
HK$419,033,000);

o properties held for sale with an aggregate carrying
amount of HK$246,181,000 (31 March 2018:
HK$246,053,000);

o the assignment of the Group’s financial benefits under
certain contract works and rental arrangements with
accounts receivable related to such contract works and
rental arrangements amounting to HK$21,963,000 (31
March 2018: HK$220,143,000, which included unbilled
revenue and retention receivables of HK$2,333,000
and HK$55,148,000, respectively) and HK$92,000 (31
March 2018: HK$2,689,000), respectively; and

o the assignment of the Group’s financial benefits under
certain contract works with unbilled revenue and
retention receivables related to such contract works
amounting to HK$23,255,000 and HK$57,871,000,

respectively.

Contingent liabilities
Details of the Group’s contingent liabilities are set out in note
37 to the audited consolidated financial statements.

Capital commitments
Details of the Group’s capital commitments are set out in note
39 to the audited consolidated financial statements.

ACQUISITION OF THE SHEK O PROPERTY

On 24 December 2018, East Acton Limited (“East Acton”,
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) was
noticed in writing that the tender documents it submitted
to acquire No. 18 Shek O Headland, Hong Kong (the
“Shek O Property”) through the acquisition (the “Shek
O Acquisition”) of the entire issued share capital of and
the shareholder loan to York Star Holdings Limited at an
aggregate consideration of HK$338 million was accepted
by HSBC International Trustee Limited as trustee of The
Supremo Trust, as the vendor. Completion of the Shek O
Acquisition took place on 15 March 2019.
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The Shek O Property falls within the luxury residential
area of Shek O Headland, with unobstructed sea view. It
comprises a 2-storey waterfront house together with terrace,
garden and a swimming pool erected upon a site with site
area of approximately 15,400 sq. ft.. It has a saleable area
of approximately 3,382 sq. ft. according to the Rating and
Valuation Department.

The Shek O Acquisition constituted a discloseable transaction
of the Company under Chapter 14 of the Rules (the “Listing
Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (The “Stock Exchange”).
For further details of the Shek O Acquisition, please refer to
the announcements of the Company dated 28 December 2018
and 15 March 2019.

ACQUISITION OF 50% INTEREST IN GOLD
VICTORY

On 30 November 2018, Grand Superb Limited (“Grand
Superb”, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Able
Holdings) as the purchaser, Golden Stone Asia Inc. (“Golden
Stone”, an independent third party) as the vendor and
Mr. WONG Kin Wah (the “Guarantor”, an independent
third party) as the guarantor entered into an equity transfer
agreement (the “Equity Transfer Agreement”) pursuant to
which Grand Superb agreed to purchase and Golden Stone
agreed to sell 50% interest of the Gold Victory Resources Inc.
(“Gold Victory”) at a consideration of HK$60 million (the
“JV Acquisition”). Completion of the ]V Acquisition took
place on the same day.

Gold Victory and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “JV
Group”) are principally engaged in the manufacturing of
doors, door frames, furniture and other related products
in a leased factory in Dongguan City of the PRC and the
installation and trading of doors, door frames, furniture and
other related products in Hong Kong. The goodwill arising
from the JV Acquisition amounted to approximately HK$45
million. The Board believed that the JV Acquisition can
achieve synergy and strategic advantage and broaden the
income source while diversify the business risk of the Group.

The JV Acquisition constituted a discloseable transaction for
each of the Company and Able Holdings under Chapter 14 of
the Listing Rules. For further details of the JV Acquisition, please
refer to the joint announcements of the Company and Able

Holdings dated 30 November 2018 and 18 December 2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Pursuant to the Equity Transfer Agreement, Golden Stone
irrevocably warrants and guarantees to Grand Superb that the
actual profits of the JV Group for the period commencing from
1 December 2018 and ending on 31 March 2022 (the “Profit
Warranty Period”) shall not be less than the guaranteed
profits (the “Guaranteed Profits”) of HK$50 million (the
“Profit Warranty”). In the event the total Guaranteed Profits
are not achieved or reached for the entire Profit Warranty
Period based on auditor’s certification, Golden Stone shall pay
Grand Superb 50% of the shortfall between the actual profits
and the Guaranteed Profits, unless the shortfall is caused by
the event of force majeure as defined in the Equity Transfer
Agreement. The JV Group has achieved the estimated portion
of the Guaranteed Profits of HK$3 million for the period from
1 December 2018 to 31 March 2019 as illustrated in the joint
announcement of the Company and Able Holdings dated 30
November 2018.

The Profit Warranty constitutes a derivative financial
instrument of the Group. As at 31 March 2019, the fair
value of the Profit Warranty was HK$194,000, which was
determined by Asset Appraisal Limited, an independent
professional valuer, based on the probabilistic flow method.

THE MAN SHUNG ACQUISITION

On 8 January 2018, Bright Wind Limited (“Bright Wind”, an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Able Holdings) entered
into nine provisional sale and purchase agreements with
various independent third parties for the acquisition of certain
properties (representing 21/26 equal and undivided shares)
located at Man Shung Industrial Building (the “Man Shung
Building”), No. 7, Lai Yip Street, Kwun Tong, Kowloon,
Hong Kong at an aggregate consideration of HK$438.6
million (the “First Round Man Shung Acquisition”). In
addition, Bright Wind also entered into three provisional
sale and purchase agreements with various independent third
parties for the acquisition of certain remaining properties
(representing 4/26 equal and undivided shares) of the Man
Shung Building at an aggregate consideration of HK$180
million on 9 February 2018 (the “Second Round Man Shung
Acquisition”); and entered into one provisional sale and
purchase agreement with an independent third party for the
acquisition of Portion B on 11th Floor of the Man Shung
Building (representing 1/26 equal and undivided shares) at
a consideration of HK$30.3 million on 28 June 2018 (the
“Third Round Man Shung Acquisition”, together with the
First Round Man Shung Acquisition and the Second Round
Man Shung Acquisition, the “Man Shung Acquisition”).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Completion of the First Round Man Shung Acquisition and
the Second Round Man Shung Acquisition took place on 12
April 2018, while completion of the Third Round Man Shung
Acquisition took place on 30 August 2018. After completion
of the Man Shung Acquisition, the Group, through the Able
Group, owns the entire Man Shung Building. The Man Shung
Acquisition will provide a self-owned working space to the
Able Group as office, project rooms, rooms for new BEAM and
innovation and technology functions, technical workshop and
training centre for its expansion. As the Man Shung Building
was acquired on “as is” basis, certain units of the property have
been leasing to third parties which contributed approximately
HK$7 million to the Group’s rental revenue of this year. Based
on current negotiation with the tenants, the latest tenancy
will expire/be terminated before December 2019.

The Man Shung Acquisition constituted a major transaction
for each of the Company and Able Holdings under Chapter
14 of the Listing Rules. For further details of the Man Shung
Acquisition, please refer to the joint announcements of the
Company and Able Holdings dated 8 January 2018, 9 February
2018, 12 April 2018 and 28 June 2018, and the circulars of the
Company and Able Holdings, both dated 28 March 2018.

SUBSEQUENT ACQUISITION OF THE
WILTSHIRE ROAD PROPERTY

On 11 April 2019, Luck Huge Limited (“Luck Huge”, an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) entered
into a provisional sale and purchase agreement with The
Lutheran Church - Missouri Synod for the acquisition of
No. 12 Wailtshire Road (the “Wiltshire Road Property”),
Kowloon, Hong Kong at a consideration of HK$140 million
(the “Wiltshire Road Acquisition”). Completion of the
Wailtshire Road Acquisition took place on 21 May 2019.

The Wailtshire Road Property is located at the traditional
luxury residential area of Kowloon Tong. It comprises a
4-storey domestic property together with garden erected
upon a site with site area of approximately 5,235 sq. ft.. It
has a saleable area of approximately 7,470 sq. ft. according to
Rating and Valuation Department. Given the property’s prime
location in the traditional luxury residential area of Kowloon
Tong, the Directors are of the view that there is good
potential for capital appreciation as well as redevelopment.
The Group intends to redevelop the Wiltshire Road Property
for rental or long-term appreciation purpose to strengthen the
property portfolio of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Wailtshire Road Acquisition constituted a discloseable
transaction of the Company under Chapter 14 of the Listing
Rules. For further details of the Wiltshire Road Acquisition,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 11
April 2019.

POSSIBLE RICHREAR ACQUISITION

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 8 January
2018, Profit Chain Investments Limited (“Profit Chain”, a
direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) entered into
a conditional share transfer agreement with an independent
third party (the “Vendor”) on 5 January 2018, pursuant to
which, Profit Chain has conditionally agreed to acquire and
the Vendor has conditionally agreed to sell the entire equity
interest of Richrear International Limited (“RICHREAR
INT’L”) at a consideration of HK$150 million (the “Richrear
Acquisition”).

RICHREAR INT’L is a limited company incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands that its sole business is to hold the
entire issued share capital of Richrear Plastic Material Limited
(“RICHREAR HK”, a limited liability company incorporated
in Hong Kong) which has been engaged in the processing and
trading of plastic materials, pigments and master batch and the
holding of the SZ Properties (as defined below). At the same
time, RICHREAR HK also owns the entire interests of & 45
W ERGEIN A R A (“RICHREAR SZ”), a company
established in the PRC with limited liability and is principally
engaged in the processing of plastic materials, pigments and
master batch at the SZ Properties.

The SZ Properties refers to a piece of industrial land of
approximately 10,000 square metres with six 3-6 storey high
buildings and fixtures erected thereon, including an office
building, three plants and two staff dormitories located in the
Hong Qiao Tou Industrial Estate, Song Gang Sub-district,
Baoan District, Shenzhen, the PRC (No. 608 Song Gang
Section, China National Highway 107).

Up to the approval date of this annual report, refundable
deposits of HK$45 million in aggregate has been paid to
the Vendor, albeit the Richrear Acquisition may or may
not proceed. If proceed, it is expected that the Richrear
Acquisition will constitute a discloseable transaction of the
Company under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules. Further
announcement(s) in relation to the Richrear Acquisition
will be made by the Company as and when appropriate in
accordance with the Listing Rules.
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING OF
ABLE HOLDINGS

The Group disposed 25% interests of its contract works
business through the separate listing (the “Listing”) of Able
Holdings on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange on 20
February 2017. After deducting the underwriting commission
and other expenses in relation to the Listing, Able Holdings
successfully raised a total net cash proceeds of approximately
HK$524 million from the Listing and approximately HK$181
million of the net proceeds were unused as at 31 March 2019
(31 March 2018: approximately HK$386 million). The unused
proceeds were deposited in licensed banks in Hong Kong.

According to the section “Future Plans and Proposed Use of
Proceeds” as set out in the prospectus of Able Holdings dated
26 January 2017, the Able Group used the net proceeds during
the year ended 31 March 2019 as follows:
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b AR G A 5. 2440 9 o R B4 P AR OE
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Net proceeds Unused Unused
from amount at Used in amount at
the Listing 1 April 2018 this year 31 March 2019
W F— N\ RoE—-AE
EARE Y P4 WH—HZ BAEEN ZH=Z+—H2Z
Ptk HHA WK% BNz WAHNEE
HK$ million HKS$ million HKS$ million HK$ million
H ##x i & ix- 2y H ##x
Maintaining and increasing the employed 4% 36 ¥ IR 5/ 4 8
capital requirement and working capital  J& B [ Bf 7 & A J 28 i
requirement for future/new projects in K&K
the public sector 402 354 (175) 179
Payment for the upfront costs S AF T390 AR 70 - - -
General working capital —REEE S 52 32 (30) 2
Total i 524 386 (205) 181
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As of 31 March 2019, the Group employed 369 full-time
employees (31 March 2018: 404) in Hong Kong. The Group
remunerates its employees based on their performance and
work experience and with reference to the prevailing market
conditions. On top of the regular remuneration, discretionary
bonus and share options may be granted to senior management
and staff members by reference to the Group’s performance,
specific project’s performance as well as the individual
employee’s performance. Staff benefits include mandatory
provident fund, medical insurance, incentive travel, subsidies
for education and training programmes, etc..

At the AGM of the Company held on 7 September 2011, the
Company adopted a new share option scheme (the “2011
Scheme”) in replacement of its share option scheme which
was adopted on 5 August 2002. The purposes of the 2011
Scheme are to provide incentives for the Group’s employees
and executives, to recognise their contributions to the Group’s
growth and to provide more flexibility for the Group in
formulating its remuneration policy. During the year ended
31 March 2019, the Company did not grant any share options
under the 2011 Scheme to the Group’s employees (including
Directors) (2018: nil). As at 31 March 2019, the Company
had 10,080,000 share options (31 March 2018: 10,200,000
share options) outstanding under the 2011 Scheme.

At the respective AGMs of Able Holdings and the Company
held on 31 August 2018, the adoption of a share option
scheme by Able Holdings (the “Subsidiary Option Scheme”)
was considered and approved. The purposes of the Subsidiary
Option Scheme are to provide incentives for the directors
and employees of the members of the Group to work towards
enhancing the value of Able Holdings and its shares for the
benefit of Able Holdings and its shareholders as a whole. The
Subsidiary Option Scheme provides Able Holdings with a
flexible means of either retaining, incentivising, rewarding,
remunerating, compensating and/or providing benefits to
participants of the scheme. From the date of adoption of the
Subsidiary Option Scheme and up to 31 March 2019, Able
Holdings did not grant any share options under the Subsidiary
Option Scheme and no equity-settled share option expense
was charged to the profit or loss.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. NGAI Chun Hung (“Mr. NGAI”), aged 56, a
controlling shareholder of the Company, has been the
Chairman of the Board and an Executive Director since
July 2000. Mr. NGAI was appointed as a director of Able
Engineering Holdings Limited (“Able Holdings”, a subsidiary
of the Company which shares commenced to deal on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(The “Stock Exchange”) since 20 February 2017; stock code:
1627; together with its subsidiaries, collectively, the “Able
Group”) in July 2016 and was re-designated as its chairman
and executive director in September 2016.

Mr. NGALI is a director of every subsidiary of the Group,
including the Able Group. He is also the chairman of the
Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. NGAI has over
22 years of experience in the construction industry and over
15 years of experience in the property industry. He is primarily
responsible for the management of the Board and the board
of directors of Able Holdings and the strategic planning of
the Group. Save as aforesaid, Mr. NGAI has not held any
directorship in other listed public companies in the last three
years.

Mr. NGAI and Mr. YAU Kwok Fai are brothers-in-law.

Mr. YAU Kwok Fai (“Mr. YAU”), aged 53, has been the
Deputy Chairman and an Executive Director of the Board
since July 2000. Mr. YAU was further appointed as the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company in July 2004. Mr. YAU was
also appointed as a director of Able Holdings in July 2016 and
was re-designated as its executive director in September 2016.

Mr. YAU is a director of all major subsidiaries of the
Group, including the Able Group. He is also a member
of the Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr.
YAU is primarily responsible for formulating policy,
overall development and the day-to-day management and
administration of the Group’s operations. Mr. YAU has over
28 years of experience in the construction industry and 15
years of experience in the property industry.
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Mr. YAU obtained a bachelor of engineering degree in
civil engineering (first class honours) from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic (currently known as the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University (“PolyU”)) in November 1990, a diploma from
the Imperial College London, the United Kingdom (“UK”)
in July 1991 and a master of science degree with distinction
in structural steel design from University of London, UK
in August 1991. Mr. YAU is a chartered engineer and an
incorporated member of the Institution of Civil Engineers,
the Institution of Structural Engineers of the UK and the
Hong Kong Institution of Engineers (“HKIE”). He is also
a registered professional engineer (civil & structural) and a
registered structural engineer under the Buildings Ordinance.

From November 2013 to August 2015, Mr. YAU was the non-
executive director and the chairman of Excel Development
(Holdings) Limited (a company which shares are listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange, had its name changed
to “Bisu Technology Group International Limited” since 16
January 2017; stock code: 1372).

Save as aforesaid, Mr. YAU has not held any directorship in
other listed public companies in the last three years.

Mr. YAU and Mr. NGALI are brothers-in-law.

Ms. LAU Tsz Kwan, Jone, (“Ms. LAU”), aged 47, has been
appointed as an Executive Director of the Company since 1
September 2016. Ms. LAU is currently responsible for human
resources and administration related matters of the Group.

Ms. LAU first joined the Group as an Administration Manager
of a then major subsidiary of the Group in October 2003. Her
employment was transferred to another major subsidiary of the
Group as a Human Resources and Administration Manager
in July 2004 and involved in the Group’s human resources,
administration and property investment and development
matters. In August 2006, Ms. LAU left the Group in order to
devote more time to her personal commitments. In May 2008,
Ms. LAU rejoined the Group as a Human Resources Manager
and in November 2013, she was also appointed as the Property
Manager of the Group. Ms. LAU has over 20 years of solid
human resources management, administration and property
management, investment and development experience.
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Ms. LAU obtained a Diploma in Management Studies from
Lingnan University in September 2002 and a Bachelor Degree
in Business Administration from Northumbria University of
UK in June 2003.

Ms. LAU has not held any directorship in other listed public
companies in the last three years.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (“NED”)

Dr. LEE Man Piu, Albert (“Dr. LEE”), aged 58, has been
appointed as a NED of the Company since 1 September
2016. Dr. LEE has also been appointed as a member of the
Remuneration Committee of the Company since 1 September
2017.

Dr. LEE is a registered dentist in Hong Kong. He completed
his undergraduate training in dentistry at the University of
Adelaide, Australia. He then received a Commonwealth
Scholarship Medical Award to pursuit his postgraduate
training at the Institute of Dental Surgery, University
of London, UK. He attained Fellowship of the Royal
Australasian College of Dental Surgeons by examination and
is an inaugural Fellow of the College of Dental Surgeons of
Hong Kong and the Hong Kong Academy of Medicine.

Dr. LEE is currently a Councillor and the Honorary Treasurer
of the Royal Australasian College of Dental Surgeons and the
deputy chairman of the Interchange Association of Dental
Medicine among Shanghai, Hong Kong, Macao and Taiwan
and a member of the Editorial Board of the journal “Hong
Kong Medical Diary”. Dr. LEE was served as a Senior Dental
Officer of Department of Health of the Government of Hong
Kong, a Honorary Consultant Dental Service (Paediatric
Dentistry) of the Hospital Authority of Hong Kong and a
Part-time Clinical Lecturer in the Faculty of Dentistry of the
University of Hong Kong.

Dr. LEE has not held any directorship in other listed public
companies in the last three years.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(“INEDs”)

Prof. KO Jan Ming (“Prof. KO”), aged 76, has been an INED
of the Company since July 2000. He is currently the chairman
of the Company’s Remuneration Committee and a member of
the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee.

Prof. KO was the former Vice President and former Chair
Professor of Structural Engineering of PolyU, and currently
an Emeritus Professor of PolyU and Senior Advisor of its
Research Institute for Sustainable Urban Development.
Prof. KO holds a Bachelor Degree in Civil Engineering
and a Doctorate Degree in Structural Engineering from the
University of Hong Kong. He is a Fellow of the HKIE, the
Institution of Structural Engineers of United Kingdom, the
American Society of Civil Engineers and the Hong Kong
Academy of Engineering Sciences (“HKAES”).

Prof. KO was the Honourable Secretary of HKAES (2010-
2016), the Chairman of the Accreditation Board (2001-
2006) of HKIE, and the Chairman of Hong Kong Economic
Cooperation (APEC) and Engineering Mobility Forum (EMF)
Monitoring Committees (2006-2009). Prof. KO was also a
member of Hong Kong Construction Industry Council (2007-
2013), a member of the Hong Kong Commission on Strategic
Development (2009-2012) and the Advisor of the Beijing
Hong Kong Academic Exchange Centre.

Prof. KO was a Governing Council Member of Construction
Industry Institute (Hong Kong) (2002-2008), a Council
Member of The Hong Kong Institution of Science (2002-
2006), President of The Hong Kong Society of Theoretical
and Applied Mechanics (1999-2000), President of The
Hong Kong Association for the Advancement of Science
and Technology (2000-2001) and a Member of the Appeal
Tribunal Panel (Buildings) of the HKSAR (1997-2004).

Prof. KO was Co-chair of the Scientific Steering Committee,
State Key Laboratory on Structural Dynamics in Bridge
Engineering, Chongqing Communications Research and
Design Institute (2008-2012), and a Member of the Scientific
Steering Committee, State Key Laboratory on Disaster
Reduction in Civil Engineering, Tongji University (2009-
2013).
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Prof. KO was Editor-in-Chief of an international journal
“Advances in Structural Engineering” (1997-2003), Editor-
in-Chief (Asia-Pacific) of an international journal “Smart
Structures and Systems”, Senior Consultant of the Editorial
Board of the journal “Spatial Structures”, a member of the
Editorial Boards of the journals “Engineering Mechanics,
Earthquake and Engineering Vibration” and “Hazards
Prevention and Mitigation Engineering”. Prof. KO was
President of Asian-Pacific Network of Centres for Earthquake
Engineering (2005-2007), Vice President (2004-2007) and
Council Member (2004-2011) of the International Society
for Structural Health Monitoring of Intelligent Infrastructures
(“ISHMII”), and a Management Board Member of the Asian-
Pacific Network of Centres for Research in Smart Structures
Technology.

Prof. KO was presented The President’s Award of HKIE in
2006 and was inducted into the Hall of Fame of HKIE in 2010.
Prof. KO was presented The HKIE Gold Medal in 2011. In
the same year, Prof. KO was presented The Aftab Mufti Medal
by ISHMII in recognition of his lifetime achievement in civil
structural health monitoring. In November 2016, Prof. KO
was conferred the Honorary Doctor of Engineering by PolyU
in recognition of his distinguished accomplishments and
contributions.

Prof. KO has not held any directorship in other listed public
companies in the last three years.

The Hon. IP Kwok Him, GBM, GBS, JP, (“The Hon. IP”),
aged 67, has been an INED of the Company since July 2000. He
is currently a member of the Company’s Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee.

The Hon. IP was appointed as a Justice of the Peace (“JP”)
in 1999 and was awarded the Gold Bauhinia Star (“GBS”) in
2004 and the Grand Bauhinia Medal (“GBM?”) in 2017. The
Hon. IP is a non-official member of the Executive Council of
the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region (“HKSAR”) and a Hong Kong Deputy to the National
People’s Congress of the People’s Republic of China. The
Hon. IP is a Party Affairs Advisor to the Democratic Alliance
for the Betterment and Progress of Hong Kong (“DAB”). He is
also the Chairman of the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Advisory Committee, the Chairman of Hon Wah Educational
Organisation and the Deputy Chairman of Private Columbaria
Licensing Board.
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The Hon. IP was a member of the Legislative Council (1995-
1997), a member of the Provisional Legislative Council (1997-
1998), a member of the Legislative Council of the HKSAR
representing the District Council functional constituency
(2000-2004 and 2008-2012) and the District Council (First)
functional constituency (2012-2016). The Hon. IP was also
an elected member of the Central and Western District
Council (1992-2003 and 2007-2015). He also served as a non-
executive director of the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Authority Board, a member of the Hong Kong Housing
Authority, a non-executive director of Urban Renewal
Authority Board, a member of the Transport Advisory
Committee, the Governing Committee of the Beat Drugs Fund
Association and the Court of the University of Hong Kong.

The Hon. IP is the father of Mr. IP Yik Nam, the chief
executive officer and an executive director of Able Holdings
and a director of certain subsidiaries of the Able Group.

In addition to being a Director of the Company, The Hon. IP
is also an independent non-executive director of Xinyi Energy
Holdings Limited (the issued shares of which are listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange; stock code: 3868) since 22
November 2018; and was an independent non-executive director
of CNC Holdings Limited (the issued shares of which are listed
on the GEM Board of The Stock Exchange; stock code: 8356)
during the period from 18 May 2015 to 3 January 2018.

Save as aforesaid, The Hon. IP has not held any directorship
in other listed public companies in the last three years.

Mr. FUNG Pui Cheung, Eugene (“Mr. FUNG”), aged 70,
has been an INED of the Company since September 2004. He
is currently the chairman of the Company’s Audit Committee
and a member of the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee.

Mr. FUNG is a Certified Public Accountant (Non-Practising)
and a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He holds a Master of Arts Degree
from Antioch University of the United States of America.
Presently, Mr. FUNG is a special consultant of Lee & Yu
Certified Public Accountants as well as a director of Confucius
International CPA Limited. Previously, he was a member of
The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales
and served in Senior and Senior Manager positions in large
local and international accounting firms and was practicing
as a sole proprietor in the name of P. C. Fung & Company, a
certified public accountant firm.
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Mr. FUNG is currently an Honorary Adviser of The Hong
Kong Chinese Importers’ & Exporters’ Association, a Standing
Committee member of the Jiangxi Provincial Overseas
Liaison Association and a member of the Inland Revenue
Department’s Users’ Committee. Mr. FUNG is a founding
member, chairman of Training Committee and vice chairman

of Senate of DAB.

In addition to being a Director of the Company, Mr. FUNG
was also an independent non-executive director of China
Lesso Group Holdings Limited (the issued shares of which are
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange; stock code:
2128) during the period from 27 February 2010 to 11 July
2018.

Save as aforesaid, Mr. FUNG has not held any directorship in
other listed public companies in the last three years.

Mr. MONG Chan (“Mr. MONG”), aged 70, has been
appointed as an INED of the Company and an additional
member of the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Audit Committee of the Company since 2
May 2019.

Mr. MONG has over 40 years of experience in financial
and cost management, accounting, general management and
information technology. Mr. MONG obtained a Bachelor
of Science (Hons) degree from The Chinese University of
Hong Kong in 1971 and a Master of Philosophy degree in
Engineering from The University of Hong Kong in 1982. He
is a Certified Practising Accountant of the Certified Practising
Accountant Australia (CPA Australia) since 1991, a fellow
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) since 1984 and an associate of the

Chartered Institute of Management Accountants since 1977.

Mr. MONG had previously joined the Hong Kong Civil
Service as an Executive Officer and was a Chief Treasury
Accountant when he left the Hong Kong Government
(“Government”) in 1984. He had 13 years of service in
various Government departments, including Treasury,
Government Secretariat and Public Works, and had gained
experience in the areas of management, accounting and
budgeting. Mr. MONG also had overseas working experience,
including one year in the HM Treasury in London, UK and
more than seven years in Australia.
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Mr. MONG was the Associate Director of Finance of The 4 S/ W R K8 2 B % @ 1 4
Hong Kong University of Science and Technology (1992- (—WAZHEZE—NILLE) - FE T KEZH
1997), the Director of Finance (1997-2007) and the HHE (—WIWELEZEZTTLE) LI
Associated Vice President (2003-2007) of PolyU and the Vice AIKRE(ZZF=Z24FZZFFL4) - ULAFH
President (Administration) and Secretary to Council of the HE 2R (BIELABBEEKE) ZAIKE (17
Hong Kong Institute of Education (currently known as The ) RKR#EFRH (ZFFELEE R —NE) -
Education University of Hong Kong) (2007-2014).

Mr. MONG had also served as a Government representative  5¢ 45 2k 78 ¥ A 4 B AR 32 38 45 5 7 75 v & 51 Bl
on the Council of the then Hong Kong Society of Z2A®MIEG (—IJuL/\ 4 FE—Ju/\U4) Frlk
Accountants (currently known as HKICPA) (1982-1984) iR mgitEZilMZzag (—IL\Z4%
and the Accountancy Training Board of Vocational Training —JUN\ZF)MZEER » R LFZ B GHERE
Council (1982-1983), and a member of the Board of Review (ZEZEANFEFE T ——4) o I % A KBRS
(Inland Revenue Ordinance) (2006-2011). He was also the fEH®H O ([JUCC) MIARRE (ZFE——4F
company secretary of Joint Universities Computer Centre & —/\4E)

Limited (“JUCC”) (2011-2018).

Mr. MONG has retired from his full-time job in 2014 and is  ZEE R ZF —U4EIERK » BRFZREFH#E{EJUCC
currently serving voluntarily as the Chairman of the Board of ZEHEB &I - AEFEHYEMNREGZE
Management of JUCC, a director of the Causeway Bay Kai- 3 &A% 7 ¥ 8F £ ¥ 1 W3 BT 4h Se el 2 AR 3 -
Fong Welfare Advancement Association and a school manager

of two kindergartens in Causeway Bay, Hong Kong.

Mr. MONG has not held any directorship in other listed — ZE5EA R & =48 0 e AE oA b7 00 JR A W I8 4E
public companies in the last three years. GRON:E 7

SENIOR MANAGEMENT W %A P

Mr. IP Yik Nam, aged 39, joined the Group in April 2016, BEFRI%A > =+ > REF—-ANFEMA WA
has been appointed as the chief executive officer and an  ARHEE » HH T —NEIH BERE R R IR
executive director of Able Holdings since September 2016. JRMATBAABEUATE SR - WA KHE TLREH
He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Able Group. ZMIEAR ZEH o FEHR4E R EA T LREMN
Mr. IP is primarily responsible for business development, legal BB - LHEREHBERZREFRFH -

and compliance and corporate governance affairs of the Able

Group.

Mr. IP graduated from Hong Kong Baptist University with a  ZERAR FEFZHFE T A RERNFTHEGKE
bachelor of business administration degree in human resources  MEHUF A J7 % 545 BB T2 0 45 B B2 - B4 o ff
management in December 2002. He further obtained a master &R ZF W4 A H BB Long Island University
of business administration degree from Long Island University  of the United States (35 & & K2 ) T/ & #
of the United States in May 2004 and a bachelor of laws  TH2A40 &t = F——4 )\ H A University of
degree from University of London in August 2011. Mr. IP has  London (fff % K 5%) ¥ A 22 - B A o 8 3 A 58 1
over 14 years of management experience through assuming K& HAES HA R WS PG » 48
various management roles in companies in the United States  #- VY4 iy 48 B AR B o

and Hong Kong.

Mr. IP is the son of The Hon. IP, one of the INEDs of the HEMAEAIERE (KA K P — A B IERITE
Company. F)HRF o
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Mr. YAM Kui Hung, aged 60, joined the Group in February
1996 as a director of a major subsidiary of the Group. He has
been appointed as an executive director of Able Holdings
since September 2016. Mr. YAM is primarily responsible for
quality assessment and project risk management of the Able
Group, and internal audit of the Group.

Mr. YAM has over 39 years of experience in the construction
field. He obtained a higher certificate in building studies
from the Hong Kong Polytechnic in November 1982 and a
postgraduate diploma in construction management from the
Construction Industry Training Authority in Hong Kong in
October 1989. He is a corporate member of the HKIE.

Mr. LAU Chi Fai Daniel, aged 50, joined the Group in
November 2005, has been appointed as an executive director
of Able Holdings since September 2016. He is also a director
of certain subsidiaries of the Able Group. Mr. LAU is
primarily responsible for building project management and
contract administration work of the Able Group.

Mr. LAU has over 26 years of experience in the construction
field. He obtained a bachelor degree in Construction
Management from South Bank University of UK in July
1993 and a higher diploma in Building Technology and
Management from the Hong Kong Polytechnic in November
1991. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Construction Managers.

Mr. CHEUNG Ho Yuen, aged 47, joined the Group in
September 2003, has been appointed as an executive director
of Able Holdings since September 2016. He is also a director
of certain subsidiaries of the Able Group. Mr. CHEUNG
is primarily responsible for project estimation, project sub-
contracting and procurement management of the Able Group.

Mr. CHEUNG has over 23 years of experience in the
construction industry. He obtained a bachelor degree in
Quantity Surveying from University of Greenwich of UK in
July 1998 and a higher diploma in Building Surveying from
City University of Hong Kong in November 1995.
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Ms. TSANG Hau Lam, aged 38, joined the Group in August
2012. She has been appointed as the secretary of the Company
(the “Company Secretary”) and the financial controller of
the Group since October 2012. She is primarily responsible
for overseeing the financial matters and company secretarial
affairs of the Group.

Ms. TSANG is a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants of the UK and a member
of the HKICPA. She has over 16 years’ accounting, auditing,
financing and company secretarial experience. Ms. TSANG
obtained a bachelor degree in Business Administration

(Professional Accountancy) from the Chinese University of
Hong Kong in December 2002.

Mr. WONG Fu Cheong Desmond, aged 40, joined the Group
in Mar 2019. He has been appointed as the company secretary
and financial controller of Able Holdings since 12 April
2019 and is primarily responsible for overseeing the financial
matters and company secretarial affairs of the Able Group.

Mr. WONG has over 17 years’ accounting, auditing, financing
and company secretarial experience and is a member of the
HKICPA. Mr. WONG obtained a bachelor degree in Business
Administration (Professional Accountancy) from the Chinese
University of Hong Kong in May 2001. He worked in an
international accounting firm and prior to joining the Group
in March 2019, he worked as head of finance department in a
listed company in Hong Kong.

Ms. CHONG Shuk Yee, aged 41, joined the Group in March
2015, is currently a Property Manager of the Group and is
responsible for property market analysis, lease negotiation,
and property and tenancy management. Ms. CHONG holds a
Master of Business Administration from The Open University
of Hong Kong and a Bachelor Degree in Humanities from
Hong Kong Baptist University. She has over 18 years’ working
experience.
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Corporate governance is the system by which the Company
is directed and controlled. The board (the “Board”) of
directors (the “Directors”) of the Company is fully aware of its
importance to the shareholders and has developed a rigorous
system of checks and balances which allows management to
respond to the strategic directions approved by the Board.
The Board believes that a well-balanced corporate governance
system enables the Company to achieve business excellence
and fulfill the Company’s mission.

This report describes the Company’s corporate governance
practices and structures that were in place during the financial
year ended 31 March 2019, with specific reference to the
principles and guidelines of the “Corporate Governance
Code and Corporate Governance Report” (the “CG Code”)
as set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules (the “Listing Rules”)
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (The “Stock Exchange”). In developing
and reviewing its corporate governance policies and practices,
the Company has sought to adopt a balanced approach.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CG CODE

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company complied with
the code provisions as set out in the CG Code throughout the
year ended 31 March 2019.

THE BOARD

The overall management of the Company’s business is vested
in the Board, which assumes the responsibility for leadership
and control of the Company, and the Directors are collectively
responsible for promoting the success of the Company by
directing and supervising its affairs and overseeing the
achievement of strategic plans to enhance shareholders’ value.
The Board has undertaken the corporate governance function
as required under the CG Code. The Board is responsible for
all major aspects of the Company’s affairs, which includes:

° formulating key policy matters, overall strategic plans
and directions, and objectives of the Group;

° monitoring the performance of the management of the
Group;

o appointing members and chairman to the Board and the
Board Committees;

o implementing and monitoring an effective framework of
risk management and internal controls;

° monitoring material transactions (including, in
particular, those which may involve conflicts of
interest);
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° approving interim reports, annual reports,
announcements and considering dividend policy;
o ensuring the Company has good corporate governance

and review and monitor its policies and practices on
compliance with all applicable legal and regulatory
requirements; and

o approving and monitoring other significant financial
and operational matters.

Responsibilities over day-to-day operations are delegated
to the management under the leadership of the Executive
Directors.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Board is composed
of seven Directors, including three Executive Directors,
namely Mr. NGAI Chun Hung (“Mr. NGAI”), Mr. YAU
Kwok Fai (“Mr. YAU”) and Ms. LAU Tsz Kwan, Jone (“Ms.
LAU”); a Non-executive Director (“NED”), namely Dr.
LEE Man Piu, Albert (“Dr. LEE”); and three Independent
Non-executive Directors (“INED(s)”), namely Prof. KO
Jan Ming (“Prof. KO”), The Hon. IP Kwok Him, GBM,
GBS, JP (“The Hon. IP”) and Mr. FUNG Pui Cheung,
Eugene (“Mr. FUNG”). Subsequent to the year end, Mr.
MONG Chan (“Mr. MONG”) has also been appointed
as an additional INED with effect from 2 May 2019. Brief
biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section
“BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT” on pages 40 to 47 of this annual
report. A list of Directors and their role and function is also
available on the Company’s websites.

The Board has a balance of skills and experience appropriate
for the requirements of the Group’s business. All Directors
have separate and independent access to the advice and
services of the senior management and the Company
Secretary, with a view to ensuring that board procedures and
all applicable rules and regulations are followed. When needed
and upon making request to the Board, the INEDs may obtain
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense in
carrying out their duties.

The Company has arranged insurance cover in respect of legal
action against the Directors and its officers. The insurance
coverage is reviewed annually to ensure that the Directors and
officers are adequately protected against potential liabilities.
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The INEDs

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Board at all
times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to
the appointment of at least three INEDs, with at least one
INED possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related financial management expertise. The
Company has also met the requirement of at least one-third of

members of the Board being INEDs.

The INEDs of the Company are persons of high caliber, with
professional qualifications and experience in the fields of
engineering, legislation and accounting and finance. With
their experience gained from various sectors, they provide
strong support towards the effective discharge of the duties
and responsibilities of the Board.

Each of Prof. KO, The Hon. IP, Mr. FUNG and Mr. MONG,
all being INEDs of the Company, has made an annual
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that each of Prof.
KO, The Hons. IP, Mr. FUNG and Mr. MONG meets the
independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and is independent.

The INEDs are appointed for a fixed specific term. Each of
Prof. KO, The Hon. IP and Mr. FUNG has served as an INED
of the Company for more than 9 years that their further
appointment (if any) should be subject to separate resolutions
to be approved by shareholders.

Meetings

Regular Board meetings are held at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals. Tentative dates of regular
Board meetings for next year are scheduled approaching the
end of each calendar year in order to facilitate the Directors
to plan for attendance of the meetings. Meetings will also be
convened, as and when required, to deal with ad hoc issues.

Any Director who is not able to present physically may
participate in any Board meeting through electronic means of
communication, such as conference telephone or other similar
communication equipment, in accordance with the Bye-laws
of the Company.
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Notice convening each regular Board meeting is sent at least
14 days in advance, and reasonable notice is given for other
Board meetings. The Company Secretary assists the Chairman
of the Board to prepare the meeting notice and agenda. Each
Director may include any item in the agenda. The agenda,
accompanied by meeting papers with sufficient and reliable
information, are sent to each Director not less than 3 days
before the date of a Board meeting to enable the Directors
to make informed decisions on the matters to be discussed,
except where a Board meeting is convened on a very urgent
basis to consider any urgent ad hoc matter.

Minutes of Board meetings are recorded in sufficient details
regarding the matters considered by the Board at the meetings
and decisions reached. Draft minutes of Board meetings are
circulated to the Directors for comments and the signed
minutes are kept by the Company Secretary and open for
inspection to any Director on request.

Each Director is expected to give sufficient time and attention
to the affairs of the Company. The individual attendance record
of each Director at the general meetings of the Board and the
Board Committees, and at the annual general meeting (“AGM”)
during the year ended 31 March 2019 are set out below:

Remuneration
Directors Board Committee
fa HPE EMZHE
Executive Directors Pfid
Mr. NGAI b Yt 44 NJA R
Mr. YAU ek 414 4/4
Ms. LAU Bkt 44 NJA R
NED FAfEY
Dr. LEE BRE 414 414
INEDs U NE SN
Prof. KO =% 6 4/4 4
The Hon. IP EHE 4/4 4
Mr. FUNG Bk 4/4 /4

* Held on 28 November 2018
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Chairman,

Audit  Nomination NED and
Committee Committee INEDs* AGM

BN 12T

T YT DA
EHERE  REZRE FBrEds BORMERSE
N/A R 414 1 1
NAAEH  NAAER  NASER 111
NAAEH  NAAER  NAAER 11
NARER  NAAER 11 1
5/5 4/4 11 1/1
505 4/4 1/1 1/1
5/5 4/4 1/1 1/1

* REF-NFE—H I NANART
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Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors

The Board is responsible for reviewing the Board composition,
developing and formulating the relevant procedures for
nomination and appointment of Directors, monitoring the
appointment and succession of Directors and assessing the
independence of INEDs. The appointment of INEDs adheres
to the guidelines for assessing independence as set out in Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board, through the Nomination
Committee set up in December 2011, reviews from time to
time its own structure, size and composition to ensure that it
has a balance of appropriate expertise, skills and experience
for the needs of the businesses of the Group.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having
a diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance.
In 2013, the Board adopted a board diversity policy (the
“Board Diversity Policy”) upon the recommendation of
the Nomination Committee which set out the approach
to achieve diversity of Board members. In 2019, the Board
also adopted a director nomination policy (the “Director
Nomination Policy”) upon the recommendation of the
Nomination Committee which set out the approach and
procedures the Board adopts for the nomination and selection
of Directors. A summary of each of the policies is set out in

the subsection “Nomination Committee” under the section
“BOARD COMMITTEES?” in this report.

Mr. MONG was appointed as an INED by the Board with
effect from 2 May 2019. In arriving at the decision to
nominate Mr. MONG for appointment as an INED, the
Nomination Committee had (i) considered the structure, size
and skill mix of the Board; (ii) taken measures to identify
potential candidates, especially those senior executives who
possess the experience and competence commensurate with
the position of a director; (iii) considered the independence of
Mr. MONG with reference to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules;
and (iv) the time commitment that Mr. MONG can spend on
the INED’s role. Mr. MONG, as a professional accountant,
is with extensive senior management experience on sizable

institution. The Nomination Committee and the Board
considered that Mr. MONG was a suitable candidate.

Except for Mr. MONG who will only enter into a letter of
appointment with the Company after the 2019 AGM, the
term of office of each of the Directors has been fixed for a
specific term for not more than three years. The Directors
are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
Company’s AGM in accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws.
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Pursuant to clause 86 of the Company’s Bye-laws, any
Director(s) appointed during the year as an addition to the
Board or to fill a casual vacancy on the Board should hold
office only until the next coming general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at that
meeting. Accordingly, Mr. MONG is subject to retirement
and re-election at the next general meeting of the Company.

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws, at each AGM, one-
third of the Directors for the time being (other than the newly
appointed Directors) shall retire from office by rotation. A
retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election. The election
of each candidate is done through a separate resolution.

The Company has also complied with the requirement of the
CG Code on considering the independence of an INED who
has served more than 9 years for his further appointment. Prof.
KO, The Hon. IP and Mr. FUNG, each has served on the
Board for more than 9 years, was re-elected as INEDs at the
2018 AGM by passing separate resolutions at the 2018 AGM.
The Board’s view on their independent status was set out in
the 2018 AGM circular dated 20 July 2018 and the subsection
“The INEDs” under the section “THE BOARD” of this report.

Except for Mr. FUNG, who informed the Nomination
Committee and the Board that he will not seek for re-election
at the forthcoming 2019 AGM subsequent to the approval
date of this report, all the above retiring Directors, are eligible
and will offer themselves for re-election to serve for another
term at the forthcoming AGM.

The Nomination Committee recommended the re-election of
Dr. LEE, Prof. KO, The Hon. IP and Mr. MONG to the Board
at the 2019 AGM. The Board endorsed the recommendations
of the Nomination Committee on re-election. Details with
respect to the candidates standing for election as Directors are
set out in the AGM circular to shareholders.

The above nomination was made in accordance with the
Directors Nomination Policy and the diversity aspects
(including without limitation, gender, age, cultural/
educational and professional background, skills, knowledge
and experience) as set out under the Board Diversity Policy,
and with due regard for the benefits to the business and
strategy of the Company. The Nomination Committee and the
Board, having reviewed the Board’s composition, had taken
into account the respective contributions of the Directors
to the Board and their commitment to their roles. The
retiring Directors (as member of the Nomination Committee
and/or the Board, as applicable), who offered themselves
for re-election at the AGM, abstained from voting on the
recommendation on his own re-election throughout the
nomination processes.
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Each of Prof. KO and The Hon. IP has demonstrated his ability
to provide an independent view to the Company’s matters
during his years of service. Notwithstanding their service
as INEDs of the Company over 9 years, the Board and the
Nomination Committee is of the view that Prof. KO and The
Hon. IP are able to continue to fulfill their roles as required
and are able to contribute to the diversity of the Board.

Further, the Board and the Nomination Committee
have received and reviewed the written confirmations of
independence of each INED in June 2019 and are satisfied
that each of the INEDs, among others, those who have
offered themselves for re-election at the 2019 AGM,
namely, Prof. KO, The Hon. IP and Mr. MONG, meets the
independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and is independent in accordance with the terms of the
guidelines having regard to (i) their annual confirmations
on independence as required under the Listing Rules; (ii)
the absence of involvement in the daily management of
the Company; (iii) the absence of any relationships or
circumstances which would interfere with the exercise of their
independent judgment; and (iv) the absence of remuneration
from the Company other than the directors’ fees and the
share options granted to them (if any). Accordingly, they are
recommended by the Board and the Nomination Committee
for re-election at the 2019 AGM.

With their breadth and diversity of experience and
background as more particularly set out in the section
“BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT” to this annual report, the
retiring Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM are able to provide valuable and diverse views, as well
as relevant insights to the Board and to contribute to the
diversity of the Board.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (“CEQO”)
of the Company are performed by Mr. NGAI and Mr. YAU,
respectively. This segregation ensures a clear division of the
Chairman’s responsibilities for the management of the Board
and the CEQO’s responsibilities for the day-to-day management
of the Company’s business. Mr. NGAI and Mr. YAU are

brothers-in-law.
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The Chairman is responsible for providing leadership for the
Board, and ensuring that all Directors are properly briefed on
issues arising at Board meetings and that the Directors receive
adequate, complete and reliable information in a timely
manner. The Chairman has an additional or casting vote in
the event of an equality of votes on any matter to be decided

by the Board.

The CEO is appointed by the Board and is responsible for
providing leadership for the management, implementing and
reporting to the Board on the Group’s strategy, overseeing
the day-to-day operations of the Group and providing all such
information to the Board as is necessary to enable the Board to
monitor the performance of the management.

According to the then enacted code provision A.2.7 of the
CG Code, the Chairman met with the NED and INEDs of the
Company for once without the presence of the management
and the other Executive Directors on 28 November 2018.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has set up three Board Committees, namely, the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee, to oversee particular aspects of the
Company’s affairs.

Audit Committee

The Company’s Audit Committee was established on 8
September 2000 with written terms of reference. The Audit
Committee’s terms of reference has been revised and adopted
on 31 December 2018 and the document is available on the
websites of the Company and The Stock Exchange.

As at 31 March 2019, the Audit Committee comprised three
INEDs, namely Prof. KO, The Hon. IP and Mr. FUNG. Mr.
FUNG is currently the chairman of the Audit Committee.
Mr. FUNG is a certified public accountant and possesses the
appropriate accounting qualifications and experiences in
financial matters. Subsequent to the year end, Mr. MONG,
a certified practicing accountant who also possesses the
appropriate accounting qualifications and experiences in
financial matters, was appointed as a member of the Audit
Committee with effect on 2 May 2019.
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The main responsibilities of the Audit Committee are to
review the consolidated financial statements and the auditor’s
report, and to monitor the integrity of the consolidated
financial statements. It also assists the Board to oversee risk
management and internal control systems and internal and
external audit functions. The Audit Committee holds regular
meetings at least twice a year and they also meet with the
Company’s external auditor at least twice a year to discuss the
audit plan and to review the Company’s reports and accounts.
During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Audit Committee
held five meetings and the primarily works performed by the
Audit Committee were, among others:

° reviewed the unaudited accounts, interim report and
interim results announcement of the Company and the
Group;

o reviewed the audited accounts and final results
announcement of the Company and the Group;

o reviewed the accounting policies and practices adopted
by the Company and the Group;

° reviewed and recommended the appointment and
reappointment of external auditor;

o approved the scope and plan of internal and external
audit;

o reviewed proposed non-audit services according to

“Policy on Provision of Non-audit Services by the
Group’s External Auditor and its Associates”;

o reviewed the engagement, services (including non-audit
services) provided and remuneration of the external
auditor and its independence;

o reviewed the results and effectiveness of the internal
and external audit function;

° reviewed and monitored the adequacy and effectiveness
of the financial reporting function, risk management
system and internal control system of the Group;

o reviewed the continuing connected transactions; and
° reviewed and revised the terms of reference of the Audit
Committee.

It is confirmed that there is no disagreement between the
Board and the Audit Committee’s view on re-appointment of
external auditor, and they both have agreed to recommend
the re-appointment of Ernst & Young as the Company’s
external auditor for the ensuing year at the 2019 AGM of the
Company.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company’s Remuneration Committee was established
on 16 December 2005 with written terms of reference
and consists of a majority of INEDs. The purpose of the
Remuneration Committee is to set policy on Executive
Directors’ and senior management’s remuneration and for
making recommendations to the Board on remuneration
packages for Directors and senior management. The
Remuneration Committee’s terms of reference has been
revised and adopted on 31 December 2018 and the document
is available on the websites of the Company and The Stock
Exchange.

As at 31 March 2019, the Remuneration Committee was
made up of the three INEDs, namely Prof. KO, The Hon. IP
and Mr. FUNG; one NED, namely Dr. LEE (being appointed
on 1 September 2017); and one Executive Director, namely
Mr. YAU. Prof. KO is the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee. Subsequent to the year end, Mr. MONG, has
been appointed as a member of the Remuneration Committee

with effect on 2 May 2019.

The main responsibility of the Remuneration Committee is
to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
policy and structure for Directors and senior management and
their remuneration packages with reference to the Group’s
corporate goals and strategies. The Remuneration Committee
meets at least once a year. During the year ended 31 March
2019, the Remuneration Committee held four meetings and
the major works performed by the Remuneration Committee
were, among others:

° approved the contract/letter of appointments entered
into between the Company and individual Director(s);

° reviewed and made recommendations to the Board
on the policy and structure for remuneration of the
Directors and senior management;

° reviewed and made recommendations to the Board
on the remuneration package, including discretionary
performance-based bonus, of individual Director and
senior management; and

° reviewed the terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee.
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Executive Directors and certain senior management of the
Group are entitled to discretionary performance related bonus
payments which are determined with reference to the Group’s
operating results and their respective individual performance.
No Director involved in the determination about his/her own
remuneration. Particulars of the remuneration paid to each
Director for the year ended 31 March 2019 are set out in note
9 to the audited consolidated financial statements of this
annual report.

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the
remuneration of the senior management (excluding the
Directors) by band for the year ended 31 March 2019 was set
out below:

Within the band of #1390 A P
Nil to HK$1,500,000

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,500,000
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,500,000
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,500,000
HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,500,000

Nomination Committee

The Company’s Nomination Committee was established on 7
September 2011 with written terms of reference and consists
of a majority of INEDs. The Nomination Committee’s terms of
reference has been revised and adopted on 31 December 2018
and the document is available on the websites of the Company

and The Stock Exchange.

As at 31 March 2019, the Nomination Committee was made
up of the three INEDs, namely Prof. KO, The Hon. IP and
Mr. FUNG; and one Executive Director, namely Mr. NGAL
Mr. NGAI is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.
Subsequent to the year end, Mr. MONG, has been appointed
as a member of the Nomination Committee with effect on 2
May 2019.
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The major duties of the Nomination Committee include
reviewing the structure, size and diversity of the Board at
least annually and making recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board; identifying individuals suitably and
qualified to become Directors; and making recommendations
to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships. The Nomination Committee meets at least once
a year. During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Nomination
Committee held four meetings. The major works performed by
the Nomination Committee were, among others:

o reviewed the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board
and made recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors;

° set up written “Director Nomination Policy”;

o identifying individuals suitably qualified to become
members of the Board and putting forward nominations
or recommendations to the Board for proposed
appointments to the Board,;

o assessed the independence of INEDs;

o reviewed time commitment of Directors for performance
of their responsibilities;

o reviewed and monitored the training and continuous
professional development of Directors;

o reviewed the “Board Diversity Policy” and monitor its
implementation; and

o reviewed the terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee.

Director Nomination Policy

The Company recognises the importance of having a
qualified and competent Board to achieve the Group’s
corporate strategy as well as promote shareholders’ value and
is committed to ensure that proper nomination and election
processes are in place for the selection and nomination of
Directors. In March 2019, upon the recommendation of
the Nomination Committee, the Board formally adopted a
“Director Nomination Policy” which set out the approach
and procedures adopted for the nomination and selection of
directors, including the appointment of additional Directors,
replacement of Directors, and re-election of Directors.
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Pursuant to the Director Nomination Policy, the Nomination
Committee assists the Board on the selection and
nomination and succession planning for Directors in making
recommendations to the Board. The procedures and process in
respect of the nomination of Directors are summarised below:

o for appointment of new and replacement Directors:
the Nomination Committee shall assess the potential
candidates based on the selection criteria as set out
in the policy and other appropriate factors and shall
make recommendation to the Board. The Board has the
authority on determining suitable director candidate for
appointment; and

o for re-election of Directors and nomination from
shareholders: the Nomination Committee shall make
recommendation to the Board/Shareholder on such
retiring Director to stand for re-election at a general
meeting.

The Nomination Committee shall, consider a variety of
factors in making nominations, including but not limited
to the following in assessing the suitability of the proposed
candidate:

o reputation for integrity;

° the skills, knowledge, experience and professional
expertise which are relevant to the operations of the
Group;

o commitment in respect of sufficient time, interest and

attention and participate in induction on appointment,
continuous professional development and other Board
associated activities;

° ability to exercise sound business judgement and possess
experience in senior management;

° contribute to the Board’s diversity with due regard
to the diversity perspectives set out in the “Board
Diversity Policy” of the Company; and

o compliance with the criteria of independence as set
out under the Listing Rules for the consideration of
appointment of an INED.
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Board Diversity Policy

The “Board Diversity Policy” sets out the approach to achieve
diversity of the Board. It is believed that a truly diverse board
will include and make good use of differences in a number of
factors, including but without limitation, gender, age, cultural,
skills, background, experience, knowledge, expertise and other
qualities of members of the Board. These differences will be
taken into account in determining the optimum composition
of the Board. All appointments of Directors will be based
on merit and the Nomination Committee will review the
Board composition by considering the benefits of all aspects
of diversity. The “Board Diversity Policy” shall be reviewed
by the Nomination Committee, as appropriate and at least
annually, to ensure its effectiveness.

Considered the business needs of the Group, the Nomination
Committee considers that the members of the Board have a
diverse range of experience and professional expertise, despite
most of the Directors have been serving the Company for
more than 9 years. Accordingly, the Nomination Committee
suggest the appointment of a new Director to the Board and
new member to the Board Committees during the year ended

31 March 2019.

In considering the nomination of Mr. MONG as a new INED,
the Board Diversity Policy was taken into account and the
relevant provisions of the Director Nomination Policy was
followed. As Mr. MONG has over 40 years of experience
in financial and cost management, accounting, general
management and information technology and will contributes
to diversity of the Board, the Nomination Committee
suggested the appointment of Mr. MONG. The Board
accepted the suggestion and Mr. MONG was appointed as an
INED and a member of each of the Board Committees with
effect on 2 May 2019.
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An analysis of the Board’s composition as at the date of

approval of this report, classified into different aspects, is set AT F :
out below:
Aspects BBl Board Composition %74 & MAL

Gender £ Male5(7) FemaleZ(1)
Age group R 4554 (2) 55-64(2) 05-74 (3) Above HLL(1)
Educational background Secondary or below Undergraduate Postgraduate
L] HERIT(1) KEAH/KH(0) KEAHIED)
Skillfindustry experience Construction, property & administration . di?ﬁ:{?;g;n . dn[zfrizﬂaion Eggﬁ:&:ﬁ& abﬁﬂgﬁ;ﬁ Account & fnance
AVEL BRARRAAO | wanen) | eRNRO) | KIERG) | ER) HRE
No. of year of service QOver 9 years below 9 years
KR H9%() PRYE()
No. of directorship
with other listed companies
in the past 3 years 0(4) 10) 2()
BEZERRILIRLTATESZ
K%
() Number of respective Directors () FMHBEEFEHH
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DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Every Director keeps abreast of responsibilities as a Director
of the Company and of the conduct, business activities
and development of the Group. The Company provides all
members of the Board with monthly updates on the Group’s
development.

According to the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code,
all Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. The Company continues its effort in
providing updates on the changes in the relevant regulatory
requirements applicable to the Group from time to time and
recommending relevant seminars/conferences/forums to the
Directors as and when appropriate.

The Directors acknowledge the need for continuous
professional development and confirmed that they had
complied with the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code
during the year. All Directors are required to provide the
Company with the records of the training they received
annually. According to the records maintained by the
Company, all Directors pursued continuous professional
development during the year ended 31 March 2019 and
relevant details are set out below:

Directors HE
Mr. NGAI oA
Mr. YAU Wede
Ms. LAU B+
Dr. LEE A
Prof. KO A
The Hon. IP W E
Mr. FUNG B S A
Remarks:

A — Participated in seminars/conferences/forums
B — Read journals/updates/articles
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Types of Training

Hinon
A&B AKB
A&B AXB
A&B AKB
A&B AKB
A&B AXB
A&B AXB
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SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS OF DIRECTORS
AND EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted the “Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers” as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”)
as the code of conduct regarding the Directors’ securities
transactions.

Following specific enquiry made by the Company, all Directors
have confirmed that they had complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code throughout the year
ended 31 March 2019. Full details of the Directors’ interests
in the shares of the Company and its associated corporation
are set out on pages 84 to 87 in the “REPORT OF THE
DIRECTORS?” of this annual report.

The Company has also established written code on no less
exacting terms than the Model Code for dealings in the
securities of the Company and its associated corporations by
employees who are likely to be in possession of unpublished
inside information in relation to the Company or any of its
associated corporations.

During the year under review, the Company sent notifications
to the Directors and employees reminding them of the “black-
out period(s)” as specified in the relevant codes during which
they are not allowed to deal in the securities of the Company
and its associated corporations at the relevant times. All
Directors and employees are also bound by corporate policies
of the Company to refrain from dealing in the Company’s and
its associated corporations’ securities if they are in possession
of any inside information of the Group or any of its associated
corporations.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is to support the Board by ensuring
good information flow with the Board as well as the Board
policy and procedures being followed. The Company Secretary
is also responsible for advising the Board on governance matters
and facilitates the professional development of the Directors.
Ms. TSANG Hau Lam (“Ms. TSANG”), the Company
Secretary, is a full-time employee of the Group and her brief
biography is set out on page 49 of this annual report.

Ms. TSANG has confirmed that she has complied with all the
qualifications and training requirements of company secretary
under the Listing Rules. Ms. TSANG is also the financial
controller of the Group.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board recognises its overall responsibility for maintaining
a sound and effective system of risk management and
internal control to safeguard the shareholders’ investment
and the Company’s assets, ensure the maintenance of proper
accounting records and the truth and fairness of the financial
statements, ensure compliance with relevant legislation and
regulations. The systems are designed to provide reasonable,
but not absolute, assurance against material errors, losses and
fraud, and manage rather than eliminate risks of failure in the
Group’s operational systems and in the achievement of the
Group’s business objectives.

The Board has entrusted the Audit Committee with the
responsibility to review the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group, covering all the departments
and business units to monitor, assess and manage various risks
in the Group’s business activities.

During the year, the Group’s internal auditor conducted
systematic reviews of the Group’s internal control system by
using a risk-based approach and review the effectiveness of
the Group’s system of internal control against an internal
audit plan approved by the Audit Committee. The Chief
Executive Officer and any members of the Audit Committee
may instruct the internal auditor to undertake internal audit
activities of an urgent or sensitive nature. The internal auditor
reports directly to the Audit Committee and has free access
to review all aspects of the Group’s activities and controlling
systems. Internal audit findings and control weaknesses will
be summarized and reported to the Audit Committee at least
annually. Other Directors are also informed of the findings of
and weaknesses identified.
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During the year ended 31 March 2019 and up to the date of
approval of this report, the Group adopts the following four

RBEZFE-NEZA=+—HIREE R EARR
AL H T > ACER [BR A DT Y7 B AR

lines of defense approach on risk management: 2] 245 B R B o
1* Line of Defense 2" Line of Defense 3™ Line of Defense 4% Line of Defense
SB— W B 4 BB = 578 DY 38 i
Focus Culture, Ethics and Business Operations Oversight Functions Audit and Whistle-
i3 General Behaviour B BBk e blowing
XA ~ e B — AT By Lo ks
Owner All Employees Supervisors and Senior Management, The Board, the
AL | FEET Management The Board and the Audit Committee,
EEME g Audit Committee Internal and External
S HE - E3EEM | Auditors and External
B REE Professionals
EHE - FitZHE
VA T A S i i B A1
AR E N
Major ¢ Conduct and ¢ Internal control ¢ Financial control e Internal audit
Measures behaviour measures e Risk management e External audit
F B i requirements ® Management control | ® Compliance review e Whistle-blowing
¢ Training and ¢ Training o BAEHEE] mechanism
promotion o R A o JE\BaAE P e External enquiry/
o AT AT R R o PR o AMEA Investigation
o HrAIANE o Hiil o NEREH
o SMEREHH
o HRBHI
o MMERAH R

Regarding the handling and dissemination of inside
information, the Company has taken appropriate measures
according to a written “Corporate Information Disclosure
Policy” to identify inside information and preserve its
confidentiality until proper dissemination via the electronic
publication system operated by The Stock Exchange. Senior
management of the Group are aware of this disclosure policy
and their responsibilities to take all reasonable measures to
ensure that proper safeguards exist to prevent the leakage of
inside information of the Company from time to time. They
must also promptly bring any possible leakage or divulgence of
inside information to the attention of the Chairman, the CEO
and/or the Company Secretary, who will notify the Board
immediately accordingly for taking the appropriate action

promptly.
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A whistle-blowing policy has been put in place for the
Group’s employees and associates of the Group’s business to
follow when anyone of them believes reasonably and in good
faith that fraud, malpractices, violation of business ethics or
improprieties that he/she come across. Further details about
the policy are available on the website of the Company.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee, assisted
by the management and the internal audit function, had
reviewed and evaluated the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management system and internal control system for the year
ended 31 March 2019. The Audit Committee considered the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group
were effective and adequate. The Board also reviewed the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems through
discussion with the Audit Committee on audit findings and
internal control matters.

Both the Audit Committee and the Board were satisfied that
the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group of the reporting year were effective and adequate.

AUDITOR’ S REMUNERATION

Ernst & Young was re-appointed by the shareholders of
the Company at the AGM held on 31 August 2018 as the
Company’s external auditor until the next AGM.

During the year, the Company also awarded non-audit
services to Ernst & Young and its associates. Through the
Audit Committee, the Board monitors the non-audit services
performed from its external auditor and its associates to the
Group to ensure that the independence and objectivity of the
external auditor would not be impaired.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Audit Committee
set up written “Policy on Provision of Non-audit Services by
the Group’s External Auditor and its Associates”. Pursuant
to the policy, all proposed non-audit services of the external
auditor or its associates would be reviewed by the Audit
Committee before the respective engagement. Accordingly,
the Audit Committee reviewed the nature of non-audit
services proposed to be performed by Ernst & Young and/or its
associates and confirmed that it gave rise to no impairment of
actual or perceived independence or objectivity of the audit
work itself. The Audit Committee has recommended to the
Board the re-appointment of Ernst & Young as independent

external auditor of the Company for shareholders’ approval at
the forthcoming AGM.
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In respect of the year ended 31 March 2019, the remuneration
paid and payable to the Company’s external auditor, Ernst &
Young, and its associates is set out below:

Audit services %R
Non-audit services: TR -
Taxation services BB M
Other services At R

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company is endeavouring to maintain a high level
of transparency in communication with shareholders and
investors in general. The Company has formally adopted a
“Shareholder’ Communication Policy”, which is available
on the website of the Company, since 12 September 2012.
The various channels via which the Company communicates
with its shareholders include interim and annual reports,
information on The Stock Exchange’s and the Company’s
websites, and general meetings.

Shareholders are encouraged to attend the Company’s general
meetings where the Chairman, and other members of the
Board are available to answer questions. Separate resolutions
are proposed at the general meetings on each substantially
separate issue, including the re-election of individual
Directors.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Right to convene special general meeting

In accordance with Article 58 of the Bye-laws of the
Company, any shareholder holding not less than one-tenth
of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings shall have the right, by written
requisition served to the Board or the Company Secretary, to
require a special general meeting to be convened by the Board
for transaction of any business specified in such requisition.
The requisition should state the general nature of the business
to be dealt with, and may include the text of a resolution
that may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at
the meeting, and such meeting shall be held within two (2)
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-
one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionists themselves may do
so in accordance with the provisions of Section 74(3) of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, as amended from time to
time.
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Right to put forward proposals at general meetings
Pursuant to Sections 79(1) and 79(2) of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, as amended from time to time,
on the requisition in writing of (i) either any number of
shareholders representing not less than one-twentieth of the
total voting rights of all the shareholders having at the date
of the requisition a right to vote at the meeting to which
the requisition relates, or (ii) not less than 100 shareholders,
the Company shall be under a duty to, at the expense of the
requisitionists unless the Company otherwise resolves:

(a) give to shareholders entitled to receive notice of the
next AGM notice of any resolution which may properly
be moved and is intended to be moved at that meeting;
and

(b)  circulate to shareholders entitled to have notice of any
general meeting sent to them any statement of not more
than 1,000 words with respect to the matter referred to
in any proposed resolution or the business to be dealt
with at that meeting.

Right to put enquiries to the Board

Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the Board at
general meetings or send their enquiries, concerns and notices
with sufficient details to the principal place of business of the
Company for the attention of the Board.
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RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT IN RESPECT OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge and understand their responsibility
for preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2019, which give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Company and the Group on a going concern
basis.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, there is no
uncertainty relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern.

The external auditor of the Company acknowledge their
reporting responsibilities in their auditor’s report on the
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2019 as set
out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 94 to 102.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 March 2019, there was no change in
the Company’s constitutional documents.

On behalf of the Board of

VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL
(HOLDINGS) LIMITED
NGAI Chun Hung
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 June 2019
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The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of the
Company are pleased to present their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Company are investment
holding and the provision of corporate management services.
Details of the principal activities of the Group’s principal
subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the audited consolidated
financial statements. There were no significant changes in the
nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year, an
analysis of the Group’s financial performance during the year
using financial key performance indicators, a discussion on
the Group’s future business development and a description
of the principal risks and uncertainties facing by the Group
are provided in this report and the “MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS” section of this annual
report on pages 22 to 39. Also, the Group’s financial risk
management objectives and policies are set out in note 43 to
the audited consolidated financial statements.

A summary of the published results and the consolidated
statements of financial position of the Group for the last five
financial years, as extracted from the audited consolidated
financial statements and restated/reclassified as appropriate,
together with performance indicators of the relevant
reporting periods, is set out in the “FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL
SUMMARY?” section of this annual report on pages 6 to 10.
This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated
financial statements.

The Group is committed to be an environmentally-responsible
corporation with the aim to conserve the environment
while making reasonable returns. The Group has operated
an environmental management system which complies with
international standards and will continuously encourage our
business partners, suppliers and sub-contractors to follow the
same standards. Further information of the Group’s policies
and performance about the environment would be included in
the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of the
Company to be published within three months from the date of
this annual report. During the year ended 31 March 2019, there
were no material breach of or non-compliance with applicable
laws and regulations by the Group that have significant impact
on the businesses and operations of the Group.
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All references herein to other sections or report form part of — AXHT Fr $& Jt iy 3 fihy 325 7 55 i 4F7 359 4 B AR 7 35 € i
this report of the Directors. HH—F -

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS E3 9,33

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 March 2019 and AHEERKEZE_R—IE=ZA=Z+T—HIEFEZ
the Group’s financial position at that date are set out in  ¥i/F) JASHE A & H Z B 5K U0 BUR A< 48 B i 45
the audited consolidated financial statements and the notes 5103 RAE232H 2 K34 45 & W 75 3k S L Fit

thereunder on pages 103 to 232 of this annual report. i e
No interim dividend was paid or declared by the Company  AXZA & A< 47 & 3 8 5 IR 2 % A B (2 &

during this year (2018: nil). At the Company’s annual general = — /\4f : &) - R _F— \FENA=+—HHLT
meeting (“AGM”) held on 31 August 2018, sharcholders ZARZA R BAASE KRG ([RHAERET]) L K
approved the payment of a final dividend of HK2 cents per H#t#ERBREE_FT— N\NE=ZH=+—H ILFEIR
ordinary share for the year ended 31 March 2018 which 4B 35 B2 WAL K B BB » F£4933,659,000%
amounted to a total of approximately HK$33,659,000. The J&e° &R ECR_F—/)\FILH Z+—HIRM -
dividend was paid on 21 September 2018.

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of #HFFEFERKE _F—INF=ZA=ZT—HIL4E
HK2 cents (2018: HK2 cents) per ordinary share for the year JERMRZFE—NFEILATH (BYZ) ZHIARAFH
ended 31 March 2019 to the shareholders whose names appear — JB 34 it b i B SR 28 2K 191 )8 6 » 45 B3 4 e 2
on the register of members of the Company on 10 September — #Al (=% — V4 : 284ill) o HEIRE 2 KK E
2019, Tuesday. The proposed payment of the final dividend is  ZH A2 &) Bl 847 0 —F— L B HUB 4 K&
subject to the approval of the Company’s shareholders at the — EHERF B UE » J5 v AEEE > IR P B S R g 3
forthcoming 2019 AGM of the Company and has not been REZF-NE=ZA=Z+T—HHERHALL -
recognised as a liability as at 31 March 2019.

Based on the 1,682,966,400 ordinary shares of the Company  #KAS4F B 3k i B bk = H AR 2 7] 2 © 847 R4
in issue as of the approval date of this annual report, the total  1,682,966,400/8 & 4 B Mt 4 514 » A B & 48 48

final dividend amounted to approximately HK$33,659,000. #17%%33,659,00045JC °
AGM AND CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF JB B 3 AF K € B 5 e BEL B £ 3 5 R Rl
MEMBERS T 5

The 2019 AGM of the Company will be held in Hong Kong A2 & ZF—JU4E BB E KGR —F— L4
on 28 August 2019, Wednesday. Notice of the AGM will be /A4 /\H (BRH=) EFBET - RAVESE KR
issued and disseminated to the shareholders in due course. 7 Z 98 1 R 106 R I R AT B R AL o

To ascertain the entitlement to attend and vote at the 2019 4 E ) ZF— LB R AEE R R & Lk
AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed SFZZHF » KAFHH-F—HENAZ+=H
from 23 August 2019, Friday to 28 August 2019, Wednesday (B¥ @) Z_F—LF/N\AZ+/\H (BEH=)
(both days inclusive) during which period no transfer of shares (B ERBH H ) W55 8B 08 B F4 - &
will be registered. In order to qualify for attending and voting — fF & & # th i —~F—JJUFE R AUAE K& E ikt & -
at the 2019 AGM, all share transfer documents accompanied — #5 » FrA B4y 48 )5 SO WA BB SR % 80 AE
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the ZF—JHNANHAZ+ZH (BHMN) FrH=+
Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor 4 HEREARA R ZFHHBBAEF BT IE > 5
Tengis Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s {EEERA R AR » Hudik 4 7 s 2 )5 KB K183
Road East, Hong Kong, for registration not later than 4:30 pm 9% & R .054H > DLBFELE 50 T4 -

on 22 August 2019, Thursday.
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DIVIDEND AND CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF
MEMBERS

Assuming that the final dividend recommended by the
Board for the year ended 31 March 2019 is approved by the
shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming AGM, for
the purposes of ascertaining the entitlement to the final
dividend, the register of members of the Company will be
closed from 9 September 2019, Monday to 10 September
2019, Tuesday (both days inclusive) during which period no
transfer of shares will be registered. In order to qualify for
the final dividend, all share transfer documents accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor
Tengis Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30
pm on 6 September 2019, Friday. It is expected that the final
dividend will be payable to those entitled shareholders on or
before 20 September 2019, Friday.

DIVIDEND POLICY

To enhance transparency of Company in the recommendation
and declaration of dividend, the Board has approved and
adopted a written dividend policy on 18 March 2019
(the “Dividend Policy”). Under the Dividend Policy, the
Board shall endeavor to strike a balance between providing
immediate return to the shareholders through the payment of
dividends whilst retaining adequate reserves as the Group’s
working capital and for the Group’s future growth.

Pursuant to the Dividend Policy, in deciding whether to
propose or declare a dividend and in determining the dividend
amount and means of payment, the Board shall take into
account, among others:

e  the actual and expected financial performance of the Group;

e the Group’s liquidity position;

e the capital and debt level of the Group;

e retained earnings and distributable reserves of the
Company and major subsidiaries of the Group; and

e the working capital requirements, capital expenditure
requirements and future development plans of the Group.
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RISK MANAGEMENT

Under the Group’s internal control and risk management
framework, the Board has entrusted the Audit Committee
with the responsibility to review the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group. Other than the
significant accounting judgements and estimates and the
financial risk management policies of the Group set out in
note 4 and note 43 to the audited consolidated financial
statements, the Group is also exposed to other key risks factors
and uncertainties, among others:

Business and Market Risk

Demand for services and products of the Group is cyclical
in nature and directly correlates with the level of real estate
development, construction activities, liquidity demands and
general economic environment in Hong Kong. In respect of
the Group’s contract works business, it relies heavily on public
sector projects which by their nature are only awarded by a
limited number of customers who are normally the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region (“HKSAR”) Government and/
or various institutional bodies. There is no guarantee that our
customers will provide the Group with new business or that we
will secure new customers.

The Group’s business and profitability may be materially
and adversely affected by failure to tender for new contract
works, any material reduction in spending by the HKSAR
Government or various institutional bodies on public sector
works and/or delay in awarding contracts of such works by
the HKSAR Government. In respect of the Group’s property
investment and development business, growth and sustainable
of the business may be materially and adversely affected by
failure to replenish development projects, significant drop in
property prices, shortage of land supply and other investment
opportunities, changes in government policies or economic
downturn.
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Compliance Risk

The Group is exposed to compliance risk in relation to various
rules and regulations, including but not limited to rules and
regulations in relation to construction, labour, occupational
health and safety, environmental protection, money lending,
contractor registration and listing. Noncompliance may lead
to fine, suspension of works/trading in securities, suspension
of tender, legal sanctions, material claims, loss in reputation
and/or loss of business. The Group pays high attention to the
enactment and amendment of laws and regulations which may
cause legal or business risks to the Group’s business and will
arrange appropriate training and experience sharing activities
for relevant employees. The Group also launched a safety
promotion campaign “Safety ® My Habit” since last year to
promote safety awareness and invested in the provision of self-
owned safety tools for sub-contractors’ or suppliers’ use in high
risk operations like lifting.

Construction Risk

In respect of the contract works business, the Group is
exposed to construction risk in relation to price fluctuation,
duration of works, quality of work, environmental protection
and safety involved in the construction business, which
may adversely affect the Group’s profitability. The Group
manages and mitigates these risks through risk transfer,
improve communication between project teams with project
estimation and procurement department and implementation
of management system which meets international standards.

Risk on Reliance of Key Management Personnel

The Group’s success and growth depends on our ability to
identify, hire, train and retain suitable, skilled and qualified
employees, including management personnel with the
requisite industry expertise. The Directors and members of
senior management, in particular, the executive Directors,
are important to the Group. If any of the executive Directors
cease to be involved in the management of the Group and
the Group is unable to find suitable replacements in a timely
manner, there could be an adverse impact on our business,
results of operation and profitability of the Group.
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Business Partners Risk

The Group relies on third-party sub-contractors and service
providers in certain parts of its business. The management
realises that such operational dependency may pose a threat of
vulnerability to unexpected poor or lapses in service including
reputation damage, business disruption and monetary losses.
In addition, some of the Group’s businesses are conducted
through joint ventures or joint operations in which the Group
shares control with other business partners. The relevant risks
include that these business partners may not continue their
relationships with the Group, take actions against the Group’s
interests, do not work for the Group’s interest, undergo a
change of control or not fulfil their obligations under the joint
ventures or joint operations. To address such uncertainties,
the Group only engages/cooperates with reputable and
experienced business partners and closely monitors their
performance.

Cyber and Information Security Risk

Frequency of cyber-attacks like sophisticated phishing
campaigns and ransomware continued to increase in recent
years. The potential threat of a cyber-attack is increasing.
Cyber-attacks may lead to loss of information, leakage of
confidential information, unavailability of systems and
disruption of operation that significant costs may be incurred
for data recovery and system restoration, and/or possible
claims. The Group manages this risk by implement security
measures such as firewall, anti-spam and anti-virus protection,
and increase internal communication of cyber and information
security threats to raise staff awareness.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the Group’s property, plant and
equipment during the year are set out in note 14 to the
audited consolidated financial statements. Further details of
the Group’s land and buildings are set out on page 17 of this
annual report.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

All of the Group’s investment properties were revalued by an
independent professional valuer as at 31 March 2019 using
the fair value model. Details of movements in the Group’s
investment properties during the year are set out in note 16 to
the audited consolidated financial statements. Further details
of the Group’s investment properties are set out on page 17 of
this annual report.
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PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT,
PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT AND
PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

Details and movements in the Group’s properties held for
development, properties under development and properties
held for sale during the year are set out in notes 15, 20 and 21
to the audited consolidated financial statements respectively.
Further details of these properties as at 31 March 2019 are set
out on pages 18 to 19 of this annual report.

BANK BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 March
2019 are set out in note 29 to the audited consolidated
financial statements. Interest and other borrowing costs
capitalized by the Group during the year are set out in note 8
to the audited consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

There was no movement in the Company’s authorized share
capital, issued share capital and issued share options during
this year. Particulars of the Company’s issued share capital
and issued share options are set out in notes 31 and 32 to the
audited consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to
existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES
Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,

sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during

the year ended 31 March 2019.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and
the Group during the year are set out in notes 44 and 33
to the audited consolidated financial statements and in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2019, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), amounted to
HK$650,131,000 (31 March 2018: HK$380,234,000). In
addition, the Company’s “share premium” account, in the
amount of HK$253,274,000 at 31 March 2019 (31 March
2018: HK$253,274,000), may be distributed in the form of
fully paid bonus shares.

DONATIONS
During the year, the Group made charitable and
other donations of approximately HK$223,000 (2018:
HK$2,633,000).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group recognises the importance of maintaining good
relationships with customers, suppliers and sub-contractors
to achieve its long-term business growth and development.
Accordingly, the Group has kept good communications
and shared business updates with business partners when
appropriate.

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group’s five largest
customers are all from the contract works segment. Contract
works revenue earned from these customers accounted for
approximately 99% (2018: 98%) of the total contract works
revenue for the year and contract works revenue earned
from the largest customer included therein accounted for
approximately 80% (2018: 85%). Three (2018: four) out
of the five largest customers are from the public sector.
The Group has not entered into any long-term framework
agreements with any of these major customers.

Costs paid to the Group’s five largest suppliers/sub-contractors
accounted for approximately 16% (2018: 14%) of the total
sub-contracting charges and material costs incurred for the
year. Amount paid to the largest supplier/sub-contractor
included therein accounted for approximately 6% (2018: 4%).

None of the Directors, their close associates, or any
shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors own
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) has any
interest in the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers/
sub-contractors.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and up to the date of approval
of this report were:

Executive Directors:
Mr. NGAI Chun Hung (“Mr. NGAI”) (Chairman)
Mr. YAU Kwok Fai (“Mr. YAU”)

(Deputy Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. LAU Tsz Kwan, Jone (“Ms. LAU”)

Non-executive Director:

Dr. LEE Man Piu, Albert (“Dr. LEE”)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Prof. KO Jan Ming (“Prof. KO”)
The Hon. IP Kwok Him, GBM, GBS, JP (“The Hon. IP”)

Mr. FUNG Pui Cheung, Eugene (“Mr. FUNG”)
Mr. MONG Chan (“Mr. MONG”)
(appointed on 2 May 2019)

During the year under review, the appointment of each of
Prof. KO, The Hon. IP and Mr. FUNG, as extended based on
the respective appointment letter issued by the Company and
accepted by them, was for a term of one year expiring on 31
August 2019, or by the end of the forthcoming 2019 AGM
and the appointment of Dr. LEE has been extended based on
the respective appointment letter issued by the Company and

accepted by him for a term of two years expiring on 31 August
2020 or by the end of the 2020 AGM.

In accordance with clause 86 of the Company’s Bye-laws, Mr.
MONG who was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director by the Board with effect from 2 May 2019, shall
hold office until the closing of the Company’s next general
meeting, i.e. the 2019 AGM. In addition, at the forthcoming
2019 AGM, Dr. Lee, Prof. KO, The Hon. IP and Mr. FUNG
shall retire from office in accordance with clause 87 of the
Company’s Bye-laws and/or the Code Provision A.4.3 of
the CG Code (as defined in this annual report) set out in
Appendix 14 of the Rules (the “Listing Rules”) Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (The “Stock Exchange”). Except for Mr. FUNG
who will not offer himself for re-election, all other retiring
Directors, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election
to serve for another term at the AGM.
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No Director proposed for re-election at the 2019 AGM has a
service contract which is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation other than
statutory compensation.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF INEDs
The Company has received from each of Prof. KO, The Hon.
IP, Mr. FUNG and Mr. MONG the annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and
the Company considers all of the INEDs are independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Brief biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 40 to 49 of this
annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. NGAI and Mr. YAU have respectively renewed their
service contracts with the Company on 18 March 2019 for
a fixed term of three years commencing from 1 April 2019,
subject to termination by either party by giving a six-month
written notice.

On 1 September 2016, Ms. LAU entered into a service
contract with the Company for a fixed term of three years
commencing from 1 September 2016, subject to termination
by either party by giving a six-month written notice.

None of the Directors has a service contract with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries which is of a duration
exceeding three years or which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation
(other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Particulars of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 9
to the audited consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Other than the contracts as further detailed in section headed
“RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS” below, no Director
nor a connected entity of a Director had a material interest,
either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements
or contracts of significance to the Group’s business to
which the holding company of the Company, or any of the
Company’s subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party, at
any time during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save for contract of service with the Directors, no contract by
which a person undertakes the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the Company’s business
was entered into or subsisted during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Bye-laws of the Company and subject to the
relevant provision therein, every Director and officer shall
be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and
profits of the Company from and against all actions, costs,
charges, losses, damages and expenses which he/she may incur
in or sustain by the execution of his/her duty or otherwise in
relation thereto. The Company has maintained appropriate
insurance cover for the Directors and officers in connection
with the discharge of their responsibilities throughout the
year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

Mr. NGAI is a director and/or (substantial) shareholder of
Win Source Investment Limited, Key Fame Limited and
Key Fund Limited, which are companies incorporated in
Hong Kong and engaging in property investment or property
development business. At 31 March 2019, Mr. NGAI’s son,
Mr. NGAI Wing Yin, aged over 18, is a director of Lanon
Development Limited (“Lanon Development”), Lanon
Construction Limited (“Lanon Construction”), Lanon
Building Limited (“Lanon Building”) and Lanon Engineering
Limited (“Lanon Engineering”), all incorporated in Hong
Kong and engaging in construction, maintenance and
engineering contract works.
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Meanwhile, Ms. WONG Chui Yee, Mr. NGAI Wing Yin’s
wife and Mr. NGAD’s daughter-in-law, aged over 18, is also
a director of Lanon Development. As at 31 March 2019, Mr.
NGAI Wing Yin holds 100% beneficial interest in Lanon
Development, Lanon Construction, Lanon Building and
Lanon Engineering.

On the other hand, a subsidiary of the Group has entered
into a tenancy agreement with Lanon Development, that the
transaction in respect of this leasing arrangement constitutes
de minimis continuing connected transactions of the
Company as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The power to make material business decisions for the Group
is vested in the Board. Whenever the Board considers that
there may be a conflict of interest between the Group and any
Director (including Mr. NGAI who is an executive Director,
Chairman of the Board and a controlling shareholder of the
Company), such Director will be required to abstain from
voting. Therefore, the Board is capable of carrying on the
Group’s business independent of, and at arm’s length, from the
business of Mr. NGAI.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2019, none of the
Directors or their respective close associates is interested in
any business which competes or was likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2019, details of the interests and short
positions of each of the Director and chief executive of the
Company in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFO”)) as required to be notified to the Company and
The Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have taken under provisions of the
SFQO); or required to be recorded in the register kept by the
Company under section 352 of the SFO; or otherwise required
to be notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange
pursuant to the “Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers” (the “Model Code”) as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules were as follows:
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Long Position in the Ordinary Shares of the Company (the

“Shares”) (Excluding Share Options):

Director Notes
WY M aE

Mr. NGAI (i)
Bk

Mr. YAU (i)

Ms. LAU
Bl &+

Prof. KO
[ &4

The Hon. IP
kA

Mr. FUNG

Notes:

(i) These Shares are legally and beneficially owned by Winhale Ltd.
(“Winhale”), which is ultimately beneficially wholly-owned by The Xyston
Trust. The Xyston Trust is a discretionary trust founded by Mr. NGAI for
the benefits of his family members.

(ii)  These Shares are legally and beneficially owned by Fame Yield International
Limited (“Fame Yield”), the entire issued share capital of which is legally

Capacity and
nature of interests

L0y B il 2k P

As founder of a trust

Yeks —fEREZ AL A

Interest in a controlled corporation

TP B2 i 5 P i

Personal

A

Interest in a controlled corporation

T B2 il 3 1 2 e i

Personal

{iVN

Personal

i A

Personal

{iVN

Personal

{iUN

Personal

PN

and beneficially owned by Mr. NGAI.

(iii) These Shares are legally and beneficially owned by Business Success Limited,
the entire issued share capital of which is legally and beneficially owned by

Mr. YAU.
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L ki

JRAC 2y v 5 B ([ BB 1) v Z 4 2 (A 4 655 Dk IRt

i) :
Number of % of issued
Shares share capital
interested of the Company
AR AiARAF OB
BBy B H A Z 4 e
838,760,400 49.84
235,000,000 13.96
6,250,800 0.37
1,080,011,200 64.17
30,888,000 1.84
8,448,000 0.50
39,336,000 2.34
180,000 0.01
992,000 0.06
2,054,800 0.12
2,218,800 0.13

(i)  UEERA B Winhale Led. ([ Winhale /) % R B 7
HERH » A Al HiThe Xyston Trust#i 4 B s 2 B HE
4 o The Xyston Trust#%— i ] B I 4 7% H 5 JiE i

¥ /iy e

(i) LR 1 25 0 B B IR A A ([ M BB ) 3
REw R » A2 2 EBTRATT S

(iii) VEE R HiBusiness Success Limitedi% & R B 75 HE
F o A A 2 2B E BT IRARTT H i 55 4 3 5E K

Bt A o
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Long Position in the Ordinary Shares of an Associated
Corporation — Able Engineering Holdings Limited (“Able
Holdings”):

Capacity and

Director nature of interests

W B0 B b 2 P

Mr. NGAI (Note) Interest in a controlled corporation
MAeE (Mit) A — S ¥l 3 T 2 R 2

Ms. LAU Personal

B4+ fEA

Prof. KO Personal

BIR (PN

The Hon. IP Personal

EHB BN

Note: Mr. NGAI is deemed to be interested in 1,080,011,200 Shares (excluding
share options of the Company) (representing approximately 64.17% of the
entire issued share capital of the Company), which comprise (i) 6,250,800
Shares held by himself; (ii) 838,760,400 Shares held by Winhale by virtue
of him being the founder of The Xyston Trust; and (iii) 235,000,000
Shares held by Fame Yield by wirtue of his beneficial interest in the entire
issued share capital of Fame Yield. Accordingly, Mr. NGAI is deemed to be
interested in 1,500,000,000 shares of Able Holdings held by Profit Chain
Investments Limited, a direct-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
under the SFO by virtue of his deemed interest in approximately 64.17% of
the entire issued share capital of the Company.
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AR - KR LR R A R A A (TR
JBe 1) Z Jbe B i 4

Number of % of issued
ordinary  share capital of
shares interested Able Holdings

A 5 R HE B

AR CEATRA

W I BBy ¥ H ZHIK
1,500,000,000 75.00
4,000 0.0002

28,000 0.001

656,137 0.03

Wt : BESEA #2454 1,080,01 1, 200/ I 13 (1 B 757K
A ZIEIRHE) P B WS (AL 7] 2352 #
TTIRAA964.17% ) » F 7 € 35 (i) AR K #5457 11
6,250,800/ )t 5 (ii) PIH % The Xyston Trust
1 32 A I 1 Winhaled# 5 19838, 760,400/ Ji¢
05 R (iii) TR 06 100 5 1 2 35 £ BT I AR Z
B a% RS I T K [ B T 4 AT 19 235,000,000/
W1 o FRIF 75 55 R 1R B » 270 1 0 M
KA T2 E BT AI6A.17% P HER A
P I B8 5 4 #5442 fE P Profit Chain Investments
Limited (K 4\ w] — B £ 2 & Wi 5 4 7)) BEH 1Y
1,500,000,000/% & R £ SR 0 1 B 25



Long Positions in the Underlying Shares of the Company:
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L ki

TR A 2 5 A B BBy 2 45 AT

Number of underlying

Capacity and nature

Director of interests
Y B By B HE 2 P BT
Mr. NGAI Beneficial owner
b e HaEa A
Mr. YAU Beneficial owner
Vit ey HislEA N

Note: Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 7 September 2011, the
Shareholders approved the termination of the then existing share option
scheme and the adoption of a new share option scheme (the “2011
Scheme”). The abovementioned share options outstanding were granted
under the 2011 Scheme on 10 September 2015 at an exercise price of
HK$0.526 per Share. These share options may be exercised at any time
commencing on 10 March 2016, and if not otherwise exercised, will lapse on
9 September 2020.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2019, the Company
and its associated corporations had no outstanding share
options granted to the Directors to subscribe for the securities
of the Company and its associated corporations.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2019, none of
the Directors or chief executive of the Company had any
interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which was
required to be notified to the Company and The Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they were taken
or deemed to have taken under provisions of the SFO), or as
recorded in the register kept by the Company under section 352
of the SFO, or otherwise to be notified to the Company and
The Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

Shares in respect of

% of underlying
the share options Shares over
granted under the
2011 Scheme

R R AR
A FRR I Z
U I B 0 B 2
HIBH B B H
(Note)

(Hfat)

issued share capital
of the Company

B B Al AR 24 W)
CETBRAZE K

4,500,000 0.27

4,500,000 0.27

Wik MRIEW ZF——4F T L H B2 50 ki
5o SRR AL 5 I 2 IR AT o Sl AR A
— I T ([ =% ——4Faf# ) - Lt
Z IR BETI IR IF = F —— 4 G B ZF— T
JLA T H 2 H > 170 IR BA0.526 7800 © %
TR A R A AE = A H B A HY AT T
IFRITTEE > i AR FETTHE » QAT I = F ZF4FIL
AL A R3 »

B LSCprade g sh > R R —JUE=A=+—H
A ) B FCR g P S AT AT CAR TS
P T A A ) A s I g W R AT
FA S JBE EE o

B LSOk E A s R F-NEZA=+—H
A2 T S B AT BN H A AR A R s AT
] B 2 T R 28 32 8 o B B R U SEXVIlR) 2
JBer ~ A B JBE i s 2 v e A AR Bt O
11 55 XV 557 B S5 843 IS 28 S 11 K 2 ) e gk 22 e
Z AT AT HE 5 B (B4 AR R R BN ] AR B A
IR A0 SR A R s B 2 B AR IR AT 5 B
R4 R 7 % J0) 65 0% 491 5 3 5 200 L A LT B A 4
R8T AR B B P9 2 AT B 2R B R 5 B
A A~ ) 2R 0 o A A ) W A8 i 2 AT i
WA
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SECURITIES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the heading “DIRECTORS’ AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS IN SECURITIES”
above, at no time during the year ended 31 March 2019 was
the Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors, their
respective spouse, or children to acquire benefits by means of
acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any
other body corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

At the AGM of the Company held on 7 September 2011, the
shareholders of the Company approved the adoption of the
2011 Scheme and the termination of the share option scheme
adopted by the Company on 5 August 2002. Unless otherwise
terminated or amended, the 2011 Scheme will remain in force
for ten years from the date of adoption.

From the adoption date of the 2011 Scheme to 31 March
2019, the Company granted 25,620,000 share options under
the 2011 Scheme to the Group’s employees (including the
Directors). Particulars of the 2011 Scheme of the Company
are disclosed in note 32 to the audited consolidated financial
statements.

As at 31 March 2019, the Company had 10,080,000
share options (31 March 2018: 10,200,000 share options)
outstanding under the 2011 Scheme. Each share option
entitles the holder to subscribe for one ordinary share of
the Company. The exercise in full of the outstanding share
options would, under the present share capital structure of the
Company, result in the issue of 10,080,000 additional ordinary
shares of the Company, which represented approximately
0.60% of the Company’s shares in issue as at that date,
and result in additional “share capital” of approximately
HK$252,000 and “share premium” of approximately
HK$5,050,000 (before issue expenses).
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P A ¥ 5 A 2

B L[ ES R T BN B 2@ e ias | — i B
WEEHI > ARRNTF ~ FopE o 7 S AT 2
AEREZ-NEZA=ZT—HIEEER >
AR AT L PR S S~ S A 2Bk T
U Y /N AR LR (R YN
i B8 A 5 i 2 1 4 A 2 o

Yol B i it 24

MR AU b H AT 2 Ao OB AE R
1 A R SR A R —— 4 R
A TR R AR U i F AR Z W R T
B o B AT HE L BARAERT AL > B ——4E Y
B 2 R 4E A R e

R_B——FFHPERPNE_F—NE=ZH
Z=t—H > AAFAMEB T ——F5H#EH L
25,620,000 s BEfE AR E M 2 @ B ({0 5 #
F) o RAT B — A8 Z R R A 5
A B R MR B o

N _EZ2—LWE=A=Z2+—H > KAHE A
10,080,000 # #8 — & — — 4= 51 #1 #% th i 4 A&
THZHRE (R - N\FE=A=+—H:
10,200,000 fil§ JBt ) » 1 #5 A N A HE 3% 15 4y I
JBE W R — B A R B B o He AR A W] B
TRf 2 S AR B A > i 4 8 18 SR AT 16 g S e B A AT
f# 5 7 2 ] 1% %6 A0 8 4510,080,000)8 ¥ 78 it > £
AR A A H H OB AT A Z0.60% > BB A
B T Je A v 0 M ) O B3 3% 47 2 T W) 43 30 384
#1252,000%5 7C & #15,050,000% JC °



The following table disclosed movements in the Company’s

share options outstanding during the year:
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L ki

TAARAEE > 724 ) T4 h 7 1 R A7 1 O
ST :

Number of share options
TR H
At 1 April Granted Exercised Lapsed At 31 March Vesting ~ Exercise period  Exercise price
Name and category of grantee 2018  during the year ~during the year during the year 2019 period  of share options of share options ~ Date of grant
RoF-\E RAER RAEE  RARE KRS W2 W2
BYAGRREN MA-H LE] LIifd LT/ =8 ag ] e fifih 8!
000 000 000 000 000 HKS per share
i 1i4 H # 7 Bt
(Note (i)
(i)
Directors, chief executive and a substantial shareholder and their associates:
T RETIARR-FERARBRAL :
Mr. NGAI 4,500 - - - 4,500 10/09/2015 - 10/03/2016 - 0526 10972015
| ks 09/03/2016 09/09/2020
Mr. YAU 4,500 - - - 4,500 10/09/2015 - 10/03/2016 - 0326 10912015
s 09/03/2016 09/09/2020
9,000 - - - 9,000
Other employees:
JRH -
In aggregate 1,200 - - (120) 1,080 10/09/2015 - 10/03/2016 - 0526 10972015
i 09/03/2016 09/09/2020
10,00 - - (120) 10,080
Note: M it

(i) 120,000 share options were lapsed due to end of employment of certain (i)

grantees with the Group.

(it)  The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the cases
of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share

capital.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during this period were
rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any of the
Directors or their respective spouses or minor children, or
were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company,
its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors

to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

120,000 JiE IR HE AT 7 F AR £ZN A FiE 25 A 2E [ 1 0
AR -

(ii)  WARE P S AL I EAT » 2 75 A 4 ] IR K 3 2
LT A TET) - JE IR 1) 17 0 1 15 77 SEAEE 17 ] B

B b S 8 38 A o AR A ] v B AR AT A 5 AT o]
A B SR R AR R B T AT
v M B A A ) T A £ G ) Z WA 5 A
S I R S AT BE AT % SRR 5 A A ]~ PR
2 ) BT i b i =K 1) AR Y 2 ) 5 4 2 ST o
g% R ok SN R RL RN R YN e RS
A o
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Save as the 2011 Scheme adopted by the Company as
mentioned above, no equity-linked agreements were entered
into by the Company during this year or subsisted at the end
of this year.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
IN SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2019, according to the register kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, the following
persons and companies (other than the Directors or chief
executive of the Company) had an interest or short position in
the Shares and the underlying Shares of the Company which

B LARACA R TR 2 =% — AR E ] AR AT
Sl 08 77 AR A J3E A HE AT AR A A R AR A AT A e 5 4
88 15 52 o

T BB W Z 2 A

R R NWEZH=Z+—H > THRAARAFR
P8 5 B B 1R SR 3300 M H T AF B 2 B
> A TFALRAR (RAFREELHRFHITHA
B BRAN) B A 23 5] B4 B R B B4y v B AR
5 T B R SEXVER S I SR 34r ¥B Z Ak S 1)

fell to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of ARA "W EEZEHRKA ¢
the Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:
Long Positions in the Shares (Excluding Share Options): AR ] By 2 5
% of issued
Capacity and Number of share capital
Name of shareholders Notes nature of interests Shares held of the Company
Pz MiARAFRCHET
JBe 3K 44 K it 55 B B 2 L BBy e H JBeA 2 T By be
CHENG Wai Chun (1) Interest in a controlled 1,080,011,200 64.17
195582 corporation and interest of
spouse
T — e 1 T 2 M
T 5 8 i
Winhale (i1) Beneficially owned 838,760,400 49.84
HaHEA A
Braveway Limited (iii) As a trustee 838,760,400 49.84
R REAN
HSBC International (iii) As a trustee 838,760,400 49.84
Trustee Limited AT TN
Fame Yield (iv) Beneficial owner 235,000,000 13.96
C AT Hiala A
Dragon Gate (v) Beneficial owner 162,410,000 9.65
Development Limited ISR % XN
CHIU Koon Ming Andy (v) Interest in a controlled 163,940,000 9.74

7 52k 86
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Notes:

(i)  Ms. CHENG Wai Chun is the sole shareholder of Braveway Limited and the
spouse of Mr. NGAI.

(i) The above interest in the name of Winhale was also disclosed as interests
of Mr. NGAI under the section headed “DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS IN SECURITIES” above. In addition, the
Shares are ultimately beneficially owned by The Xyston Trust.

(iii) Braveway Limited and HSBC International Trustee Limited are deemed
to be interested in the Shares held by Winhale by virtue of the fact that
Winhale is wholly-owned by the trusts of which Braveway Limited and HSBC
International Trustee Limited are the trustees.

(iv) 100% interest in Fame Yield is controlled by Mr. NGALI.

(v)  100% interest in Dragon Gate Development Limited is controlled by Mr.
CHIU Koon Ming Andy.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2019, no other
person (other than the Directors and chief executive of the
Company) had an interest or short position in the Shares
and the underlying Shares which fell to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of the Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO, or who, as at 31 March 2019, was directly or
indirectly, interested in 10% or more of the nominal value
of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all
circumstances at general meetings of any other member of the
Group.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group entered into certain transactions with parties
regarded as “Related Parties” under applicable accounting
principles. These mainly relate to contracts entered into by
the Group in the ordinary course of business, which contracts
were negotiated on normal commercial terms and on an
arm’s length basis. Further details are set out in note 40 to
the audited consolidated financial statements. One of these
transactions also constitutes de minimis continuing connected
transactions of the Company as defined in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

For the year under review, the Group did not have any
transactions which need to be disclosed as connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction in
accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.
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Wik :

(i) HSEE LA % Braveway Limited B ME— R A6 73 B4
SB 4 B9 il 4 -

(ii) _LAEP Winhale# F4fH 2 # s W1 L X [# # J
B EATHN B3 i 27 2 FE s | — B o o 2% 75 Bl 56
2 HERE o WS 5 ML HI The Xyston Trust##
HREBHER -

(iii) Braveway Limited RHSBC International Trustee
Limited # % HEH B Winhalef¥ 5 Z R 1 2
W 75 o Winhale% B _I: 77 H Braveway Limited &
HSBC International Trustee LimitedfE % 15 76N 2
Gt 2= E A -

(iv) ) Bl B 2 o7 #E ik 77 T B 56 2 HE Y

(v) Dragon Gate Development LimitedZ )i #s )7
H 8 76 85 55 2 FE Y

B ESCRr kg Ah > R R -UEZA=F—H
PR Al N\ (AR A ) B 35 R e i AT BN B BRAIE)
T A 2 5 JBE A7 e L T A v A L R 8 o ) £
WA S XV IR 552 % 55343 8 2 M SCZH 1) AR 24 W] 3¢
R MR BIR A > LT AL ZF—UE=
H = H A W BB A2 AT 0L T Al i A
4 VO Jag S A A R B W] B R RO | R BR Y
A e S 30 st A G L 109% 5% A L B B 2 o

BT R 5

A 45 o) LA 4 P o R B s TR Ty | 2
ANLRTSLH T35y o WA AR 5 B R A S [t
H B S0 3 R v 4% — R Bl SR AR AR 2 S Ji U e
ETE I AT S22 A 4 o SUA B R G O AR o B
S 5 WA M RE40 o B — JE 22 B AR A A b T LB
S8 IO AT I S 2 11 J5 10 4R 7K P 1 e 2 B e 22
5 o

TR (B AR BE 1 > A 4 T HBE 48 52 o ZEUAR R
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RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

The Group has joined mandatory provident fund schemes
(“MPF Schemes”), which have been registered with the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, for its
employees (including the Executive Directors). Assets of the
MPF Schemes are held separately from those of the Group in
funds under the control of an independent trustee. Pursuant to
the rules of the MPF Schemes, the employer and its employees
are each required to make contributions at rates specified in
the schemes. The only obligation to the Group with respect to
the MPF Schemes is to make the required contributions under
these schemes.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least
25% of the Company’s total number of issued shares was held
by the public as at the date of this report.

DISCLOSURE PURSUANT TO RULE 13.18,
13.20 AND 13.21 OF THE LISTING RULES

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Company had no
disclosure obligation pursuant to Rules 13.18, 13.20 and 13.21
of the Listing Rules.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of major events arose subsequent to the year ended
31 March 2019 and up to the date of approval of this
annual report have been set out in note 45 to the audited
consolidated financial statements and the subsections
“SUBSEQUENT ACQUISITION OF THE WILTSHIRE
ROAD PROPERTY” of the section “MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS” of this annual report.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENT OF THE GROUP’S
BUSINESS

Please refer to the subsection “OUTLOOK” under the section
“CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT” of this annual report for an
indication of the likely future development in the Group’s
business.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard
of corporate governance through its continuous effort in
improving its corporate governance practices. Information on
the corporate governance practices adopted by the Company
is set out in the section “CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
REPORT” contained in this annual report.

REVIEW OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2019,
including the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group and recommended to the Board for approval.

AUDITOR

The financial statements have been audited by Ernst & Young,
Certified Public Accountants, who retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for reappointment at the forthcoming AGM.
A resolution for the re-appointment of Ernst & Young as

auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming
AGM.

On behalf of the Board of
VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL
(HOLDINGS) LIMITED
NGAI Chun Hung
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 June 2019
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08 3 A% B vl 3
i
EY::

To the shareholders of
Vantage International (Holdings) Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Vantage International (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 103
to 232, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2019, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a

summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position
of the Group as at 31 March 2019, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a

basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. For each matter below, our description
of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that

context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The
results of our audit procedures, including the procedures
performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial

statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

o S 7% il 9 5 (50)

Key audit matter

B gt o

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FAP 089 il o o S P B A it O

Accounting for construction contracts

BRI B P

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group’s revenue
and costs recognised for contract works amounted to
approximately HK$2,385 million and HK$2,150 million,
respectively.

MREEZZ-NEZA=Z+T—HIEER > HEERG
A0 TR e R A N B B 23 31 2 40 23. 85 T K 21.50
W TT o

The Group’s revenue from construction contracts is
recognised over time using the output method, based on
direct measurements of the value transferred by the Group
to the customer with reference to the certified value of
work performed up to the end of the reporting period. The
contract costs are recognised when work is performed,
together with any provision for expected contract losses.

HAEMKARESAMBARBELS W HEH
WA TR P M B (b 2B R B HIR
R B 2 O TAE) o 78— BRI R o A Ak
A AR WEHE R » M6 AE ] & 40 0 RS SR A o

The Group’s revenue and costs for contract works
were significant to the Group’s consolidated financial
statements and the recognition of profit on construction
contracts required significant management judgment and
estimate, particularly in forecasting the costs to complete
a contract, in valuing contract variations, claims and
potential liquidated damages and in estimating the amount
of expected contract losses.

AR B A A TR B A AR Y A T A
TN 5 K > i f I A A R Y T T A B g A
TR B B Al it > JU IR A T B S8 B A IR BA - REA
TRIBE) ~ R AR A E T I DA AN B T A A
e 18 48 % 5 i o

The accounting policies and disclosures for the revenue
and costs of construction contracts are included in notes 3,
4, 6 and 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

A B A A A WA BB AR I R M R R AR A
WA B R M a3 ~ 4~ 65281 ©

We performed the following procedures in relation to
the recognition of revenue and costs for construction
contracts:

A TR B A BN BORA B R AT T DL TR

e  understanding and evaluating the Group’s process and
control over the recognition of contract revenue and
contract costs and budget estimation;

WA it B WA B4R A R R A A WO B ) AR
VA B T Al st SRR M ) 5

e testing the calculation of the revenue and profit
recognised from construction contracts;

TR A A A0 B A Bt R Y 5

e  agreeing the progress towards complete satisfaction of
the performance obligation to the employer’s latest
architect certificates;

WA 56 4 JEAT B 40 FE s I I BRI 3 05 i e S i
WEER B

e discussing with management and the respective

project teams about the progress of major projects
and the estimates and assumptions adopted in the
forecast of contract costs, including estimated costs
to completion and assessment of potential liquidated
damages for major contracts;
B8 BI G I8 B IE H B i R I H B B DL
T A #4 JAS FE W P9 T R A B A S SRR o B4
56 1A DL B ) 0 B 40 1 VB AE ST 1R AR T
i 3

e  testing the supporting documents of the budgets
on a sampling basis, which include sub-contracting
contracts, material purchase contracts/invoices and
price quotations; and
Fib R 5 T B 0 SRR S - BRI K~ MRHR
WEE A B R s &

e  comparing last year budget against the current year
budget or actual costs incurred for major contracts on
a sampling basis.
R 25 4 i T O B AR A BE i UG B R A A
A A T MR A E AT LB L o
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Key audit matter

B gt o

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FAP 089 il o o S P B A it O

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

BB AP 1 191 T

The Group held various investment properties in Hong
Kong for rental earning purpose and the aggregate carrying
amount of these investment properties was HK$2,138
million as at 31 March 2019.

FAREA A WA 2 G Y A B & & - R
FMEZA=Z+T—H ZEREYEARE B
#4521 3808 W

Significant estimation is required to determine the
fair value of the investment properties, which reflects
market conditions at the end of the reporting period.
The management engaged an external valuer to perform
the valuations of investment properties at the end of
the reporting period and in the absence of current prices
in an active market for similar properties, the external
valuer considered information from a variety of sources
such as estimated rental value of the property and made
assumptions about capitalisation rates.

R A 48 ) 3 B O P A ZELAE R ORAN L o A PR
7 e 0 R B T S5 R 0 o A B 22 I A0 A Ak 6 R
F B IR B 3G W S AT AN A o H R R DL A SRR
BT M BLAT AR o DRI G > AR AR MR T % BE 2 8 2R R
B EEORE 5 5 0 Ay 3 04 A AL B R o B AL R AR

B -

The accounting policies and disclosures for the estimation
of fair value of investment properties are included in notes
3, 4 and 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

A7 B Al 8 3 P (U B 8 R BOR K e R U AR
B R B S~ 416/ o

We performed the following procedures to assess the
valuations of investment properties:

KMOHAT T ATRST > ULREAG 38 P S i A fE -

e obtaining and reviewing the valuation reports
prepared by the external valuer engaged by the
Group;

UG B FE B 4R I P 2 S g B A L i P A A
F A B R 3 5

e assessing the external valuer’s qualifications,
experience and expertise, objectivity and
independence;

A A7 A L B0 00 R ARG M R R B
& R

® involving our internal valuation specialists to assist
us to assess the valuation methodologies applied and
evaluate the key assumptions and estimates adopted in
the valuations or perform benchmarking on the value
of the investment properties to other comparable
properties;
B8 A Y P TS AT 5K 2 B B B A A T HE
V8 il 4 7 0% B Al T R D ) 2 B AR e B A > Bl
B Wy 3 B0 (0 B AL b DL A SR AT R Y 2

e comparing property-related data used as inputs for the
valuations with underlying documentation, such as
lease agreements on a sampling basis; and

SRR AR A v B B0 A 4 S R B Sk B B ST
P (4] EL S ) HEAT LR 5 R

e assessing the adequacy of the disclosures on the
valuation of the investment properties.

Al B 43 S A S A A B R R S A o
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

o S 7% il 9 5 (50)

Key audit matter
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
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Recoverability of accounts receivable and contract assets

HE I 5 J 3 79 5 e AT [

As at 31 March 2019, the Group’s accounts receivable
and contract assets amounted to approximately HK$110
million and HK$220 million, respectively, which in
aggregate represented about 10% of the current assets of
the Group.

BEF-NWEZAZT—H > B BUR &
FRVE B N R WAL W T 2 2480 > B
B EEEREEEMNL0% o

Significant management judgement is required to assess
the recoverability of accounts receivable and contract
assets. Management performed a detailed analysis which
considered customer’s ageing profile, credit history and
historical payment pattern and the forward-looking
information for the estimation of expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) on its accounts receivable and contract assets.

R R B R % A4 A 1 W I A B A i R
KRHAVE - BB GEAT TR - EH R TR PR
B DL ~ 175 FH T Bk B B Bl S A A2 58 DA% il W e £ 8L DA Al
wl O B WAk B A4 S W BRI A R AR R (T TR 5 4R
%1 -

The accounting policies and disclosures for the
recoverability of accounts receivable and contract assets
are included in notes 3, 4, 22 and 23 to the consolidated
financial statements.

I M WM ok B A0 B 1B SR B T A T o B
O AR B ORI RES ~ 4~ 220231 ©

We performed the following procedures in relation to the

recoverability of accounts receivable and contract assets:

Fo A HE WO IRk K% 5 40 2 P TR AT T DA R AR T

®  understanding and evaluating the Group’s process and
control over the collection and the assessment of the
recoverability of accounts receivable and contract
assets;
T RN AR A TR I R ek B R
VA B A G v e Dol ek g 9 A e o 5

e obtaining and evaluating the management’s

assessment on the ECLs of accounts receivable
and contract assets with reference to the historical
payment records, public available information and
credit history of the Group’s customers and the latest
correspondence with the customers;
A B A A5 B g S B AR ok B 7 0 B U
AR KB FEAG - 8 b 275 8 S A Re 8k ~ AR A
HREK HEME P HE R ERDL K B 5 0 5 RT
AF RS 5

e testing the ageing of accounts receivable and contract
assets at the end of the reporting period on a sampling
basis;

ol 0 T S R A M WOIR S K B A IR
L

e  testing the subsequent settlements and the latest
amounts of revenue certified by customers on a
sampling basis; and
Fil R AR A A K L DA B %5 P R U B B T
W Rk

e checking material accounts receivable and contract
asset balances by inspecting relevant contracts and
correspondence with the customers.
ARG LA PR EEER . mAERK
R WA SR R % ) A R o
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated

financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of

assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to

report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS

FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease

operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this

report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial

statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the

override of internal control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

Group’s internal control.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (continued)

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and

related disclosures made by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause

the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

e  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and

events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group

audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,

related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that
a matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such

communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Mr. Wong Cheuk Keung.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
22/F, CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue
Central, Hong Kong

25 June 2019
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR L0sS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

B 4H 2 B 3t 2 i i i %

Year ended 31 March 2019 #E ~F—NE=ZH="1—HILFE

2019 2018
ZE | ZFE-N\SE
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
M it T# F# T
REVENUE WA
Revenue from contracts with customers REEPEEAZWA 6 3,440,275 3,364,560
Interest income from loans receivable KEBEWERZ
A B WA 6 19,682 18,429
Revenue from other sources 2R B H AR IE =2 WA 6 84,562 80,088
3,544,519 3,463,077
Contract costs R R AR (2,149,888)|  (2,862,972)
Property costs LYIE 3%, N (566,213) (140,658)
Gross profit EH 828,418 459,447
Other income and gains, net HA W A W RS » WA 6 179,704 190,674
Selling and marketing expenses B % B B 32 (608) (248)
Administrative expenses T B 2 (140,652) (113,985)
Finance costs g g -4l 8 (32,429) (27,536)
Share of profits and losses of joint ventures JEAY & & A 3 Z % F)
Y Fic 2,170 9)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX B B i i A 7 836,603 508,343
Income tax expense B A3 Bt 32 11 (96,725) (55,670)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR A B % A 739,878 452,673
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 3 fib 4 yii ¢ 2%
Other comprehensive income that W B AE DL AR ] 1) R
may be reclassified to profit or loss SEEHEWN
in subsequent periods: HAh 2wk zs :
Share of other comprehensive JEAL BB AN
income of joint ventures HCAth 2 i U 2% 1,766 -
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 45 Ji 3 fib 4 i ik 2%
FOR THE YEAR 1,766 -
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE A J3 2 i L Ak 48 71
INCOME FOR THE YEAR 741,644 452,673
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR L0sS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

55 TH A B Al 2 i W A R
Year ended 31 March 2019 #FE - F—NLFE=ZH="+—HIFEZE
2019 2018
ZE | ZFE-N\SE
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
M it T-#C F# T
Profit for the year attributable to: JE A 4F B2 ¥ A1)
Owners of the parent BAFFAEE 704,520 408,930
Non-controlling interests I 4 ) 1k E 25 35,358 43,743
739,878 452,673
Total comprehensive income for Al 4 4 T WA 2 4
the year attributable to:
Owners of the parent BARFHEH 705,844 408,930
Non-controlling interests I e ) 1 E £ 35,800 43,743
741,644 452,673
EARNINGS PER SHARE B2 6] % 48 I A
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY R A7 WA 45 B ik A
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE (#:A)
PARENT (HK cents) 13
Basic FA 41.86 23.94
Diluted i 41.78 23.86
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

B

# Ok A R & #

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

g T N
31 March 2019 ZF—AFE=H=1—H
2019 2018
R A | ZFE N\
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt ik T#7x T# T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS k¥ By ¥ e
Property, plant and equipment LE Y 14 1,160,495 127,503
Properties held for development HEESRZME 15 74,362 396,877
Investment properties BEYE 16 2,138,000 2,039,000
Investments in joint ventures NEBALENRE 17 104,962 8,800
Prepayments and other assets FE AT sk E R AL E 25 - 114,741
Deferred tax assets I G FEIE G E 30 5,867 3,678
Total non-current assets I B E Al 3,483,686 2,690,599
CURRENT ASSETS i ) ¥
Gross amount due from customers EWEFEZEH
for contract works T A% 19 - 17,306
Properties under development Bk 20 808,215 419,033
Properties held for sale BEELEZWHE 21 246,181 667,226
Accounts receivable FE WS B 3k 22 110,382 533,348
Contract assets GHIEE 23 220,160 -
Loans and interest receivables JE W B 3k B A B 24 389,400 106,239
Prepayments, other receivables and TEAF AR E > Ho At Wk &
other assets Al & 2 25 147,294 70,645
Amount due from a joint venture FEW— & & a0EH 17 114 93
Tax recoverable w] I el A T 1,185 9,609
Cash and cash equivalents BHEekBE&SED 26 1,552,123 1,480,671
Total current assets it B B E A 3,475,054 3,304,170
CURRENT LIABILITIES i B 11 4%
Accounts payable JRE A e ik 217 343,915 444,366
Accruals of costs for contract works FEREGAH TR - 224,360
Tax payable JE A 58 3 15,664 32,076
Other payables and accruals H A ax M TEEEE H 28 481,921 136,914
Amounts due to joint ventures FE A+ 68 A £k E 17 801 8,114
Interest-bearing bank loans B SRfT e 29 1,570,963 1,380,161
Total current liabilities N ¥ K 2,413,264 2,225,991
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

B 4 B IR Bt A

31 March 2019 ZF—AE=H=—+—H

2019 2018
ZENE| ZF-NE
Notes HKS$’000 HK$’000
M it T # T
NET CURRENT ASSETS it By e 1,061,790 1,078,179
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT B A B8 RO ) £ 4
LIABILITIES 4,545,476 3,768,778
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES F R W) £1 %
Deferred tax liabilities PEAEFLIE A E 30 11,798 10,378
Total non-current liabilities Bl =R K 11,798 10,378
Net assets BETAE 4,533,678 3,758,400
EQUITY BE 4%
Equity attributable to owners B2 v $545 F HEAN R A
of the parent
Issued capital B AT A 31 42,074 42,074
Reserves ik M 33 4,163,445 3,422,040
4,205,519 3,464,114
Non-controlling interests Ik e il 1 WE 25 328,159 294,286
Total equity HREDR 4,533,678 3,758,400
NGAI Chun Hung YAU Kwok Fai
Director Director
2 e e i 1B o
HH HHF
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
#"ofE OB OKR A OB A F

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQuUITY

BT hE R )R

Year ended 31 March 2019 #E ~F—NE=ZH="1—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

LEEEEL i
Share Share  Property Non-
Issued  premium Capital  Contributed option  revaluation Other ~ Retained controlling Total
capital account reserve surplus reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
L Tt Tt LB FE it

Bk Rk WARRE  MARR Bl WABE R RERA it [
Noes  HKSO0  HKSOO0  HKPOO0  HKSO0  HKSO00  HKSOO0  HKPON0  HKSO0  HKSO0  HKSOO0  HK§OW0

Hit f#r T#r TEr TEr T#C TET T#T TE#T TEr T#T TEr

(note 33(b) ~ (note 33(a)) ~ (note 33(c)) (note 33(d))
W) (Wise) (W) (Witisd)
At April 2017 RZF-LENA-H $o4 A0 299969 11421 1368 204197 - L6620 3180048 25058 3430391
Profit and total comprehensive KRBT R
income for the year RN EAR - - - - - - - 408,930 408,930 8§14 451673
2017 final dividend ZE-LERARE - - - - - - - B ®Bm - B
Shares repurchased and cancelled T R et 31 (1972) (89,269 - - - - - - (91,41) - (91,41)
Transfer of share option reserve TR S
upon the lapse of share option BRERER - - - - (31) - - 3 - - -
[ssue of shares Bikh 31 4 113 - - (13) - - - 04 - 04
At31 March 2018 and REF-AF
At April 2018 EVES et
ZF-NERA-H 41,074 1IN 199969* 11421% 13145 204,197 - 1091865% 3,464,114 29428 3,758400
Effect of adoption of HKFRS 13 SRR BN
AEnye 11 - - - - - - - 69,220 69,220 BB 92,93
Ac T April 2018 (restated) RZF—~NEMA—H
(&5 Q014 B 19969 11421 134 204197 - L0833 3ITIY 385069
Profit for the year RERER - - - - - - - 104,520 104,520 35,358 139,878
Other comprehensive income AR TS -
for the year:
Share of other comprehensive L A
income of joint ventures Eyie - - - - - - 1324 - 1324 # 1,766
Total comprehensive income AEEERTHRESH
for the year - - - - - - 134 0430 705,84 35800 T4L644
2018 final dividend ZF-\EAHRA 12 - - - - - - - (33659 (33,639) - (33,659)
Dividends paid to non-controlling —— F A MR A
interests 3 - - - - - - - - - (25,000) (25,000)
Transfer of share option reserve TR A
upon the lapse of share option BTN - - - - (15 - - 15 - - -
AG! March 2019 REF-WE
ZRET-H Q014 134 199969 11421 1,299%  204197* 134% 3391961% 4205519 318159 4533678
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of  * BEAE IR H SRR SRS M B ROLR D 2 A
HK$4,163,445,000 (31 March 2018: HK$3,422,040,000) in the #4,163,445,000# 78 (ZF— \E=ZH=+—H :
consolidated statement of financial position. 3,422,040,000# JC)
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
BofE OB OR A OB A F

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLows

RABeR R

Year ended 31 March 2019 #FE - F—NE=ZH="1+—HIFE¥

2019 2018
S K ZR )\
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Wit F#x FH#T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RERHZIASHE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax I Bt B 5 A 836,603 508,343
Adjustments for: BN IE B R o
Finance costs B¥E M 8 32,429 27,536
Share of profits and losses of joint ventures AN &8 4 36 2t A
KE#R (2,170) 9
Interest income A BB A 6 (11,303) (6,935)
Depreciation e 7 31,516 9,388
Gain on disposal of items of property, HEWE - HEX
plant and equipment R IEH Z Was 6 (162) -
Gain on changes in fair value of BEWEANFHEME
investment properties, net gkt > FH 6 (92,784) (183,413)
Non-cash lease incentive Fk B 4 #6 WURD 16 (2,655) -
Provision for contract works EH TR B 7 266,055 -
Fair value loss of a derivative —JEM A SR T AW
financial instrument N RAE R 2 7 186 -
1,057,715 354,928
Decrease in gross amount due from W% P Z a4 T
customers for contract works XA A - 298,558
Increase in properties under development B F v g S B (23,880) (2,818)
Increase in properties held for development FeA MR8t e 2 S 5 (38,218) (22)
Decrease in properties held for sale FAHENEZERD 421,045 94,799
Decrease/(increase) in accounts receivable JE B k0% A (B ) 178,618 (67,276)
Increase in loans and interest receivables JRE Wi 8k I S 384 (283,161) (66,645)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, FEATERIE - At ek
other receivables and other assets FHEAMEEWD  (Hin) (75,391) 5,395
Decrease in contract assets FHVE EWA 24,238 -
Increase in amount due from a joint venture JE W — 8 A 3 A JE 3 (21) -
Decrease in accounts payable JRE 5 e 3K Uik A (100,451) (45,125)
Increase in accruals of costs for FRAEAHTREA
contract works ¥ m - 224,105
Increase/(decrease) in other payables and JC At JBE 5 3k K
accruals FARE MM, (A (92,199) 83,367
Cash generated from operations KHEBEZB 4 1,068,295 879,266
Interest received S PSS 11,303 6,935
Interest paid oA F B, (36,998) (30,295)
Hong Kong profits tax paid A 7 W ) 75 Bt (49,092) (21,030)
Net cash flows from operating activities REeEBERAEZHSRE
FH 993,508 834,876
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

O

BB A R

A A

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH Frows

RABERER

Year ended 31 March 2019 #E ~F—NE=ZH="1—HILFE

2019 2018
“E TR )\E
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Wit F#x FH#T
Net cash flows from operating activities REEBEAZBESRE
A 993,508 834,876
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING BHEHZAER R
ACTIVITIES
Additions of items of property, Wi ¥ ~ A K&
plant and equipment R EHE (611,767) (722)
Additions of investment properties DBV 16 (3,561) (4,231)
Acquisition of a joint venture W B — ] 1 AR 3 17 (60,000) -
Investment in a joint venture BER—HMAEBELE (41,000) -
Acquisition of a subsidiary that is not business W Ji if: B 3 %5 5 Bt 8§ 2 ] 35 (338,033) -
Deposits paid for property, R/ E R Y& ]
plant and equipment XAFET 4 - (113,641)
Deposits paid for property held for WA ERRZ
development ES ZN - (1,100)
Deposits paid for acquisition of subsidiaries T WAV B B A ) S AT 4 - (45,000)
Proceeds from disposal of items of WE - BSR K
property, plant and equipment A IHH Z PR a0H 162 -
Net cash flows used in investing activities REEHEMEH
Z Bl i B (1,054,199) (164,694)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING R B A
ACTIVITIES
Dividends paid oA BB (33,659) (33,717)
Dividends paid to non-controlling O A B 8 2 ) I 42 it
shareholders of subsidiaries & qiif 5 (25,000) -
New bank loans W AT Bk 625,691 190,000
Repayment of bank loans 1R RAT B (434,889) (491,329)
Shares repurchased and cancelled Ji I R e 8 LA 31(a) - (91,241)
Proceeds from issue of shares BEAT IR A 0 P 45 3K JH 31(b) - 94
Net cash flows from/(used in) AhEEHEL (HH)
financing activities ZHEHEFH 132,143 (426,193)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND e RS
CASH EQUIVALENTS B3 # 71,452 243,989
Cash and cash equivalents at ERZB e RBSFEY
beginning of year 1,480,671 1,236,682
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FERZBERBEHMY
AT END OF YEAR 1,552,123 1,480,671
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF e BB e S A B
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS Zn M
Cash and bank balances Blg T AT 45 B 922,123 1,210,671
Non-pledged time deposits K4 € B A7 630,000 270,000
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in Bl R A i i Bl 4 K
the statement of cash flows Bl &S 1HY 26 1,552,123 1,480,671
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
BofE OB OR A OB A F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR 5 3 B

31 March 2019 ZF—AE=H=—+—H

1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
Vantage International (Holdings) Limited (the
“Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated
in Bermuda. The registered office of the Company is
located at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton
HM 11, Bermuda. The principal place of business of the
Company is located at No. 155 Waterloo Road, Kowloon
Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, referred to as the “Group”) were engaged in

the following principal activities:

e a wide range of construction, maintenance and other
contract works in public and private sectors in Hong
Kong

e property investment and development

e  provision of finance

There were no significant changes in the nature of the
Group’s principal activities during the year.

In the opinion of the directors, the parent and the
ultimate holding company of the Company is Winhale
Ltd. (“Winhale”), which is incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands (the “BVI”).

Annual Report 2018-2019
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.

(continued)

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows:

Name

#i 1

Profit Chain Investments Limited

Able Building Construction Limited

ZREBARAF

Able Contracting Limited
ZIREERR AT

Able Contractors Limited

ZREEARAR

Able Engineering
Company Limited
ZRIBEHRAT

Able Engineering Holdings
Limited (“Able Engineering”)

ZIR TR R A
(K333 d))

Able Maintenance
Company Limited
RORGEBEAHRAF

Place of
incorporation
and operations

ik b 3 B
BEWRE

BVI
Bl A R

Hong Kong
B

Hong Kong
(R

Hong Kong
B

Hong Kong
B

Cayman Islands

GERids

Hong Kong
i

% B O WA A

o VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
R =

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 March 2019

2w B 5 B OB ()

A5 B B0 2 il i R

Nominal
value of
issued and
paid-up capital
CEiT R
8300 IR A i L

US$70,000
Ordinary
70,0003 70
I

HK$1
Ordinary
1970 ¥l I

HK$1
Ordinary
198 70 35 18 M

HK$10,000
Ordinary
10,0009 7t % 48

HK$8,400,000
Ordinary;
HK$11,600,000

Non-voting deferred

(Note)
8,400,000% 70
B
11,600,000% 76
T T RE R A it
(Hiit)

HK$20,000,000
Ordinary
20,000,000 7t
o

HK$10,000
Ordinary
10,000 7 i It

Percentage of

equity attributable

to the Company

A2 ) HEAY
B B By Be
Direct  Indirect
A A 4%
100 -
- 75
- 75
- 75
- 75
- 75
- 75

VR85 0 o TR i

—EAEZH =LA

A O F) B A F BRI T

Principal
activities

ER-E 3

Investment holding

B M

Building construction

and maintenance

MR R A

Building
maintenance

i S

Building
construction

 ER 3

Building construction

and maintenance

i S35 & 1

Investment holding

B M

Building construction

and maintenance

i S 3N E 1
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
BOoE OB OB A R ]

W

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

UE 5 0 o TR

31 March 2019 ZF—AE=H=—+—H
1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.

(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

Name

#i 1

Bright Wind Limited
e JE A R 4 )

Comfort Home
Properties Limited

ZEBERMAH
Covalla Limited

HREA A F

Excelskill Limited
A A

Frason Holdings Limited

WM A

Good Trader Limited
EHARAT

Grand Superb Limited

Hobol Limited
A RAF

Join Choice Limited

R WA

Annual Report 2018-2019

Place of
incorporation
and operations

ik i 3 B
BEWE

Hong Kong
LR

Hong Kong
B

Hong Kong
LR

Hong Kong
B

Hong Kong
B

Hong Kong
B

BVI
Bl A R

Hong Kong
B

Hong Kong
LR

A7 B B0 2 i) i R (A1)
ACON ) B A w R T ¢ ()

Nominal
value of
issued and
paid-up capital
o R
5300 IR A i L

HK$1
Ordinary
170 8

HK$1
Ordinary
1970 ¥ I

HK$10,000
Ordinary
10,0007 76 ¥ 4 It

HK$1
Ordinary
1970 ¥l i

HK$10,000
Ordinary
10,0007 76 ¥ 4 It

HK$1
Ordinary
190 ¥l I

US$1
Ordinary
13670 % J i

HK$1
Ordinary
1970 ¥ I

HK$1
Ordinary
170 8

2w B 5 B OB ()

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company
A ) B A
B v A b
Direct  Indirect

H Il
- 75

- 100

- 100

- 100

- 100

Principal
activities

ER-E 3

Property holding
WERH

Property investment

ES/a

Property development

e 2]

Property investment

ES/a

Property investment

US4

Property investment

IES3

Investment holding

B M

Property investment

ESi3

Property investment

US4



VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
#"ofE OB OKR A OB A F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
I B i i ik
31 March 2019 =& —h#E=H=1—H
CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. 2w R&EBEER ()

(continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) 1 bH B B A ) 0 OB (4)
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as AN FEMEAFERWT - (4)

follows: (continued)

Nominal
Place of value of Percentage of
incorporation issued and  equity attributable Principal
Name and operations paid-up capital  to the Company activities
el o B cHiT & A ) B A
H g BBnY B R I8 A i i B v A b LEEH
Direct  Indirect
Hi% I %
Metro Advance Limited Hong Kong HK$1 = 100 Property development
Wl A R A LR Ordinary MR
170 8
Noble Connection Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Property development
N B0 A7 R A ) g Ordinary MmEHR
19 70 2 M
Sureguard Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Treasury management
LRAERAT iRV Ordinary and provision of
1 e 8 inter-group finance
JEB A B R R
1y
Uni-Dragon Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Property development
FHRERARAT HF Ordinary B9
19 70 35 2 M
View Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Provision of finance
RERBEARAR i3 Ordinary et g
170 8
Win Glories Limited Hong Kong HK$9,600 - 100 Property investment
A A R A B Ordinary WERE
9,6009 7 % 4 it
Wood One Keeprich Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1 - 100 Property development
e B e TR R Ordinary ES 9
B 136709 J i
York Star Holdings Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1 - 100 Property investment
(“York Star”) KB EEE Ordinary WERE
LR 1578 % 8 it
Note: The non-voting deferred shares carry no rights to dividends or to W - S R R AT Ay S RE S B B o I JERE
receive notice of or to attend or vote at any general meeting of WEBE R B A T 2 AR AT R K B 4 ak
the company or to participate in any distribution on winding-up. FE RGeS AE & F R 5 B 4 T A e
FHAEAT 43 9k o
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
BofE OB OR A OB A F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

UE 5 0 o TR

31 March 2019

1.

2.1

ZENFE=H=1T—H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion
of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result

in particulars of excessive length.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA?”), accounting principles generally accepted
in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except
for investment properties and a derivative financial

instrument, which have been measured at fair value.

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$”), which is the Company’s functional
and presentation currency, and all values are rounded to
the nearest thousand (HK$’000) except when otherwise
indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
for the year ended 31 March 2019. A subsidiary is
an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee
and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the
Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities

of the investee).
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

#mofE OB Ok A B A W

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee,
the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances
in assessing whether it has power over an investee,

including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote

holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;

and
(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the

date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling
interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group

are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
described above. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an

equity transaction.

VR85 0 o TR i

31 March 2019 ZF—RE=H=1+—H

2.1 SR (4)

B SR e (D)

HA o T AR R A DR B T KRS
WA A D BRI - A RF A L% 5 B H
WAR G 7 WORE Ty W > A I 2% 58 T A A
FEAHD > B -

(a) BAPEHEFHARREREENE L
HE s

(b)  HoAfte £y [F] 2 e A O RER 5 Je

() AR B0y 3 Vbl 2 B A2 3 W -

WF i 2 1 A S 5 S A R P BLAS O W] — B
st IBCSR B e ot 00 TR A ) o R IR 2 ) Y SE A
AR AR IR R AR A > I AR A A
£ B Jag o W] L 2 v R AR L

AR 25 M LA 2 ThG WA B Y 5 AL 2 i B
AER B A R R B R PR RS > AR
U8R 5 B 4 o T R A R T FL M o AR
PR A% A ) 2 TR A2 o B B A R A
i~ HERR - WOA - P R BB B AR AR
ENGES T

T SR e U R b SO B b ) Y = 0 T
I L A A FACHR 8 B A
HRBREEBI BB E T7 B A " p A
Bve S i R A i A R i 5 B AR 2 25 AX
GG -
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
BofE OB OR A OB A F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
IO 5 i B ik

31 March 2019 Z=F—NhE=ZH=1—H

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and
liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of
any non-controlling interests and (iii) the cumulative
translation differences recorded in equity; and recognises
(i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii)
the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s
share of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss
or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as
would be required if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities.

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised
HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial

statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of
Share-based Payment Transactions

Amendments to HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
with HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKEFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

Amendments to HKFRS 15 Clarifications to HKFRS 15 Revenue from

Contracts with Customers

Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration
Annual Improvements Amendments to HKERS 1 and HKAS 28

2014-2016 Cycle

Other than as explained below regarding the impact of
HKFRS 9, HKFRS 15 and Amendments to HKFRS 15,
the adoption of the above new and revised standards
has had no significant financial effect on these financial
statements.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

#mofE OB Ok A B A W

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

AND DISCLOSURES (continued)
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments replaces HKAS 39
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018,
bringing together all three aspects of the accounting for
financial instruments: classification and measurement,
impairment and hedge accounting.

With the exception of hedge accounting, which
the Group has applied prospectively, the Group has
recognised the transition adjustments against the
applicable opening balances in equity at 1 April 2018.
Therefore, the comparative information was not restated
and continues to be reported under HKAS 39.

(a) Classification and measurement
Upon the adoption of HKFRS 9, the Group’s loans
and receivables are reclassified as financial assets at
amortised cost and the accounting for the Group’s

financial liabilities remains largely the same as it was
under HKAS 39.

(b) Impairment
The Group has six types of financial assets that

are subject to HKFRS 9’s new expected credit loss
(“ECL”) model:

e Accounts receivable;
e Contract assets;
e Loans and interest receivables;

e Financial assets included in prepayments, other
receivables and other assets;

e Amount due from a joint venture; and
e  Cash and cash equivalents

The Group was required to revise its impairment
methodology under HKFRS 9 for each of these classes
of assets. The restatement of the loss allowance for
these classes of assets on transition to HKFRS 9 as a
result of applying the ECL model was not significant.
Therefore, the carrying amounts for these classes
of assets and the retained profits at 1 April 2018
have not been impacted by the initial application of
HKFRS 9. Further details are disclosed in notes 17,
22,23, 24, 25 and 43 to the financial statements.
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31 March 2019 Z=F—NhE=ZH=1—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

(c) Hedge accounting
The requirements related to hedge accounting
would better align the accounting treatments with
risk management activities and enable entities
to better reflect these activities in their financial
statements. It relaxes the requirements for assessing
hedge effectiveness which more risk management
strategies may be eligible for hedge accounting.
It also relaxes the rules on using non-derivative
financial instruments as hedging instruments and
allows greater flexibility on hedged items. Users
of the financial statements will be provided with
more relevant information about risk management
and the effect of hedge accounting on the financial
statements. The adoption of the hedge accounting
requirements of HKFRS 9 has had no impact on the
Group’s financial statements as the Group does not
have any hedge accounting.

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

HKFRS 15 and its amendments replace HKAS 11
Construction Contracts, HKAS 18 Revenue and related
interpretations and it applies, with limited exceptions,
to all revenue arising from contracts with customers.
HKEFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model to account
for revenue arising from contracts with customers. Under
HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to
be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services
to a customer. The principles in HKFRS 15 provide a
more structured approach for measuring and recognising
revenue. The standard also introduces extensive
qualitative and quantitative disclosure requirements,
including disaggregation of total revenue, information
about performance obligations, changes in contract assets
and liabilities account balances between periods and key
judgements and estimates. The disclosures are included in
notes 4 and 6 to the financial statements. As a result of
the application of HKFRS 15, the Group has changed the
accounting policy with respect to revenue recognition in
note 3 to the financial statements.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
#"ofE OB OKR A OB A F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(continued)

The Group has adopted HKFRS 15 using the modified
retrospective method of adoption. Under this method,
the standard can be applied either to all contracts at the
date of initial application or only to contracts that are not
completed at this date. The Group has elected to apply
the standard to contracts that are not completed as at 1
April 2018.

The cumulative effect of the initial application of HKFRS
15 was recognised as an adjustment to the opening
balance of retained profits as at 1 April 2018. Therefore,
the comparative information was not restated and
continues to be reported under HKAS 11, HKAS 18 and

related interpretations.

Set out below are the amounts by which each financial
statement line item was affected as at 1 April 2018 as a
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result of the adoption of HKFRS 15: B H 0 AR
Increase/
(decrease)
¥im,~
(W A4)
Notes HK$’000
M it T
Assets i
Gross amount due from customers FEW R P Z &4 TR
for contract works (i) (17,306)
Accounts receivable JE W B 3k (ii) (244,348)
Contract assets HHIEE (ii) 244,398
Prepayments, other receivables and other assets TE AT 3K E ~ I Ath R Wk K
oAt ¥ 3 (ii) (50)
Total assets G R (17,306)
Liabilities i
Accruals of costs for contract works TR A A TR A (i) (224,360)
Other payables and accruals At A R K AR B (1), (iii) 96,524
Tax payable JRE Ak A5t 35 (iv) 18,237
Total liabilities BB (109,599)
Equity HE 2%
Retained profits P B 13 A (iv) 69,220
Non-controlling interests I e o 2R (iv) 23,073
Total equity HHBE 25 92,293
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31 March 2019 ZF—NWE=HA="1—H
2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.2 Fral WOR K % 2 2 8 (41)
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers HM R ENE ISR EmEF2ZHN G
(continued) AEAERRA ] (5)
Set out below are the amounts by which each financial DLF #85 BRR P 7 v B 5 s v R 2R 15 5% 3
statement line item was affected as at 31 March 2019 R-B—NIWEZAZ1T—HEARE_Z—I
and for the year ended 31 March 2019 as a result of the FEEZA=Z4—HIREE B EER A HPEE
adoption of HKFRS 15. The adoption of HKFRS 15 B 5 B A o R T ¥ T 2 ik A 4 R S 15 9%
has had no impact on other comprehensive income or S At 2 T WA A A M R~ R S
on the Group’s operating, investing and financing cash B4 I R AR AT R o SR — BN
flows. The first column shows the amounts recorded R B 7 s B 5 S 4 I B 1 S SR RO SR A R
under HKFRS 15 and the second column shows what S R RN A N AR P A v B S s 4 )
the amounts would have been had HKFRS 15 not been SE1SIRAE DL T B o
adopted.
Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other BE_FR-IFE=A=ZT—HIEEENGES
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March Has R HA KRR
2019:
Amounts prepared under
HLH5 T 2 o 1) 45 R0 4
Previous Increase/
HKFRS 15 HKFRS (decrease)
7 s W 5 56 i 1
WAHEN FEME B¥im,
W59 W (WA )
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$’000
Bt 7t TF#C T #C T #C
Contract costs i HR AR (i) 2,149,888 2,060,760 89,128
Gross profit EH 828,418 917,546 (89,128)
Profit before tax 3% A5 i ¥ ) 836,603 925,731 (89,128)
Income tax expense 453 B8 32 (iv) 96,725 111,431 (14,706)
Profit for the year 4 B2 ¥ 739,878 814,300 (74,422)
Profit for the year attributable to: JEfilj 4F & #5 A :
Owners of the parent RAEFEH 704,520 760,336 (55,816)
Non-controlling interests B 45 W 25 (iv) 35,358 53,964 (18,606)

Earnings per share attributable — #: 2 &) % /8 % #E 25
to ordinary equity holders of A AN 1 B i A

the parent (HK cents) (#:Al)
Basic AR 41.86 45.18 (3.32)
Diluted i 41.78 45.09 (3.31)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 March 2019 ZF—RE=H=1+—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.2 Fral WOR K % 2 2 8 (41)
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers HM R ENE ISR EmEF2ZHN G
(continued) AEAERRA ] (5)
Consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 R IEZH =T —H a5 R
March 2019: *®:

Amounts prepared under
HEHE T o) ¥ 1 4 9 i 4
Previous Increase/
HKFRS 15 HKFRS (decrease)
W% 56 i 1y
WEHEH R ¥im,
WI159% W (W A)
Notes HK$000  HK$’000  HK$’000
Bt 7t TF#C Fi T F T

Gross amount due from JEW R P2 &% TR

customers for contract works fake] (i) - 10,746 (10,746)
Accounts receivable JRE Wi W 3k (ii) 110,382 330,542 (220,160)
Contract assets G RIE (ii) 220,160 - 220,160
Total assets ¥ AAE 6,958,740 6,969,486 (10,746)

Accruals of costs for contract THIRE A A TR A

works (i) - 394,727 (394,727)
Other payables and accruals Fo Ao REA Sk IR B (1), (iii) 481,921 119,342 362,579
Tax payable JE £ i 3B (iv) 15,664 12,133 3,531
Total liabilities =Kt K 2,425,062 2,453,679 (28,617)
Net assets WA 4,533,678 4,515,807 17,871
Retained profits PR ¥ i A (iv) 3,391,961 3,378,557 13,404
Non-controlling interests Jp 4 1k E 25 (iv) 328,159 323,692 4,467
Total equity A RE 25 4,533,678 4,515,807 17,871
Notes: Bk
The nature of the adjustments as at 1 April 2018 and the reasons for the REF—NFEHH—HARBEEU RN %
significant changes in the consolidated statement of financial position —NWEEAZT—HWNESMBERRE LK ZEZ
as at 31 March 2019 and the consolidated statement of profit or loss ZIEEZAZT— HIEFEM AR LS KA
and other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2019 are Z TG W 5 36 Hh B TR R B R R A AN
described below:

2018-2019 £ EH & 121
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31 March 2019

—FAEZA=—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(i)

Recognition of contract costs

Prior to the adoption of HKFRS 15, the Group mainly accounted
for revenue from contract works using the percentage of
completion method, measured by reference to the percentage of
certified value of work performed to date to the total contract
sum of the relevant contract. Profit was only recognised when the
work was sufficiently advanced such that the costs to complete
and the revenue could be reliably estimated. Contract costs were
recognised according to the project’s overall profit estimation
using the percentage of completion method. Where contract
costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised
losses exceeded progress billings, the surplus was treated as an
amount due from customers for contract works. Where progress
billings exceeded contract costs incurred to date plus recognised
profits less recognised losses, the surplus was treated as accruals of
contract works.

Upon the adoption of HKFRS 15, revenue from contract works
will continue to be recognised over time when the Group creates
or enhances an asset that the customer controls over time in
accordance with the direct measurements of the value transferred
by the Group to the customer with reference to the certified
value of work performed to date. Costs that relate to satisfied
performance obligations in a contract will be recognised to profit
or loss immediately when work is performed, together with any
provision of expected contract loss.

As a result of this change in accounting policy, the effect of
the change has led to a decrease in gross amount due from
customers for contract works amounting to HK$17,306,000; a
decrease in accruals of costs for contract works amounting to
HK$224,360,000; an increase in other payables and accruals
amounting to HK$96,524,000; an increase in tax payable
amounting to HK$18,237,000; an increase in retained profits
amounting to HK$69,220,000; and an increase in non-controlling
interests amounting to HK$23,073,000 as at 1 April 2018.

At as 31 March 2019, the effect of the change has led to a
decrease in gross amount due from customers for contract works
amounting to HK$10,746,000; a decrease in accruals of costs for
contract works amounting to HK$394,727,000; an increase in
other payables and accruals amounting to HK$362,579,000; an
increase in tax payable amounting to HK$3,531,000; an increase
in retained profits amounting to HK$13,404,000; and an increase
in non-controlling interests amounting to HK$4,467,000.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(it)

(iii)

(iv)

Reclassification of unbilled revenue, retention receivables and
other receivables

Prior to the adoption of HKFRS 15, unbilled revenue resulting
from construction contracts and retention receivables were
classified as accounts receivable; and certain unbilled expenses
recoverable from customers for the sale of properties were classified
as other receivables. Upon adoption of HKFRS 15, these balances
are reclassified to contract assets.

As at 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019, HK$244,348,000 and
HK$220,160,000 were reclassified from accounts receivable to
contract assets, respectively; and HK$50,000 as at 1 April 2018
was reclassified from other receivables to contract assets.

Consideration received from customers in advance

Before the adoption of HKFRS 15, the Group classified
consideration received from customers in advance as other
payables and accruals. Under HKFRS 15, the amount is classified
as contract liabilities which is also included in other payables and
accruals.

Therefore, upon adoption of HKFRS 15, the Group reclassified
HK$94,350,000 from receipts in advance in other payables and
accruals to contract liabilities in other payables and accruals as
at 1 April 2018 in relation to the consideration received from
customers in advance as at 1 April 2018.

As at 31 March 2019, there was no receipts in advance in relation
to the consideration received from customers in advance for the
sale of properties.

Other adjustments

In addition to the adjustments described above, other items of
the primary financial statements such as tax payable and non-
controlling interests were adjusted as necessary and retained
profits were adjusted accordingly.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 March 2019 ZF—AE=H=—+—H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised

HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective,

in these financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 9

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011)

HKEFRS 16

HKEFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 19
Amendments to HKAS 28
HK(IFRIC)-Int 23

Annual Improvements

2015-2017 Cycle

adoption

Definition of a Business’

Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation'
Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture*

Leases!
Insurance Contracts®

Definition of Material?

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement!

Long-term Interests in Associates and
Joint Ventures'

Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments'

Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKFRS 11,
HKAS 12 and HKAS 23!

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for

Further information about those HKFRSs that are

expected to be applicable to the Group is described

below.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

#mofE OB Ok A B A W

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide additional
guidance on the definition of a business. The amendments
clarify that for an integrated set of activities and assets to
be considered a business, it must include, at a minimum,
an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create output.
A business can exist without including all of the inputs
and processes needed to create outputs. The amendments
remove the assessment of whether market participants
are capable of acquiring the business and continue to
produce outputs. Instead, the focus is on whether acquired
inputs and acquired substantive processes together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.
The amendments have also narrowed the definition
of outputs to focus on goods or services provided to
customers, investment income or other income from
ordinary activities. Furthermore, the amendments
provide guidance to assess whether an acquired process
is substantive and introduce an optional fair value
concentration test to permit a simplified assessment of
whether an acquired set of activities and assets is not a
business. The Group expects to adopt the amendments
prospectively from 1 April 2020.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address
an inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS
10 and in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale
or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full
recognition of a gain or loss when the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture constitutes a business. For a transaction involving
assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss
resulting from the transaction is recognised in the
investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture. The
amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous
mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in
January 2016 and a new mandatory effective date will be
determined after the completion of a broader review of
accounting for associates and joint ventures. However,
the amendments are available for adoption now.
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HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases, HK(IFRIC)-
Int 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a
Lease, HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating Leases — Incentives and
HK(SIC)-Int 27 Ewvaluating the Substance of Transactions
Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets
out the principles for the recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of leases and requires lessees
to recognise assets and liabilities for most leases. The
standard includes two elective recognition exemptions
for lessees — leases of low-value assets and short-term
leases. At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee
will recognise a liability to make lease payments (i.e.,
the lease liability) and an asset representing the right to
use the underlying asset during the lease term (i.e., the
right-of-use asset). The right-of-use asset is subsequently
measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses unless the right-of-use asset meets the
definition of investment property in HKAS 40, or relates
to a class of property, plant and equipment to which
the revaluation model is applied. The lease liability is
subsequently increased to reflect the interest on the lease
liability and reduced for the lease payments. Lessees will
be required to separately recognise the interest expense
on the lease liability and the depreciation expense on
the right-of-use asset. Lessees will also be required to
remeasure the lease liability upon the occurrence of
certain events, such as change in the lease term and
change in future lease payments resulting from a change
in an index or rate used to determine those payments.
Lessees will generally recognise the amount of the
remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to
the right-of-use asset. Lessor accounting under HKFRS

16 is substantially unchanged from the accounting under
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

#mofE OB Ok A B A W

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

HKAS 17. Lessors will continue to classify all leases
using the same classification principle as in HKAS 17
and distinguish between operating leases and finance
leases. HKFRS 16 requires lessees and lessors to make
more extensive disclosures than under HKAS 17.
Lessees can choose to apply the standard using either a
full retrospective or a modified retrospective approach.
The Group will adopt HKFRS 16 from 1 April 2019.
The Group plans to adopt the transitional provisions in
HKFRS 16 to recognise the cumulative effect of initial
adoption as an adjustment to the opening balance of
retained earnings at 1 April 2019 and will not restate
the comparatives. In addition, the Group plans to apply
the new requirements to contracts that were previously
identified as leases applying HKAS 17 and measure the
lease liability at the present value of the remaining lease
payments, discounted using the Group’s incremental
borrowing rate at the date of initial application. The
right-of-use asset will be measured at the amount of the
lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or
accrued lease payments relating to the lease recognised
in the statement of financial position immediately before
the date of initial application. The Group plans to use the
exemptions allowed by the standard on lease contracts
whose lease terms end within 12 months as of the date
of initial application. As at 31 March 2019, the Group
has non-cancellable operating lease commitments of
HK$402,000 as disclosed in note 38(b) to the financial
statements. A preliminary assessment indicates that these
arrangements will meet the definition of a lease. Upon
application of HKFRS 16, the Group will recognise a
right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability in respect

of these leases.
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HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a
new definition of material. The new definition states
that information is material if omitting, misstating or
obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements. The amendments clarify that materiality
will depend on the nature or magnitude of information.
A misstatement of information is material if it could
reasonably be expected to influence decisions made
by the primary users. The Group expects to adopt the
amendments prospectively from 1 April 2020. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 28 clarify that the scope
exclusion of HKFRS 9 only includes interests in an
associate or joint venture to which the equity method
is applied and does not include long-term interests that
in substance form part of the net investment in the
associate or joint venture, to which the equity method
has not been applied. Therefore, an entity applies HKFRS
9, rather than HKAS 28, including the impairment
requirements under HKFRS 9, in accounting for such
long-term interests. HKAS 28 is then applied to the
net investment, which includes the long-term interests,
only in the context of recognising losses of an associate
or joint venture and impairment of the net investment
in the associate or joint venture. The Group expects to
adopt the amendments on 1 April 2019 and will assess
its business model for such long-term interests based on
the facts and circumstances that exist on 1 April 2019
using the transitional requirements in the amendments.
The Group also intends to apply the relief from restating
comparative information for prior periods upon adoption

of the amendments.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

#mofE OB Ok A B A W

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 addresses the accounting for income
taxes (current and deferred) when tax treatments involve
uncertainty that affects the application of HKAS 12
(often referred to as “uncertain tax positions”). The
interpretation does not apply to taxes or levies outside
the scope of HKAS 12, nor does it specifically include
requirements relating to interest and penalties associated
with uncertain tax treatments. The interpretation
specifically addresses (i) whether an entity considers
uncertain tax treatments separately; (ii) the assumptions
an entity makes about the examination of tax treatments
by taxation authorities; (iii) how an entity determines
taxable profits or tax losses, tax bases, unused tax losses,
unused tax credits and tax rates; and (iv) how an entity
considers changes in facts and circumstances. The
interpretation is to be applied retrospectively, either
fully retrospectively without the use of hindsight or
retrospectively with the cumulative effect of application
as an adjustment to the opening equity at the date
of initial application, without the restatement of
comparative information. The Group expects to adopt
the interpretation from 1 April 2019. The interpretation
is not expected to have any significant impact on the

Group’s financial statements.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
BofE OB OR A OB A F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR 5 3 B

31 March 2019 ZF—AE=H=—+—H

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Investments in joint ventures

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of
an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about
the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of

the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in joint ventures are stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position at the
Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses. Adjustments are
made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies

that may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and
other comprehensive income of joint ventures are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income. In addition, when
there has been a change recognised directly in the equity
of the joint ventures, the Group recognises its share
of any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and
losses resulting from transactions between the Group
and its joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s investments in the joint ventures, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment
of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the
acquisition of joint ventures is included as part of the

Group’s investments in joint ventures.

If an investment in a joint venture becomes an
investment in an associate, the retained interest is not
remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of the joint control over the joint venture, the
Group measures and recognises any retained investment
at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying
amount of the joint venture upon loss of joint control and
the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds

from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
#"ofE OB OKR A OB A F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Interests in joint operations

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have
rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities,
relating to the arrangement.

The Group recognises in relation to its interest in a joint

operation:

e its assets, including its share of any assets held

jointly;

e its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities

incurred jointly;

e its revenue from the sale of its share of the output

arising from the joint operation;

e its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by

the joint operation; and

e its expenses, including its share of any expenses

incurred jointly.

The assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses relating to
the Group’s interests in joint operations are accounted
for in accordance with the HKFRSs applicable to the

particular assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
BofE OB OR A OB A F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR 5 3 B

31 March 2019 ZF—AE=H=—+—H

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the
sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the
former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the
acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the
event of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured
at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as

incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of

the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is

recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability
is measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent

settlement is accounted for within equity.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

#mofE OB Ok A B A W

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)
Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair
value of the Group’s previously held equity interests in
the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration and
other items is lower than the fair value of the net assets
acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised

in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs its
annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 March. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units,
or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the

Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates.
Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in

a subsequent period.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
BofE OB OR A OB A F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR 5 3 B

31 March 2019 ZF—AE=H=—+—H

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining
the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative
value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the

cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is
the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair
value measurement is based on the presumption that
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset
or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in
the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.
The principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a
liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic

best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant that

would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of

unobservable inputs.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

#mofE OB Ok A B A W

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair

value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the

lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is observable, either

directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the

fair value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each

reporting period.

YA 5 i B ek
31 March 2019 ZZF—NE=H=4+—H
F Bt R B ()

AP ik A (D)

A S 5 A A R e R P (B B A
AR B > SRR A PR A R
LA T A e I K A\ MELAE T R F
AL g Ok 9 AT 43 8

SRR — BRI e A A R T
5 b R K88 ) il 4t 2

SBER — R AP R RS R A
2T M S (K U AL TS
L T T OB A Al A

BERER — RREA TR RS RA
SR R A S50 Ui AT
AT BB W Al 4B

T AR I B A e Y O S R
A 4R L 8 5 U R R (3 3 AP R
w A LA R Y R K U A\
D) BT PR 2 8 DA b R R U R %
i Uk TR A A o

2018-20195EH &

135



136

VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
BofE OB OR A OB A F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR 5 3 B

31 March 2019 ZF—AE=H=—+—H

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other
than properties held for development, properties under
development, properties held for sale, deferred tax assets,
financial assets and investment properties), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating
unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal,
and is determined for an individual asset, unless the
asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets,
in which case the recoverable amount is determined for
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the period
in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the impairment loss is accounted
for in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for
that revalued asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but
not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that
would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment
loss is credited to profit or loss in the period in which it
arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount,
in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is
accounted for in accordance with the relevant policy for
that revalued asset.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

i

% B O WA A

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

or

(b)

the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

(viii)the entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
BofE OB OR A OB A F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR 5 3 B

31 March 2019 ZF—AE=H=—+—H

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and

location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss
in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where
the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for
a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount
of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of
property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual
assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them

accordingly.

Changes in the values of revalued property, plant and
equipment are dealt with as movements in the property
revaluation reserve. If the total of this reserve is
insufficient to cover a deficit, on an individual asset basis,
the excess of the deficit is charged to profit or loss. Any
subsequent revaluation surplus is credited to profit or loss
to the extent of the deficit previously charged.

Annual Report 2018-2019

EE T BORBEE (8

Yook ~ BRAR B i B 4

Yo - ety Bk 48 )5 45 B AR T R BT 8 R AT
o AR R © 3 - AR B H 2
R 1 L T R A o ot A R BOL B A
AR SR 0 B AR B O 2 LR AR

LEPISE ~ Hds MBeti T H BB RELZ
SCH o A SRR AE > — B 3 H 0 Y
AR B o WRAT AR R o R AR
AR S HH A R B O AL I AR T
SRS ~ BE A S B0 R 2 2 oy EE R
e > QAR 58 P e A R 40 % B S E 5 3L
FLAT A A W 00 ) A R B 9 L T o

HAGYE - RS s B B A 2
A foft 5 8 D T o B B AR 0 W R
A e RV R i i s A R
S0 AR ER o AT 4% A T A 48 6% DL T R
A 7 7 A PR T AR 2R



VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

#mofE OB Ok A B A W

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to
write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful
life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are as

follows:

Leasehold land under Over the lease terms
finance leases

Buildings Over the shorter of the
remaining term of the
land lease and 40 years

Leasehold improvements ~ Over the shorter of the
lease term and 20%

Machinery and equipment 20% to 24%

Furniture, fixtures and 20% to 33%

office equipment

24% to 30%

Motor vehicles

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is
allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each
part is depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives
and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if

appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including
any significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference between
the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the

relevant asset.

YA 5 i B ek
31 March 2019 ZZF—NE=H=4+—H
F Bt R B ()

Yook ~ B B il BT (1)
P8 75 DL A Al 1 T P 4 00k %

T - WA R SR IE R LR
BB PR 2 BEAERMT

43 R L AL B Y B
B
e i % B A B b
FH 4 47 3 5404
(DA S 3 T 4E)
HEWERE T B W1 5520%
(DA S 3 o )
B2 B i 20% % 24%
AR ~ S E K 20%%E33%
WA B
B 24%%E30%

BT~ WS R B A A B R A
VAT B AR ) > R T R B A AR T B
WML T A WAy o R A € A BT o 2R
L~ T B AR BT R 5 5 R e D A
B A 5 H bR B B (A0 o

—IHY WA TR (R A R AT
o ¥R ) A A I o TR A o 1 LB A
o 5 15 R A AR O P i IR A L T R o AT
Hh B o 4 A Y S A b R R AR BRE AR
BT R A R 5 O B R T
4 2 U 1 2 T R o

2018-20195EH &

139



140

VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
BofE OB OR A OB A F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

UE 5 0 o TR

31 March 2019
3.

ZENFE=H=1T—H

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold interest under an operating
lease for a property which would otherwise meet the
definition of an investment property) held to earn rental
income and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for
use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary
course of business. Such properties are measured initially
at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at fair
value, which reflects market conditions at the end of the

reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in profit or loss in the

year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in profit or loss in the
year of the retirement or disposal.

Properties held for development

Properties held for development are stated at cost less
impairment losses. These properties are reclassified as
properties under development or investment properties, as

appropriate, when development commences.

Properties held for development are classified as non-
current assets as the construction period of the relevant
property development project is expected to complete

beyond the normal operating cycle.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

#mofE OB Ok A B A W

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Properties under development

Properties under development for sale are included under
current assets and are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost comprises acquisition costs,
construction costs, interest and other direct attributable

Ccosts.

Properties under development are classified as current
assets as the construction period of the relevant property
development project is expected to complete within the
normal operating cycle. On completion, the properties are
transferred to properties held for sale.

Net realisable value is determined by reference to the
estimated selling price less estimated total cost of the
development and the estimated costs necessary to make

the sale of the properties.

Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business
less the estimated costs necessary to make the sale of the
properties.

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks
of ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title,
are accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of
a finance lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised
at the present value of the minimum lease payments and
recorded together with the obligation, excluding the
interest element, to reflect the purchase and financing.
Assets held under capitalised finance leases, including
prepaid land lease payments under finance leases,
are included in property, plant and equipment, and
depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of
such leases are charged to profit or loss so as to provide a

constant periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
BofE OB OR A OB A F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR 5 3 B

31 March 2019 ZF—AE=H=—+—H

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted
for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor,
assets leased by the Group under operating leases are
included in non-current assets, and rentals receivable
under the operating leases are credited to profit or loss
on the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the
Group is the lessee, rentals payable under the operating
leases net of any incentives received from the lessor are
charged to profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the

lease terms.

Investments and other financial assets (policies under
HKEFRS 9 applicable from 1 April 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost and fair value
through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash
flow characteristics and the Group’s business model
for managing them. With the exception of accounts
receivable that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit
or loss, transaction costs. Accounts receivable that do
not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient
are measured at the transaction price determined under
HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition (applicable from 1 April 2018)”
below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost, it needs to give rise to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

#mofE OB Ok A B A W

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Investments and other financial assets (policies under

HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 April 2018) (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)
The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends

on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if
both of the following conditions are met:

e The financial asset is held within a business model
with the objective to hold financial assets in order to

collect contractual cash flows.

e The contractual terms of the financial asset give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal

amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
BofE OB OR A OB A F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR 5 3 B

31 March 2019 ZF—AE=H=—+—H

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies under

HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 April 2018) (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
include financial assets held for trading, financial assets
designated upon initial recognition at fair value through
profit or loss, or financial assets mandatorily required to
be measured at fair value. Financial assets are classified
as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose
of selling or repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives,
including separated embedded derivatives, are also
classified as held for trading unless they are designated
as effective hedging instruments. Financial assets with
cash flows that are not solely payments of principal
and interest are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments to
be classified at amortised cost or at fair value through
other comprehensive income, as described above, debt
instruments may be designated at fair value through profit
or loss on initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or
significantly reduces, an accounting mismatch.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair value
with net changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments which the
Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value
through other comprehensive income.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a
financial liability or non-financial host, is separated from
the host and accounted for as a separate derivative if the
economic characteristics and risks are not closely related
to the host; a separate instrument with the same terms
as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of
a derivative; and the hybrid contract is not measured at
fair value through profit or loss. Embedded derivatives
are measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss. Reassessment only occurs if
there is either a change in the terms of the contract that
significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise
be required or a reclassification of a financial asset out of
the fair value through profit or loss category.

Annual Report 2018-2019

EE T BORBEE (8

BV BI04 S i BE R OHR R 7 8 008 05 3 o o
SSEO5% th —F — \AE Y JT — H AL
w) (81

LU AP e it A R 2 ) it A s 19 <2 i
E

VL2 PR wt B HL 058 ) st A JH 45 A9 4 il ¢
LA A2 T kA R~ T A e R R i
# L2 P A A B HO A B O\ HH 2R 0 4
RS E o S 2R DA S (B R Y
BE o WARBUS MBI R E R 8 > BT
A S0 A T o B A A R R S
Mo fTA A (BIE B IR AR TH) 75
o R A Sy > B R RE  H BE I T ALY
R T BRAD o B4 i 3 I 4 2 A G A0
A J5 8 S ASF A < i E 40 S0 DA P (B
BHLEH T AR > WAWEHEEL - &
A b SO s R4 UR DR R A
A O (B AR At 2 T L i vy o )
AEH 06 e R R > SR RE A0 T B e A
RHEC » T DA AR TR % DL A PR
w2 HIC A B A A A 4 Rl R o

VAP R wt B HLIC 58 ) st A\ JR 45 19 4 b
FEAE B 55K D2 DA AP B Gt 2 > T A F
g 0 528 ) AR AR 2R N R R

2 A A S T S S S T L B 098 45 40 S
Hy 32 O VA AT A At 2 T W AR A AT AR T
Ho

HIRAZHR G 64 (B8 SR ke m
A &) Hp AT A T Y R A O e B B2
FAMAREME 5 SR AR 4 TH AR
v ks ) B TR AT AT A THMER s B
iR A AR DA PR A R B Bt
AIEREI > AT TR B & 4 4 37 WA
Fy BUBAT A TREEEE o RAMTA TR A
> HICA PR B ARLE - R
A G Aokt B By > HLBE OO P Y
B4 i B St DA A PR A B B LA s A
1R 2% F G il 5 7 TR 20 JUIRE > 7 3 AT ERT RE
fili o



v

VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
#"ofE OB OKR A OB A F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Investments and other financial assets (policies under

HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 April 2018) (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(continued)

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract
containing a financial asset host is not accounted for
separately. The financial asset host together with the
embedded derivative is required to be classified in its
entirety as a financial asset at fair value through profit or

loss.

Investments and other financial assets (policies under
HKAS 39 applicable before 1 April 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
loans and receivables as appropriate. When financial
assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair
value plus transaction costs that are attributable to the

acquisition of the financial assets.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the

marketplace.

The Group’s financial assets include accounts receivable,
loans and interest receivables, deposits and other
receivables, contract assets and an amount due from a

joint venture and cash and cash equivalents.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 March 2019 ZF—AE=H=—+—H

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Investments and other financial assets (policies under

HKAS 39 applicable before 1 April 2018) (continued)

Subsequent measurement

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. After initial measurement, such
assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest rate method less any allowance
for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking
into account any discount or premium on acquisition
and includes fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in other income and gains
in profit or loss. The loss arising from impairment is
recognised in profit or loss in finance costs for loans and
in other expenses for receivables.

Derecognition of financial assets (policies under
HKEFRS 9 applicable from 1 April 2018 and policies
under HKAS 39 applicable before 1 April 2018)

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the
Group’s consolidated statement of financial position)
when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have

expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without
material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

#mofE OB Ok A B A W

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Derecognition of financial assets (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 April 2018 and policies
under HKAS 39 applicable before 1 April 2018)
(continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects

the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the
lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the
maximum amount of consideration that the Group could

be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKFRS
9 applicable from 1 April 2018)

The Group recognises an allowance for ECLs for all debt
instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss.
ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at an approximation of the original effective interest rate.
The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the
sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that

are integral to the contractual terms.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 March 2019 ZF—AE=H=—+—H

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKFRS
9 applicable from 1 April 2018) (continued)

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit
losses that result from default events that are possible
within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those
credit exposures for which there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the

remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing
of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making
the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including historical
and forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to
receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before
taking into account any credit enhancements held by the
Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash

flows.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
#"ofE OB OKR A OB A F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKFRS
9 applicable from 1 April 2018) (continued)

General approach (continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement of
ECLs except for accounts receivable and contract assets

which apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit risk
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance

is measured at an amount equal to 12-month

ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition but that are not credit-impaired
financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to

lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired
at the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated credit-impaired) and
for which the loss allowance is measured at

an amount equal to lifetime ECLs
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 March 2019 ZF—AE=H=—+—H

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKFRS
9 applicable from 1 April 2018) (continued)

Simplified approach

For accounts receivable and contract assets that do not
contain a significant financing component or when the
Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the
Group applies the simplified approach in calculating
ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group does
not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting
date. The Group has established a provision matrix that
is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the

economic environment.

For accounts receivable and contract assets that contain
a significant financing component and lease receivables,
the Group chooses as its accounting policy to adopt the
simplified approach in calculating ECLs with policies as

described above.

Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKAS
39 applicable before 1 April 2018)

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment
exists if one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset have an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of
financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence
of impairment may include indications that a debtor or
a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation and observable data
indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the
estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or

economic conditions that correlate with defaults.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

#mofE OB Ok A B A W

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKAS
39 applicable before 1 April 2018) (continued)
Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group
first assesses whether impairment exists individually
for financial assets that are individually significant, or
collectively for financial assets that are not individually
significant. If the Group determines that no objective
evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed
financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes
the asset in a group of financial assets with similar
credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them
for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed
for impairment and for which an impairment loss is,
or continues to be, recognised are not included in a
collective assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows
(excluding future credit losses that have not yet been
incurred). The present value of the estimated future
cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate
computed at initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the
use of an allowance account and the loss is recognised
in profit or loss. Interest income continues to be accrued
on the reduced carrying amount using the rate of interest
used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of
measuring the impairment loss. Loans and receivables
together with any associated allowance are written off
when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and
all collateral has been realised or has been transferred to
the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised,
the previously recognised impairment loss is increased or
reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a write-
off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to other
expenses in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (policies under HKFRS 9 applicable
from 1 April 2018 and HKAS 39 applicable before

1 April 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as

loans and borrowings or as payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair
value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and

payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include accounts payable,
other payables, amounts due to joint ventures and
interest-bearing bank loans.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities

depends on their classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing bank loans
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in profit
or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as

through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance

costs in profit or loss.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
#"ofE OB OKR A OB A F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (policies under HKFRS 9 applicable
from 1 April 2018 and HKAS 39 applicable before

1 April 2018) (continued)

Financial guarantee contracts (policies under HKFRS 9
applicable from 1 April 2018)

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are
those contracts that require a payment to be made to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because the
specified debtor fails to make a payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A
financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as a
liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the issuance of the
guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contracts at the higher
of: (i) the ECL allowance determined in accordance
with the policy as set out in “Impairment of financial
assets (policies under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 April
2018)”; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less,
when appropriate, the cumulative amount of income

recognised.

Financial guarantee contracts (policies under HKAS 39
applicable before 1 April 2018)

A financial guarantee contract is recognised initially
as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of the
guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contract at the higher
of: (i) the amount of the best estimate of the expenditure
required to settle the present obligation at the end of the
reporting period; and (ii) the amount initially recognised

less, when appropriate, cumulative amortisation.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 April 2018 and HKAS 39
applicable before 1 April 2018)

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of
a new liability, and the difference between the respective

carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments (policies under

HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 April 2018 and HKAS 39
applicable before 1 April 2018)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the

liabilities simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally
within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part
of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and at banks, including term deposits, and assets
similar in nature to cash, which are not restricted as to

use.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

#mofE OB Ok A B A W

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The Group recognises provision for onerous contracts
when the unavoidable costs of meeting the performance
obligations under the construction contracts exceed the
economic benefits expected to be received under it. The
amount of provision for onerous contracts is estimated
based on contract costs to completion and contract
claims. The estimation basis is reviewed on an ongoing

basis and revised where appropriate.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the
end of the reporting period of the future expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount arising
from the passage of time is included in finance costs in

profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other

comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries

in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their

carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
BofE OB OR A OB A F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR 5 3 B

31 March 2019 ZF—AE=H=—+—H

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable

temporary differences, except:

e  when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the

accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

® in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that
the temporary differences will not reverse in the

foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax

credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

e when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and, at the time of
the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit

nor taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and joint
ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

#mofE OB Ok A B A W

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or

part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or

substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right
to set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and
the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are

expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will
be received and all attaching conditions will be complied
with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it
is recognised as income on a systematic basis over the
periods that the costs, which it is intended to compensate,

are expensed.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
BofE OB OR A OB A F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR 5 3 B

31 March 2019 ZF—AE=H=—+—H

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (applicable from 1 April 2018)
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for

those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated
to which the Group will be entitled in exchange for
transferring the goods or services to the customer.
The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable
that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of
cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the
associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is

subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer for more than one year, revenue is measured at
the present value of the amount receivable, discounted
using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction between the Group and
the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the
Group a significant financial benefit for more than one
year, revenue recognised under the contract includes the
interest expense accreted on the contract liability under
the effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the
transfer of the promised goods or services is one year or
less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects

of a significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in HKFRS 15.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

i

% B O WA A

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Revenue recognition (applicable from 1 April 2018)

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(a)

(b)

Construction services

Revenue from the provision of construction services
is recognised over time, using an output method to
measure progress towards complete satisfaction of the
service, because the Group’s performance creates or
enhances an asset that the customer controls over
time as the asset is created or enhanced. The output
method recognises revenue in accordance with the
direct measurements of the value of the services
transferred by the Group to the customer with
reference to the certified value of work performed to
date.

Sale of properties

Revenue from the sale of properties is recognised at
the point in time when the purchasers obtain the
physical possession or the legal title of the completed
property and the Group has present right to payment

and the collection of the consideration is probable.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using

the effective interest method by applying the rate that

exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over

the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter

period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of

the financial asset.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis

over the lease terms.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
BofE OB OR A OB A F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR 5 3 B

31 March 2019 ZF—AE=H=—+—H

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (applicable from 1 April 2018)
(continued)

Other income

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’

right to receive payment has been established.

Revenue recognition (applicable before 1 April 2018)
Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the

revenue can be measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a) from construction, renovation and other contracts,
on the percentage of completion basis, as further
explained in the accounting policy for “Construction,
renovation and other contracts (applicable before

1 April 2018)” below;

(b) from the sales of completed properties, by the time
the properties are delivered to the purchasers and the

sales agreements become unconditional;

(c) rental income, on a time proportion basis over the

lease terms;

(d) interest income, on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
over the expected life of the financial instrument or a
shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying

amount of the financial asset; and

(e) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

#mofE OB Ok A B A W

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Contract assets (applicable from 1 April 2018)

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange
for goods or services transferred to the customer. If the
Group performs by transferring goods or services to a
customer before the customer pays consideration or before
payment is due, a contract asset is recognised for the

earned consideration that is conditional.

Contract liabilities (applicable from 1 April 2018)

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods
or services to a customer for which the Group has
received a consideration (or an amount of consideration
that is due) from the customer. If a customer pays the
consideration before the Group transfers goods or services
to the customer, a contract liability is recognised when
the payment is made or the payment is due (whichever
is earlier). Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue
when the Group performs under the contract.

Contract costs (applicable from 1 April 2018)

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories,
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets,
costs incurred to fulfil a contract with a customer are
capitalised as an asset if all of the following criteria are

met:

(a) The costs relate directly to a contract or to an
anticipated contract that the entity can specifically

identify.

(b) The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity
that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to
satisfy) performance obligations in the future.

(c) The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged
to profit or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent
with the pattern of the revenue to which the asset related
is recognised. Other contract costs are expensed as

incurred.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
BofE OB OR A OB A F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR 5 3 B

31 March 2019 ZF—AE=H=—+—H

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Construction, renovation and other contracts
(applicable before 1 April 2018)

Contract revenue comprises the agreed contract amount
and appropriate amounts from variation orders, claims
and incentive payments. Contract costs incurred comprise
direct materials, the costs of subcontracting, direct labour
and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed
construction overheads.

Revenue from fixed price contracts is recognised on the
percentage of completion method, measured by reference
to the percentage of certified value of work performed to
date to the total contract sum of the relevant contract.

Provision is made for foreseeable losses as soon as they
are anticipated by management. Where contract costs
incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised
losses exceed progress billings, the surplus is treated as an
amount due from customers for contract works.

Share-based payments

The Company operates share option schemes for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the
Group’s operations. Employees (including directors) of
the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-
based payments, whereby employees render services as
consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees
is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at
which they are granted.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the
performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled.
The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until
the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting
period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of
the number of equity instruments that will ultimately
vest. The charge or credit to profit or loss for a period
represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

#mofE OB Ok A B A W

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Share-based payments (continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date
fair value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions
being met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate
of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately
vest. Market performance conditions are reflected
within the grant date fair value. Any other conditions
attached to an award, but without an associated service
requirement, are considered to be non-vesting conditions.
Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value
of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an
award unless there are also service and/or performance
conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-
market performance and/or service conditions have
not been met, no expense is recognised. Where
awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the
transactions are treated as vesting irrespective of whether
the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided
that all other performance and/or service conditions are
satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified,
as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been modified, if the original terms of the award
are met. In addition, an expense is recognised for any
modification that increases the total fair value of the
share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the
employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting
conditions within the control of either the Group or
the employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as
a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the
cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a
modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
BofE OB OR A OB A F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR 5 3 B

31 March 2019 ZF—AE=H=—+—H

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Share-based payments (continued)

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings

per share.

Other employee benefits

Paid leave carried forward

The Group provides paid annual leave to its employees
under their employment contracts on a calendar year
basis. Under certain circumstances, such leave which
remains untaken as at the end of the reporting period
is permitted to be carried forward and utilised by the
respective employees in the following year. An accrual is
made at the end of the reporting period for the expected
future cost of such paid leave earned during the year by

the employees and carried forward.

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those
of the Group in an independently administered fund.
The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Exempted Occupational Retirement Schemes Ordinance
(“ORSQ”) retirement benefit scheme for those employees
who are eligible to participate in the ORSO scheme. This
scheme operates in a way similar to the MPF Scheme,
except that when an employee leaves the scheme prior
to his/her interest in the Group’s employee contributions
vesting fully, the ongoing contributions payable by the
Group are reduced by the relevant amount of forfeited

employer’s contributions.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

#mofE OB Ok A B A W

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets
is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and
other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.

Dividends
Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are

approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’s memorandum and
articles of association grant the directors the authority
to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim
dividends are recognised immediately as a liability when

they are proposed and declared.

Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the note 12 to

the financial statements.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
BofE OB OR A OB A F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR 5 3 B

31 March 2019 ZF—AE=H=—+—H

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency.
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency and items included in the financial statements of
each entity are measured using that functional currency.
Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in
the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the functional
currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or

loss.

Differences arising on settlement or translation of
monetary items are recognised in profit or loss with the
exception of monetary items that are designated as part
of the hedge of the Group’s net investment of a foreign
operation. These are recognised in other comprehensive
income until the net investment is disposed of, at which
time the cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or
loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to exchange
differences on those monetary items are also recorded in

other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured
at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of
the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e.
translation difference on the item whose fair value gain or
loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit
or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income

or profit or loss, respectively).
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

#mofE OB Ok A B A W

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of
the related asset, expense or income on the derecognition
of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability
relating to an advance consideration, the date of initial
transaction is the date on which the Group initially
recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary
liability arising from the advance consideration. If there
are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or

receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas joint
ventures are currencies other than the Hong Kong
dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets
and liabilities of these entities are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at the
end of the reporting period and their statements of
profit or loss are translated into Hong Kong dollars at
the weighted average exchange rates for the year. The
resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in other reserve.
On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of
other comprehensive income relating to that particular

foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation

and translated at the closing rate.

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates
could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or
liabilities affected in the future.

3.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
BofE OB OR A OB A F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR 5 3 B

31 March 2019 ZF—AE=H=—+—H

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following judgements,
apart from those involving estimations, which have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the

financial statements:

Classification between investment properties and owner-
occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies
as an investment property, and has developed criteria
in making that judgement. Investment property is a
property held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation
or both. Therefore, the Group considers whether a
property generates cash flows largely independently of
the other assets held by the Group. Some properties
comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or for
capital appreciation and another portion that is held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes. If these portions could be
sold separately or leased out separately under a finance
lease, the Group accounts for these portions separately.
If the portions could not be sold separately, the property
is an investment property only if an insignificant portion
is held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services or for administrative purposes. Judgement is made
on an individual property basis to determine whether
ancillary services are so significant that a property does

not qualify as an investment property.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

#mofE OB Ok A B A W

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Accounting for contract works

The Group’s revenue from contract works are recognised
over time using the output method and is measured
in accordance with the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the performance obligations. Budgeted
contract costs are prepared by the management on the
basis of contract concluded with and/or quotations
provided by the major sub-contractors, suppliers or
vendors involved from time to time, the experience
of the management and current market condition.
The profitability of each project is dependent on the
estimation of the total outcome of the contract, as well as
the work done to date. The Group reviews and revises the
estimates of contract costs to completion, variation orders
and contract claims prepared for each contract work as
the contract progresses. Significant judgement is required
in estimating contract costs to completion, variation
works and contract claims which may have an impact
to the total outcome of the contract and recognition of
profit. Actual outcomes of total contract costs may be
higher or lower than estimated at the end of the reporting
period, which would affect the profit recognised in future

years as an adjustment to the amounts recorded to date.

Recoverability of accounts receivable and contract assets

The policy for impairment of accounts receivable and
contract assets of the Group is based on the evaluation of
collectability and ageing analysis of accounts receivable
and contract assets as well as other quantitative and
qualitative information and on management’s judgement
and assessment of the forward-looking information.
Significant judgement and estimates are required in
assessing the ultimate realisation of these assets, based on
the current creditworthiness, the past collection history
and subsequent settlements of each customer. If the
financial conditions of customers of the Group were to
deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to
make payments, additional provisions may be required.
Further details are disclosed in notes 22, 23 and 43 to the

financial statements.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
BofE OB OR A OB A F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR 5 3 B

31 March 2019 ZF—AE=H=—+—H

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

As disclosed in note 16 to the financial statements,
investment properties are revalued at the end of the
reporting period on market value, existing use basis
by independent professionally qualified valuer. Such
valuations were based on certain assumptions and
estimates, which are subject to uncertainty and might
materially differ from the actual outcomes. In making the
judgement for valuation of investment properties, the
Group considered the discounted cash flow projections
based on reliable estimates of future cash flows, supported
by the terms of any existing lease and other contracts
and (when possible) by external evidence such as current
market rents for similar properties in the same location
and condition, and using discount rates that reflect
current market assessments of the uncertainty in the

amount and timing of the cash flows.

SEGMENT INFORMATION
For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and

has three reportable operating segments as follows:

(a) the contract works segment engages in contract
works as a main contractor or sub-contractor,
primarily in respect of building construction and

repair, maintenance, alteration and addition

(“RMAA”) works;

(b) the property investment and development segment
engages in investment in retail and commercial
premises for their rental income potential and the
development of properties for rental or for sale

purpose; and

(c) the provision of finance segment engages in money

lending business.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
#"ofE OB OKR A OB A F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Management monitors the results of the Group’s
operating segments separately for the purpose of making
decisions about resources allocation and performance
assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based
on reportable segment profit, which is a measure of
adjusted profit before tax. The adjusted profit before tax
is measured consistently with the Group’s profit before
tax except that bank interest income, finance costs, share
of profits and losses of joint ventures as well as head
office and corporate expenses are excluded from such
measurement.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with
reference to the selling prices used for sales made to third
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parties at the then prevailing market prices. 5 e
Property investment
Provision of finance Contract works and development Total Eliminations Consolidated
flkmY AHIR WRRERER it bt WA
019 018 019 018 019 018 019 018 019 018 019 018
RN | RN | SF0E | SRR | SFRE | SENE | SRR | ZFNE | ZBRE | SFAE | SRRk | CE0R
HK$'000 HK§000 HK$'000 HKS'000 | HK$'000 HES'000 | HK$'000 HES'000 | HK$'000 HKS'000 | HK$'000 HK$'000
Ti#r Titr Ti#r Titr Ti#r Titr Ti#r Titr Ti#r Tt Ti#r Tt
Segment revenue (nore 6) SIS (Hizke)
Sales o external customers BB AKEF - S P AISFIC A TAIZEN I REIY)) BB | 35487 | 34468 - S| 38 | 346
Interest income from HHER
lomns receivable HAkA 19,682 18429 - - - - 19,682 18409 - - 19,682 1849
Intersegment sales AR E - - - - 2,640 1640 1,640 1640 (2,640) (2,640) - -
Total it 19,682 1849 | 2385415 32064 | 1,142,062 335,04 | 3,547,159 3465,717 (2,640) (2640) | 3,344,519 3463017
Segment results AR 19,682 1849 | 133300 WO | 42,609 MBL | 997818 645,012 (2:438) (2460) | 995,360 64212
Interest and unallocated HERAARZUA R
income and gains 12,154 7261
Unallocated expenses FARZHL (140,652) (113,989)
Finance costs B ER (32429) (2136)
Share of profisand losses— BEf B E A EZ WA REH
of joint ventures - - 21113 - () (9) 2,170 (9) - - 2,170 (9)
Profit before tax B AR 836,603 508,343
Income tax expense Lk (96,725) (55,670
Profit for the year AR A 739,878 L7
Other segment information: S/ EH :
Depreciation fiE - - 26,982 1193 - 851 26,982 3,644 - - 26,982 3,644
Depreciation on RARRELIE
unallocated assets 4534 514 - - 4534 5,144
Capital expenditure FRME R - - 599,700 114358 353,627 4236 953,327 118,5% - - 953,301 118,394
Investments in RABEEEHRE
foint ventures - - 104,559 8,014 403 186 104,962 8,800 - - 104,962 8,800
(Gain on changes in fair REHEATRE
value of investment Sl - 4
properties, net - - - - 92,784 183413 92,784 183413 - - 92,784 183,413
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

UE 5 0 o TR

31 March 2019 ZF—AE=H=—+—H

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. Zri OB (A1)
Geographical information b it 5 R
The Group’s revenue from external customers is all AL E R BN RE P RAZ RS A LFE
derived from customers in Hong Kong and the Group’s W T o AR ER M ) i ) R A AR S AL
non-current assets are all located in Hong Kong. v o
Information about major customers FHEEFER
Revenue from a major customer which accounted for 10% A A SR B A4 JE WA 10% 3K DA Ly — 45 25
or more of the Group’s revenue for the year is set out %P WBEABIII T
below:
2019 2018
R | RN
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#7x T# T
Contract works segment — Customer A BRI TSI -—KFH 1,919,974 2,656,907
Except for the aforesaid, no other single external B SRt Ah > BESEAT B A ) G i BE—4p
customer for which the revenue derived accounted for K% P A AR AR 10%8 DA | -
10% or more of the Group’s revenue.
Information about products and services VE ity B¢ IR 5 %6 6t
2019 2018
“E A DR\
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#c F#x
Revenue from external customers KHAMKEFZKA
Contract works for building construction MEFHEE F 4 T4 2,283,372 3,015,304
Contract works for RMAA Hefs ~ PRAE -~ U Ko
BRI 102,043 96,960
Gross rental income 4 W A% 84,562 80,088
Sale of properties WESBEBRA 1,054,860 252,296
Interest income from loans receivable AR B HE W KRB IR A 19,682 18,429
3,544,519 3,463,077
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
#"ofE OB OKR A OB A F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS,
NET

YA 5 i B ek
31 March 2019 ZZF—NE=H=4+—H
6. WA ~ HAbBCA KWtk > EB

An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows: N U NG T T
2019 2018
ZE | 22N\
HK$’000 HK$’000
T# T oc
Revenue from contracts with customers HE P2 G4
EE A
Contract works revenue H4 TRERIA 2,385,415 3,112,264
Sale of properties LY/ E Xk 1,054,860 252,296
Interest income FlEHA
Interest income from loans receivable AR B RE B K R B I 19,682 18,429
Revenue from other sources 3K H H b A 7 1y e A
Gross rental income* RN 84,562 80,088
3,544,519 3,463,077
* Gross rental income included contingent rents received under * A BE N > R A WOOA SR A I M R S
operating leases of HK$395,000 (2018: HK$446,000) during the A B O B AR L 4:395,0008 08 (ZF— N\
year. AR 1 446,000%78) °
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Vi 25 e B ke
31 March 2019 ZF—NWE=HA="1—H
6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, 6.
NET (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers
(i) Disaggregated revenue information
For the year ended 31 March 2019

oA > JE AN B i o (A

B P Z B A 8 WA

(i) ABUAEH
BREZZ-NUNE=ZA=Z14—HILEE

Property
investment
Contract and
works development Total
Wk B
FHITR ) &4 il
HK$’°000 HK$’000 HKS$’000
T #C T#C T#C
Type of goods or services 1 il 5 IR 5 380
Contract works revenue BEHITHRIEA 2,385,415 - 2,385,415
Sale of properties CE Xk - 1,054,860 1,054,860
Total revenue from contracts HEFRZEHEH
with customers A A A 2,385,415 1,054,860 3,440,275
Timing of revenue recognition e BN Y Iy 1
Goods transferred at a point in time £F 4% — IFf B i3 & & - 1,054,860 1,054,860
Services transferred over time A 5 — B By R
it 5 2,385,415 - 2,385,415
Total revenue from contracts HEFZHEMEL
with customers E A I &t 2,385,415 1,054,860 3,440,275

The following table shows the amount of revenue

AR BRI R 0 AR A A RO

recognised in the current reporting period that was T A 45 391 Py e v WL A 4
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning
of the reporting period:
2019
—F -
HK$’000
T#7T
Revenue recognised that was included T i 5 B0 A AR B A AL
in contract liabilities at the M CHER BB -
beginning of the reporting period:
Sale of properties Y 40,150
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31 March 2019 =& —h#E=H=1—H

6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, 6. WA~ oAb B R o A (A

NET (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) WER WAL EEBA ()

(ii) Performance obligations (ii) JBA)FZH
Information about the Group’s performance A BRASE B 20 2 i R F
obligations is summarised below:
Construction services &R

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is generally due
within 30 days from the date of issuance of payment
certificate. A certain percentage of payment is
retained by customers until the end of the retention
period as the Group’s entitlement to the final
payment is conditional on the satisfaction of the
service quality by the customers over a certain period

as stipulated in the contracts.

Unsatisfied performance obligations related to
construction contracts as at 31 March 2019:

VB 2 225 W5 s i PR B e B — RE By
JEAT » o B ER Ak i D3 R o A
HEFF3OR WA o HR G RN ALE »
T % B A 5 — IhF B 3 IR B R B R E
WRRAR > AR 5 A RO AR A
AR L B E R ARIER R 2
W HEREB I -

RE-B-NEZH=1+—H > HHEE
R BR AT I A

HK$’000

T#

Expected to be recognised within one year IO A — A R 1,504,331
Expected to be recognised after one year TH A% & 7 — AR R 3,971,785
5,482,116

The remaining performance obligations expected
to be recognised in more than one year relate to
contract works that are to be satisfied within two
to five years. All the other remaining performance
obligations are expected to be recognised within one
year. The amounts disclosed above do not include

variable consideration which is constrained.

TEOIIHE I A0 — AP AR e R A B T TR A 2
BT A R B AT AR T
R o BirA LA ik T JE A0 285 BEOUDI €1t
AR PR o B3O 4 i Y A £
175 52 A B B T SRR
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IO 5 i B ik
31 March 2019 Z=F—NhE=ZH=1—H

6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, 6.
NET (continued)

oA > JE AN B i o (A

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) WER WAL EEBA ()
(ii) Performance obligations (continued) (ii) JBAFEH (H)
Sale of properties YH 5 E
The performance obligation is satisfied when the JB 4 B AR T UG I A Y
physical possession or the legal title of the completed EAH S E A RN EAT -
property is obtained by the purchaser.
2019 2018
R | DFNE
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
M it T#7x TF#x
Other income and gains, net oAb B A B W 2% o B
Interest income A2 WA 11,303 6,935
Gain on changes in fair value BEYENFEMES
of investment properties, net W gk > A 16 92,784 183,413
Gain on disposal of items of property, HEH 3 - Has Mk H#5
plant and equipment JHH2Z Wik 162 -
Confiscated deposits and WAV E A& LA PN
compensation income 74,766 -
Sundry income e T U 689 326
179,704 190,674
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PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after

VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

# Ok A R & #

O

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

VR85 0 o TR i

31 March 2019

7. BRBLR & A

—EAEZH =LA

A B W 2 BRBLRT R A A BR GEA) T3

charging/(crediting): I
2019 2018
ZEZNE| ZF-NE
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt ik T# T

Depreciation®** T B ek 14 31,516 9,388
Auditor’s remuneration A% S T 4 5,640 4,095
Contract costs B H) A 2,149,888 2,862,972
Cost of properties sold* B ) 3 2 A 558,277 131,773
Direct operating expenses 8y 3 Wil SR 48 1

(including repairs and EAWEHEREEN

maintenance) arising on rental- (95 A 1 Fu PR 5 ) +

earning investment properties™ 7,620 8,586
Employee benefits expense i@ B # A B 32 (A 45

(exclusive of directors’ 4 —

remuneration — note 9)***: L9 w5

Wages and salaries TE EFH S 213,084 205,482
Pension scheme contributions ER7 ot o R
(defined contribution schemes) (L€ Bk s #1) 5,898 5,764
218,982 211,246

Fair value loss of a derivative —JHMAESM T A

financial instrument A B 1 2 186 -
Provision for contract works*** B H) TR Z B e 266,055 -
Minimum lease payments IR B EHE

under operating leases 4 20,298 21,787
Government subsidies®* B & By (544) (1,024)

consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income.

These items are included in the “Property costs” on the face of the

o LI TR AR A T A R Al T AR R
WZ A -

*ok

Subsidies have been received from the Hong Kong Vocational
Training Council and the Construction Industry Council,
institutions established by the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region Government, for providing on-the-job training for
graduate engineers and trainees, respectively. There were no
unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these subsidies.

For the year ended 31 March 2019, depreciation, employee
benefits expense and provision for contract works of
HK$1,181,000 (2018: HK$755,000), HK$201,997,000 (2018:
HK$198,361,000) and HK$266,055,000 (2018: nil), respectively,
are included in “Contract costs” on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Sy B I 5 3 2 TR A R R A 4Rt A T

AT BAS: 75 Tk 3 B A R T o 0 S e o (A
W AT B I BURF sk o 2 BERE) 2 B - 3
A B % B Z RIBATHRAE Sk AR 4

REZ-AWFE=ZA=Z+—HILEE I
R B AR B S KA A TR Z Bl 4
1,181,000% 78 (=& — J\4E : 755,000 7C) ~
201,997,000% J& (=% — JU4E 198,361,000
W I0) & 266,055,0008 76 (=2 — J\4E ¢ )
CErAGZE AR AE MR ERERNZTA
R A o
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Y 5 3 3 B i
31 March 2019 ZF—AFE=ZH=1—H
8. FINANCE COSTS 8. W##M
An analysis of the Group’s finance costs is as follows: AREEZHHEETSHWT -
2019 2018
SR | RN
HK$’000 HK$’000
T# FioT
Interest on bank loans ATERZH B 36,998 30,295
Less: Interest capitalised W CE AR B (4,569) (2,759)
32,429 27,536
9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 9. WHML
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to MR W 538 5 A R A ) (TBR T ) @
the Rules (the “Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of Z% B LA (T i Al 1) ~ 75 uk (A R
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited H383(1)(a) ~ (b) ~ (c) K (f)yMe LA B KA W] ($
(The “Stock Exchange”), section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and B R 25 R B0 ) S 2 e R i A AR
(f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of HEHMWT -
the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits
of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:
2019 2018
“F R | RN\
HK$’000 HK$’000
T# F T
Fees M4 960 960
Other emoluments: At 35 T
Salaries, allowances and e~ B K EH A
benefits in kind* 13,956 13,311
Discretionary performance B % B M B 2 1 I AL AL
related bonuses 54,240 51,020
Pension scheme contributions Bk EhE Ak
(defined contribution schemes) (A Bk st ) 90 90
68,286 64,421
69,246 65,381
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SO 5 0 B
31 March 2019 ZF—RE=H=1+—H
9. WML (H)
(a) M eIEugyaE e

T4 BE P9 A T 8 S JE BT B R A

9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)
(a) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors

during the year were as follows: mE
2019 2018
R R | ZFN\E
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#7x T# T
Professor Ko Jan Ming [k =gk €54 240 240

The Hon. Ip Kwok Him, R B (KB E

GBM, GBS, JP SEHEE - X FHAL) 240 240
Mr. Fung Pui Cheung, Eugene B E e 240 240
720 720

TRAAEPE > 3 08 A8 S DR AT
ZH A (R 4 : ) o

There were no other emoluments payable to the

independent non-executive directors during the year

(2018: nil).
(b) Executive directors and non-executive director (b) PATEB BRI E S
2019 e S (1K
Salaries,  Discretionary Pension
allowances and ~ performance scheme Total
Fees benefits in kind  related bonuses contributions  remuneration
L AR I 53] B2
e REBHG B4 it B Hwa
HK$’000 HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HKS$’000
F#r F#r F#r T#L T
Executive directors: ES:
Mr. Ngai Chun Hung Bl
(“Mr. Ngai") (%] - 9,001* 46,000 36 55,037
M. Yau Kwok Fai i R 2 - 3,901 8,000 36 11,937
Ms. Lau Tsz Kwan, Jone HERLL - 1,054 240 18 1,312
Non-executive director: FunES:
Dr. Lee Man Piu, Albert ERRE 240 - - - 240
240 13,956 54,2408+ 9 68,526
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IO 5 i B ik

31 March 2019 Z=F—NhE=ZH=1—H

9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)

9. A ()

(b) Executive directors and non-executive director (b) AT R IEPATH I ()
(continued)
2018 R )\
Salaries, Discretionary Pension
allowances and performance scheme Total
Fees benefits in kind ~ related bonuses contributions  remuneration
WaowE RERBME Bike
wE  REDHE  ZBERL 5 Hima
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
Tt Fir T Fibr T
Executive directors: PES:
Mr. Neai B4 - 8,437 42,900 36 51373
M. Yau Kwok Fai i RO - 3,834 8,000 36 11,870
Ms. Lau Tsz Kwan, Jone i G - 1,040 120 18 1,178
Non-executive director: FunES:
Dr. Lee Man Piu, Albert EYREA 240 - - - 240
240 13311 51,020%* 90 04,001

*ok

The remuneration disclosed above includes the estimated
monetary value of residential accommodation provided to a
director of the Company. The estimated monetary value of such
residential accommodation provided to the director, not charged
to profit or loss for the year, was approximately HK$1,916,000
(2018: HK$1,677,000).

The discretionary performance related bonuses paid to the
executive directors of the Company during the year were
determined based on individual performance of the directors and
the Group’s operating performance for the preceding financial
year.

There was no arrangement under which a director waived

or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year

(2018: nil).

Annual Report 2018-2019
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X s A B RETARA T 4
WS ARG R A o A R T
2 E R AT A R R B AR
AEPEIHRR) A%1,916,0008 70 (B — )\ 4 ¢
1,677,000%5¢) °

JRARAE BE N S AT T A 4 R AT B i B B
TR Z W W ACAL » 32 BEH S 8 A\ R B R
BRI b 18 S B A B Y B A B R

A2 ] S S Y AR JBE P9 AR AR 48k o B
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
#"ofE OB OKR A OB A F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
The five highest paid employees during the year included
two (2018: two) directors, details of whose remuneration
are set out in note 9 above. Details of the remuneration
of the remaining three (2018: three) non-director, highest

YA 5 0 3 B i
31 March 2019 ZF—FE=H=1—H

10. i %4 38 6 3% T A B
AR JBE P T e v TR B BSR4 (2
B\ WAL EFE > WEZWMEFHCD
A ESCHFES « R HB=H (ZF—N
M0 =) IR I IR B 2

paid employees for the year are as follows: W :
2019 2018
ZE | ZFE-N\SE
HK$’000 HK$’000
T# T #r
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ~ #4 ~ B R E Y F 25 5,954 4,454
Discretionary performance related bonuses 8 3¢ 83 #H B =2 1% 16 4T 6,330 6,195
Pension scheme contributions BAK 4513 AL 54 54
12,338 10,703

The number of non-director, highest paid employees

T <5z J§ T 2 S A Y R e R B A

whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as B
follows:
No. of individuals
L UN
2019 2018
R | RN
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 % 7t %3,000,000%5 7t - 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 #5 76 %3,500,000%5 7 1 1
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 %5 JG £4,000,000%5 70 - -
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 %5 JC £4,500,000% 7T 1 -
HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,500,001 #5 76 %5,000,000%5 7 1
3 3
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Yok 75 3 WY i

31 March 2019 ZF—AE=ZHA=1—H

11. INCOME TAX
Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Bermuda, the
Cayman Islands and the BVI, the Group is not subject
to any income tax in Bermuda, the Cayman Islands and
the BVI. Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the
rate of 16.5% (2018: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable
profits arising in Hong Kong during the year.

Commencing from the year ended 31 March 2019, the
assessable profits of a Hong Kong incorporated subsidiary
(as elected by the directors) are subjected to the two-
tiered profits tax rates regime which was effective on 29
March 2018 that the first HK$2 million of assessable
profits of that subsidiary will be taxed at 8.25%, and
assessable profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at
16.5%.

11.

i 7 B

FRPRE A ~ BH RS S 0 A 8 O S 1Y
B S B > AR W ZE A R PR
B T 0 J A T BCRE  BUAAR AT B A B o R s
R4 7% FRL R A A A A S A A R R
RN IEBEAR16.5% (B— )\4E : 16.5%) 1F
A o

HMEEFJUE=ZA=1—HILEER
] 7 98 A R Y BB T (P R )
Vi B SR v ) 2 42 [0 45 B T8 A% ) | R B
R N ZH U AR i
b > 5% B JR 2 ) 2 9 O B M R i A
AFHES.25% AL > i A8 % 2 T 484 90 O P B R
o i A1) J ZH3%216.5% iR Bt

2019 2018
R | RN
HK$’000 HK$’000
T# T# T

Current — Hong Kong: -/
Charge for the year AAE P 97,487 52,459
Underprovision in prior years DLl 4 B S R R 7 295
Deferred (note 30) T (MFE30) (769) 2,916
Total tax charge for the year AR A Bl I 32 Y 48 96,725 55,670

Annual Report 2018-2019
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YA 5 0 3 B i

31 March 2019 ZF—FE=H=1—H
11. i3 88 (4)

P AR AR o ) B 3 O 2 ) R A 0 ) 9

A5 U [ 1 9% B R 4 IR T v ) & I

S Hh BRI B BB BT 5 BRI S i R

11. INCOME TAX (continued)
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit
before tax at the statutory rate for the jurisdiction in

which the Company and its subsidiaries are domiciled to

the tax expense at the effective tax rate is as follows: KWTF :
2019 2018
A | ZF N\
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#x TF#x
Profit before tax e 56 I ¥4 1 836,603 508,343
Tax charge at the Hong Kong HHR WP ERE16.5%
statutory tax rate of 16.5% 5 2 Bl IE 7 H 137,709 83,877
Tax charge on the first HK$2 million H2HEWB KL ERR
at the statutory rate of 8.25% 8.25% % H Z BiIH X 165 -
Adjustment in respect of current 3B D) 30 R R I
tax of previous periods Py ) 2 7 295
Profits and losses attributable to B R A AR R
joint ventures it A1) B2 e 15 (328) -
Income not subject to tax i N (39,927) (31,398)
Expenses not deductible for tax AA 0t 2 B 2 2,161 3,725
Tax losses utilised from previous periods  # F DL §if 3 [ i) B %5 s 18 (3,506) (1,199)
Tax losses not recognised AW 2 BB 1 1,237 683
Others HoAts (793) (313)
Tax charge at the Group’s A A B B MR B R 5
effective tax rate Z BiIE 96,725 55,670
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UE 5 0 o TR

31 March 2019

—FAEZA=—H

12. DIVIDENDS

13.

Proposed final — HK2 cents
(2018: HK2 cents) per ordinary share

12.

158 R AR 1 Mt 1B, — 4 JBe 5 A e
29 Al (=% — )\4E = 2341l

JBe B
2019 2018
SEUE | DR NS
HK$’000 HK$'000
T#7x T#7T
33,659 33,659

The final dividend proposed subsequent to the end of
the reporting period is subject to the approval of the
Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual

general meeting.

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is
based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amount
is based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares used in the calculation is the
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year, as
used in the basic earnings per share calculation, and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed
to have been issued at no consideration on the deemed
exercise of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into

ordinary shares.

Annual Report 2018-2019
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
#"ofE OB OKR A OB A F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
0 5 B e Bk
31 March 2019 =& —h#E=H=1—H

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE 13. BEA w) 3% 30 B BE 25 K¢ A5 4 HEAN 4 B

TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE WA ()
PARENT (continued)
The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share ¥ DL Wl S R S AR R M W A
are based on:
2019 2018
A | ZF N\
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#x TF#x
Earnings Tt
Profit attributable to ordinary B B FE AR T2 Bl 3 ¥ A 51 5
equity holders of the parent, Bt BB A 7] 3% 8 5 RE S
used in the basic and diluted Fef # MEAN 2 Al
earnings per share calculations 704,520 408,930
Number of shares
JBe £ ¥ H
2019 2018
“E A TR )\
Shares JBe
Weighted average number of ordinary B B HE A U A w5 B Y
shares in issue during the year used in the ASAEJE OB AT S 8 B Y
basic earnings per share calculation JInHE ¥ 35 8 1,682,966,400 1,708,342,845

Effect of dilution — weighted average

37250 — 3 2 M e

number of ordinary shares: S8

Share options T 1B g 3,220,051 5,195,498
Weighted average number of ordinary o I 4 S99 P AR BT R Y

shares in issue during the year used in the AR B LB AT 5 98 M 1

diluted earnings per share calculation RSOE i 1,686,186,451 1,713,538,343
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UE 5 0 o TR

31 March 2019

—FAEZA=—H
14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14. P3E ~ BR A% B it i

Furniture,
Machinery fixtures
Landand  Leasehold and  and office Motor
buildings improvements  equipment  equipment vehicles Total
fifh
i B RERER
LHERT  WEEB Rkt AR H it
HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HK$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000
TH#r TH#L TH#r TH#r TH#r TH#r
2019 “E0E
At 31 March 2018 and RZF-NEZA=T—HER
1 April 2018: ZE-NENA—H
Cost B 159,433 13,923 4,075 12,665 13,590 203,686
Accumulated depreciation ZithiE (35,857)  (13,281) (3,887)  (12,092) (11,0660  (76,183)
Net carrying amount W E 123,576 042 188 513 2,524 127,503
Net carrying amount at RZZ—=\ENH—H
1 April 2018 R 123,576 642 188 573 2,524 127,503
Additions NE 1,003,233 54 128 494 599 1,064,508
Depreciation provided RN (Hit7)
during the year (note 7) (28,266) (257) (68) (370) (2,555) (31,516)
Net carrying amount at REZ-REZAZF—H
31 March 2019 I 1,158,543 439 18 697 568 1,160,495
At 31 March 2019: REF-AEZAZT—H:
Cost A 1,222,666 13,977 4,203 13,125 14,189 1,268,160
Accumulated depreciation B (64,123) (13,538) (3,955) (12,428) (13,621)  (107,665)
Net carrying amount TR 1,158,543 439 248 697 568 1,160,495

Annual Report 2018-2019



v

VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

# Ok A R & #

B
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VR85 0 o TR i

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

31 March 2019

14. Y% ~ BRA Bt i (4)

—EAEZH =LA

(continued)
Furniture,
Machinery fixtures
Landand  Leasehold and  and office Motor
buildings improvements ~ equipment  equipment vehicles Total
A
il B HERER
LHRET  WEEE Rithi  WAZRME B st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T#r T#7 T#7 T#7 T#7 T#7
2018 ZENE
At 1 April 2017: REZZ—-LENH—H :
Cost B 159,433 13,923 4,167 13,262 12,900 203,685
Accumulated depreciation BHE (31,847) (10,819) (3,870) (11,863) (8,761) (67,160)
Net carrying amount e i 127,586 3,104 297 1,399 4139 136,525
Net carrying amount at REZZ—LENA—H
1 April 2017 R 127,586 3,104 297 1,399 4,139 136,525
Additions N - - 10 0 690 122
Transfers, net (note 16) A B (Mi6) - - (45) (311) - (356)
Depreciation provided EENTE (H#7)
during the year (note 7) (4,010 (2,462) (14) (537) (2,305) (9,388)
Net carrying amount at RZZ-N\EZH=1—H
31 March 2018 IR 123,576 042 188 573 1,524 127,503
At 31 March 2018: REZF-NEZH=4-H:
Cost B 159,433 13,923 4,075 12,665 13,590 203,686
Accumulated depreciation 2atiE (35,857) (13,281) (3,887) (12,092) (11,066) (76,183)
Net carrying amount R 0 123,576 042 188 513 1524 127503

At 31 March 2019, the Group’s land and buildings with
an aggregate net carrying amount of HK$95,059,000 (31
March 2018: HK$85,354,000) were pledged to secure
certain bank loans and general banking facilities granted
to the Group (note 29).

M- NWEZH=Z+—H > REEERF
A 3 295,059,000 8 (ZF— NE=H
=+—H 85,354,000 50 Ay - H1 KAt B
AR > DLBURR T ASE [ 1 T SRAT Bk
K —RERAT AL E (B #£29) »

2018-2019 5 E #

=3
=]
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UE 5 0 o TR

31 March 2019
15.

16.

ZENFE=H=1T—H

PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT

At 31 March 2019, the Group’s properties held for
development of HK$67,949,000 (31 March 2018:
HK$146,877,000) were pledged to secure certain bank

loans and general banking facilities granted to the Group
(note 29).

15.

RARERZYE
M-F—NE=ZH=+—H8 > REMEH L
67,949,000 ¢ (ZF— )\FE=ZJ=1+—H :
146,877,000¥78) MR AR R Z W E T H
AR > DLBURR R T AR 4R [ 0 T SRAT B X
— AT R E (M 7E29) ©

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 16. B EP ¥k
2019 2018
ZE N | ZF2-N\E
HK$’000 HK$’000
T# F T
Carrying amount at 1 April YA — H A MR T 2,039,000 1,851,000
Additions 14 fm 3,561 4,231
Transfer from property, Y A R
plant and equipment (note 14) (Mtit14) - 356
Non-cash lease incentive JE B4 FH & IR 2,655 -
Net gain from a fair value O 1A R R E A Y I AR
adjustment (note 6) (Hfite6) 92,784 183,413
Carrying amount at 31 March R=HA=Z+—H PR 2,138,000 2,039,000

The Group’s investment properties were revalued on
31 March 2019 by Cushman & Wakefield Limited,
an independent professionally qualified valuer, at

HK$2,138,000,000 (31 March 2018: HK$2,039,000,000)

on market value, existing use basis.

Certain of the Group’s investment properties are leased
to third parties under operating leases, further details
of which are included in note 38(a) to the financial

statements.

At 31 March 2019, the Group’s investment properties
with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$2,138,000,000
(31 March 2018: HK$2,039,000,000) were pledged to
secure certain bank loans and general banking facilities
granted to the Group (note 29).
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31 March 2019 ZF—RE=H=1+—H

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 16. Bt EW¥E (4)
Fair value hierarchy AR e K
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement T 2R BN AR AR O SE R 0 A PR E
of the Group’s investment properties using: i
Fair value measurement
using significant
unobservable inputs
(Level 3)
AR Eig €3]
KA W) L5 A i
GE=MK)
2019 2018
“E | ZFN\E
HK$’000 HK$’000
T# T # T
Recurring fair value measurement for: FEEAFEAERTE .
Office property WA EY ¥ 194,000 174,000
Commercial properties EX/ES 1,671,000 1,614,000
Hotel property W E Y 3 273,000 251,000
2,138,000 2,039,000

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value

measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no

transfers into or out of Level 3.

TAAAE LA > BESEALE S — R SR g ik Z
[HECE YT NG e oy b QN B e
ﬁ o
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31 March 2019 ZF—AE=H=—+—H

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 16.

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised

Bk (5

AP R R X ()
SRS 2 P (R R UK A 3 = i KA P R

within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy: AR R -
Office Commercial Hotel
property properties property
WMAaSWE FEWE  WHEWE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T¥#T T#T T#x
Carrying amount at 1 April 2017 W _F—LEMNH—H
By B THT 4> %5 154,000 1,472,000 225,000
Additions B4 m - 4,178 53
Transfer from property, LLNEE )/ Y &
plant and equipment (note 14) (KfaE14) - - 356
Net gain from a fair value adjustment A& & 3 % & 4= 1Y
e 20,000 137,822 25,591
Carrying amount at 31 March 2018 Bz )\ 4
and 1 April 2018 ZA=Z+—HK
Z&F - )\SENA—H
4 MR T 4 % 174,000 1,614,000 251,000
Additions g - 3,561 -
Non-cash lease incentive I B 4 F B WUBh - 2,560 95
Net gain from a fair value adjustment /2“5 {f 7% % 2 £ 1Y
g 20,000 50,879 21,905
Carrying amount at 31 March 2019 =y | I
ZA=Z1+—HM
W T 4 194,000 1,671,000 273,000
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16. Bt&EWE (H)
2P B O ()

VLR 79 o 8 55 = g U P 45 S 0 S A B P
PR FH B B 1l B 2 ZE o A A

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and
the key inputs to the valuation of investment properties
classified as Level 3:

Significant
Valuation techniques  unobservable inputs Range (weighted average)
A3 1L B2 ol KA v B A i B OmiE3 %)
2019 2018
“R-hEE SFNE
Office property Income capitalisation Estimated rental value per 41 39
WABYE method square foot and
WA EARAL per month (HK$)
a4 A A F J5 WA 4
A (W)
Capitalisation rate 1.88% 2.00%
HAAL
Commercial Income capitalisation Estimated rental value per 5 -280 5280

square foot and

per month (HK$)
54 7 & 7 WA 4

M (o)

properties method

[EEZZES WA E AL

Capitalisation rate 3.25% —-5.50% 3.25% —5.50%

AL R

Estimated rental value per 42 42
square foot and
per month (HK$)

5t 8 A AP 7 WA 4
B AE (#5T)

Hotel property Income capitalisation
PRI ES method
LN N (47

Capitalisation rate 3.25% 3.50%
BAAL &R

PR -NAEZAZ+H o GV
TR B A E A G f A B AR

As at 31 March 2019, the valuations of investment
properties were based on the income capitalisation

method by capitalisation of net income derived from the
existing tenancies with allowance for the reversionary
income potential of the properties.

A significant increase(decrease) in estimated rental value
per square foot in isolation would result in a significantly
higher(lower) fair value of the investment properties. A
significant increase(decrease) in the capitalisation rate in
isolation would result in a significantly lower(higher) fair
value of the investment properties.

WA FHE A - W% 58 F 4 3 AR
1) T HE -

Al 1 D WRUREL <5 B0 B8 K MR BT CF )
BRI AP EERE LT CFRE) o
AL b R Hm KW B TE CF B & 3 803k
B3 AP EAL KR TR (LT -

2018-20195EH &
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31 March 2019
16.

17.

ZEAF=ZH=A—H

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Generally, a change in the assumption made for the
estimated rental value per square foot is accompanied
by a directionally similar change in the fair value of
investment properties and an opposite change in the
capitalisation rate.

Further particulars of the Group’s investment properties
are included in the “SUMMARY OF PROPERTIES”
section of the annual report.

16.

B ¥k (A1)

AP X (1)

R > A A ST O OB B AR Hh A
BB B > FF E 1 A 36 A T RUE R R 7
T B S8 % AL Ll A R T 1) Y B o

A B AR B2 BB W SR — B REA > HUR A
B T S I o v o

INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 17. R BEENBRE
2019 2018
ZEJUE | ZFEN\E
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#C F#or
Share of net assets WEAG B & Ay 59,947 8,800
Goodwill on acquisition W I A ) R 45,015 -
104,962 8,800

The amounts due from/to joint ventures included in the
Group’s current assets/liabilities are unsecured, interest-
free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

Particulars of the Group’s material joint venture are as
follows:

L5 A A 5 [ PR R Y R
oF B 8 A SRR T AR ~ S S R B A R

AL EEAEEENFERWT

Percentage of

WA v A
Place of
Particulars of registration Ownership Voting Profit
Name issued shares held and business interest power sharing  Principal activities
R HHTRGRB MR EWRBERE AR FUE HNWAE FEEREH
% % %

Gold Victory Resources Inc. Registered capital BVI/Hong Kong 50 50 50 Investment holding
(“Gold Victory”) (note) of US$2 REERRHE/ BE B
(Wit) HE AR i

Note: On 30 November 2018, the Group entered into an equity transfer Mt : R-F—)4E+—H=Z1+H  RE[HR

agreement with an independent third party for the acquisition
of a 50% equity interest in Gold Victory at a consideration of
HK$60,000,000. The acquisition was completed on 30 November
2018 and Gold Victory became a joint venture of the Group.
Gold Victory and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “GV Group”)
are principally engaged in the manufacturing, trading and
installation of doors and furniture.

The above investment is held indirectly by a subsidiary of the Company.

Annual Report 2018-2019

— S 58 = 5 AT 31 B B R G > DA
JEGold Victoryf50%)B A HE 25 » A BAAR
18 #560,000,000% 7€ 5 i %5 JH E % =
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Victory T B % A 42 [ ) A % £ 3 » Gold
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

(continued)

The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information in respect of the GV Group, adjusted for any
differences in accounting policies and reconciled to the
carrying amount in the financial statements:

Gold Victory was acquired by the Group through a
subsidiary of Able Engineering during the year and thus,
there is no summarised financial information of the GV

YA 5 i B ek
31 March 2019 ZZF—NE=H=4+—H
17. A BEENRYE ()

TARBN A GV M A B R > H
O AGBEAT ] 6 5 BOR 25 SR HY 8 4 DL R i B
2 I 5 R A B R T < A

A 55 T T3 T A A BE P 978 4 2 A i L 1 — ] B
J&§ 2 W Gold Vicrory » B Bb I G VAR J#]
HKE_F— NE=ZH=+—HILEENTE

Group for the year ended 31 March 2018. W E R -
2019
e S 1S
HK$’000
T#7x
Cash and cash equivalents Bl& RBLEFMHY 19,351
Other current assets At 3% B 95,335
Current assets B & A 114,686
Non-current assets I i 26,415
Current liabilities i B A AR (19,476)
Non-current liabilities I B £ K (2,537)
Net assets jog e ¥:N 119,088
2019
—E—JusE
HK$’000
T#7x
Reconciliation to the Group’s interest HLACAE [ GV E 1
in the GV Group: RE 25 1) R -
Proportion of the Group’s ownership A 4 [ 1) B RE LL ) 50%
The Group’s share of net assets A A [ A Y 0 R 59,544
Goodwill on acquisition W B 2 A ) R 45,015
Carrying amount of the investment & W IR i 4 104,559
Revenue* e A* 58,924
Depreciation and amortisation* 78 i g (6,335)
Tax expense* i 3 # (971)
Total comprehensive income I 191 P 2 THT AL A 4
for the period* 7,879
Other comprehensive income* JL Al 2 Y WAL 25+ 3,532

* Since Gold Victory was acquired by the Group on 30 November
2018, the results represent the GV Group’s results for the period

from 1 December 2018 to 31 March 2019.

o HRAREMTIR R N\FE+—H=ZTH
WeiEGold Victory » B » 228GV E 7

SF— A —HE - F—AEZH

= H AL
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31 March 2019 ZF—AE=H=—+—H

17. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 17. R BB BE (5)
(continued)
The following table illustrates the aggregate financial TRESARERMENATRNGBEAENG
information of the Group’s joint ventures that are not A E R

individually material:

2019 2018
SR | RN
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#x TF#x
Share of the joint ventures’ JE AN 78 A SE AR AR BE
profit/(loss) for the year Al (&) (3) 9
Share of the joint ventures’ total JEAL A8 A S 2
comprehensive profit/(loss) Wzt (1) 4a%i (3) 9
Aggregate carrying amount of the AREEREECERBEN
Group’s investments in joint ventures W T 48 A AR A 403 8,800
18. JOINT OPERATIONS 18. el 8
Particulars of the Group’s material joint operation are as AREEEREFRBEHFEBWT -
follows:
Place of
Form of business registration Percentage of attributable
Name structure and business interest of the Group Principal activities
H EHAMEA  EMRE RN 70 45 10 M AVt T 2 ERF 3207
2019 2018
R | RN
% %
Paul Y. - Able Joint Venture Unincorporated ~ Hong Kong 30 N/A Provision of
fRiE—ZREE Sl 3 J 3 PR A construction services
8 BBt 0
Note: Mt :
The Group’s attributable interest is less than 50% in this body B ) A A I S I s I I R £ A
unincorporate. However, under the joint venture agreement, the joint 50% o AR » AR IR A8 Wk - JLFARE H DR
operators have contractually agreed sharing of control over the relevant #9185 78 43 == %M I B 3 1 o 1 A 0 A TR ) Y
activities of this body unincorporate, hence this body unincorporate P RE > BRI > %0l I S T v P A 4 1 B
is jointly controlled by the Group and the other joint operator. Al I ] 488 2 L IR P ) o UL - B GB  ek
Furthermore, the relevant joint venture agreement specifies that the FaW > AR I % () 22 4k 0 3 Al A R 3k R &
Group and the other party to the joint arrangement have rights to the B E B R R A A R Hik >
assets and obligations to the liabilities relating to the joint arrangement, M I S 0k o ) s L R R o

therefore this body unincorporate is classified as a joint operation.
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19. CONSTRUCTION, RENOVATION AND

20.

OTHER CONTRACTS
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31 March 2019 ZF—RE=H=1+—H

19. #E - W R LA TARSEH

2019 2018
ZE-JUE | ZF—)N\E
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#7x T# T
Gross amount due from customers JEW & P 2 & %) TRk A
for contract works - 17,306
Contract costs incurred plus recognised G HEA B R 2
profits less recognised losses to date i A U B I O R e 1R - 157,296
Less: Progress billings P s A R B EOE - (139,990)
- 17,306
PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT 20. FR PR
2019 2018
R | ZFNE
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#7x T # T
Carrying amount at beginning of year A H0 W B TG 4 A 419,033 413,456
Additions wE 28,449 5,577
Transfer from properties HMARAEIEERZYE
held for development 360,733 -
Carrying amount at end of year A A ) R T 4 AR 808,215 419,033

All the Group’s properties under development are
expected to be completed within normal operating cycle

and recovered after more than twelve months from the

end of the reporting period.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group’s properties under
development with an aggregate carrying amount of
HK$445,846,000 (31 March 2018: HK$419,033,000)
were pledged to secure certain bank loans and general
banking facilities granted to the Group (note 29).

TR P A AR 4R [ 3 e v A S 1 RS IE A
BRIASERR > 7 IR AR -
HEB -

W —REZAZ+—H > A4 R
L i 36445,846,0008 78 (ZF — )\4E=H
=+—H :419,033,000% JC) H e by 2
TR > DI T ARG E M T IRITE
K — I SRAT R (B iE29) o
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31 March 2019
21.

22.

—FAEZA=—H

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE 21. A2 W%
2019 2018
R R | ZFN\E
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#7x T # T

Carrying amount at beginning of year T4 F90 ¥ R D 4 667,226 762,025

Additions B4 128 3,954

Recognised in property costs VL /E W R (421,173) (98,753)
Carrying amount at end of year AR SR Y HR T 42 246,181 667,226

As at 31 March 2019, the Group’s properties held for sale
with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$246,181,000
(31 March 2018: HK$246,053,000) were pledged to
secure certain bank loans and general banking facilities
granted to the Group (note 29).

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Accounts receivable consists of receivables for contract
works and rentals under operating leases. The payment
terms of receivables for contract works are stipulated in
the relevant contracts. Rentals are normally receivable in

advance.

As at 31 March 2018, retention receivables included in
accounts receivable amounted to HK$203,219,000, which
were repayable within terms ranging from one to four

years.

The Group assigned its financial benefits under certain
contract works and rental arrangements to secure certain
general banking facilities granted to the Group (note
29). As at 31 March 2019, the aggregate amounts of
accounts receivable related to such contract works and
rental arrangements pledged to secure the relevant
banking facilities were HK$21,963,000 (31 March
2018: HK$220,143,000, which included unbilled
revenue and retention receivables of HK$2,333,000 and
HK$55,148,000, respectively) and HK$92,000 (31 March
2018: HK$2,689,000), respectively.
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22.

MR- NEZH=+—H o REERE S
A 3L %5246,181,0009 00 (ZF— N\4E=H
=+—H :246,053,000% 5C) B F A 1 H &
YOI > DI T AR T
AT R AR B — I SRAT R (B E29) o

HE R 2k
REBRRBHE A TR LR EHEMEZE
WOk = 2 TR RE WO OH Z SRR
B A A T B e AL — B B S WO -

Ro-F—NEZH=+—H » BRIEZ TS
15 FE W AR B 3K IE 203,219,000 70 » 18 35 42 1
kb — B WUAERL o

AREHBHEPETAHLREAMELHEN
WA P o W > A R AR R B T — R
TREZ R (HF7E29) - R _F—TE=
A=Z+—H > GRS EH LA RMEE L
FIAERGH > DA AT BA SR AT il & Y JE OIR 3k
HAEE Y B 21,963,000 0 (ZF— NE=H
=-+—H :220,143,000% 7 » & H B35 K B
MR B g S A 5 JE WA R B sk X 43 3 %% 2,333,000
W 0} 55,148,000% 6) £%92,000% 76 (=&
—J4E=ZH=+—H :2,689,000#IC) °
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31 March 2019 ZF—RE=H=1+—H

22. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (continued) 22. HEWCBE K (4)
An ageing analysis of accounts receivable as at the end JRE SR O RS R (R H W ) Z
of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as IR AT T -
follows:
2019 2018
SRR | DB N\E
HK$’000 HK$’000
T# T#T
Current to three months I E=M/H 102,083 329,494
Four to six months WY (D5 65 5,473
Over six months & N E A 8,234 198,381
110,382 533,348
Impairment under HKFRS 9 for the year ended RBREZZ-NWAEEHZT— HILEEFE
31 March 2019 Y 3t 38 i M1 S O 9% TF I R A
Details of ECLs are disclosed in note 43 to the financial A B AR R ARG - 75 T B R Mk
statements. 43N 5 o
Impairment under HKAS 39 for the year ended REE_Z-NEZH = —HILEERE
31 March 2018 Al I SE3 5% F i WA
The ageing analysis of the accounts receivable as at PR )NFEZA=Z1—H > W5 4R
31 March 2018 that were not individually nor collectively R SE s R AR AT W o w I B S 39 5% A Y M
considered to be impaired under HKAS 39 is as follows: WIR R Z IR i F -
2018
—F )N\
HK$’000
T#x
Past due but not impaired: 78T 101 4EL I S0 YRk A
One to three months past due M —FE =M A 1,493
Four to six months past due 819 g 2= 56 H 8,736
Seven to twelve months past due mtE+ M A 270
Over one year past due 760 301 8 08 — 4R 8,085
18,584
Neither past due nor impaired R 40 2 191 7 € gk A 514,764
533,348
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22. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (continued)

Accounts receivable that were neither past due nor
impaired related to a number of independent customers

for whom there was no recent history of default.

Accounts receivable that were past due but not impaired
related to a number of independent customers that
had a good track record with the Group. Based on past
experience, the directors of the Company were of the
opinion that no allowance for impairment under HKAS
39 was necessary in respect of these balances as there had
not been a significant change in credit quality and the
balances were still considered fully recoverable. Except for
certain deposits received and/or bank guarantee amount
covered from corresponding tenants, the Group did not
hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over

these balances.

23. CONTRACT ASSETS

22. BEWCIR 3% (%)
I 06 4 300 7 206 T 1 R OBk L U 2
T <% 5 R B > 0 25 S S 9 A A B

91 AL S B8 3 i Py B MR K 5 A R o T S
FP o S BLACKE F A2 B iR Bk LA o AR
VAERESS » RAFHEREZ R > HEBEHE
WISE30%R » %55 & E 2 SR A 4 4 > N
1 EEEN e S 2 ONE S )R
WA T WO o R T AP SRR AL B
Bl B/ SERATHE RO > A SR I8 i Sk 2%
A B A K A £ P O A o

23. FHIHE

31 March 1 April 31 March
2019 2018 2018
e S [ 3 R )\F
=0 | CEe =5
=t-H| WA—B  =b—H
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T# T #C T# T
Contract assets arising from VFHAGH RN
construction contracts: BRIGE ¢
Unbilled revenue A b e B A e A 57,742 41,129 -
Retention receivables JRE W AR B ik 162,418 203,219 -
220,160 244,348 -
Contract assets arising from EHHEEWEDN
sale of properties: BRIERE
Other receivables LAl JE Wi K - 50 -
220,160 244,398 -
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23. CONTRACT ASSETS (continued)

VR85 0 o TR i

31 March 2019 ZF—RE=H=1+—H

3. AR A ()

Movement of contract assets: BRIBEENE -

2019
“E g
HK$’000
T#

At beginning of the year AR — BR A A v B
— upon adoption of HKFRS 15 #1555 1% 244,398
Addition in contract assets WingHaEE 59,948
Transfer to accounts receivable 4% W 33 JE IKCHR 3k (84,136)
Collection of other receivables W [ G ik JRE Wiz 2k (50)
At end of the year AR 220,160

Unbilled revenue included in contract assets represents
the Group’s right to receive consideration for work
completed and not yet certified by customers because
the rights are conditional upon the quality and quantity
check by the customers on the construction work
completed by the Group and the work is pending for the
certification by the customers. The contract assets are
transferred to the accounts receivable when the rights
become unconditional, which is typically at the time
the Group obtains the certification of the completed
construction work from the customers.

Retention receivables included in contract assets
represents the Group’s right to consideration for work
performed but not yet collectible because the rights are
conditional on the satisfaction of the service quality
by the customers over a certain period as stipulated
in the contracts. The contract assets are transferred
to the accounts receivable when the rights become
unconditional, which is typically at the expiry date of the
period for the provision of assurance by the Group on the
service quality of the construction work performed by the
Group.

The decrease in contract assets as at 31 March 2019 was
mainly due to the transfer of contract assets to accounts
receivable during the year.

Among the above contract assets, HK$88,702,000 as at
31 March 2019 are expected to be recovered after twelve
months from the end of the reporting period.

i #E PIT A 46 Z R BR B AR AR 4R
P M R 8 R M e R B A Y AR K
TECRARE R 1o RO SR > TR % S R IR
DU B P A SR T 5 ol A S AR AT B
BRI AR PAE B AR o ERE
TR SR A I O A 4R A % P R 7
Coe U 5 TR BREINF) - & A0 I 45

£ #E FT B 4  ME R B k EAR R AR 4R
A WCH 58 B 1 R Y R 0 R
> P2 % S RER IR % 5 A £ # B BLE
Al T J00 ) P9 3B TR B R R R o R
B8 S A A WK O 6 % A 418 I gt G 47 0
S TR M B3R B AL DRl A B0 PR R R )
1 KB A KO

RER-NAEZA=Z+—H > GREERD
BTG R A A TR AR JRE P A R R
CCE &

REF-E=ZA=Z1—H o £ RRGHE

A s FH 19188,702,0009 JC 1 € Y A R
Gt o et 1 D Z -3 I
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23. CONTRACT ASSETS (continued)

Details of ECLs are disclosed in note 43 to the financial
statements.

The Group assigned its financial benefits under certain
contract works to secure certain general banking facilities
granted to the Group (note 29) and as at 31 March 2019,
the aggregate amount of unbilled revenue and retention
receivables related to such contract works pledged to
secure the relevant banking facilities amounted to

HK$23,255,000 and HK$57,871,000, respectively.

23.

R ()
A B YA AR e > 70 S e M
43N P ik -

A [ % R B T A A TR A B A 25
o AR AR IR T BT RS Z ¥
R (B7E29) - RZFE—NFE=ZH=+—H >
% TG T 84T DA BRUAS R B SR AT Rl
F B 49 TR 22 A BH R B 1 e A T B WS g 3k
T4 W) %423,255,0009 6 5% 57,871,0009 G °

24. LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES 24. HEWCEE K K A B
2019 2018
TR -JUE | ZE)N\E
HK$’000 HK$’000
F o F#ET
Secured AL 324,299 106,239
Unsecured i 5 65,101 -
389,400 106,239
Less: Impairment allowance WE o WA - -
389,400 106,239

As at 31 March 2019, the Group’s loans receivable bore
interest at rates ranging from approximately 2% to 30%
per annum (31 March 2018: approximately 4% to 8% per
annum) and were repayable within one year. The carrying
amounts of these loans receivable approximate to their
fair values.

Impairment under HKFRS 9 for the year ended

31 March 2019

Details of ECLs are disclosed in note 43 to the financial
statements.

Impairment under HKAS 39 for the year ended

31 March 2018

At 31 March 2018, all the loans and interest receivables
were neither past due nor impaired and related to
independent borrowers for whom there was no recent
history of default. Based on past experience, the directors
of the Company were of the opinion that no provision for
impairment under HKAS 39 was necessary in respect of
these balances as there had not been a significant change
in credit quality and the balances were still considered
fully recoverable.
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A B A AR R SR » 7R I R M
43 P o

MERE R NEZHE+—HILEERE
ot dE ) 4B 30%% T W IR A

Mo )EZH=+—H o i R &%
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25. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES

AND OTHER ASSETS

v

VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

# Ok A R & #

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

VR85 0 o TR i

31 March 2019

S NEEAZ A
25. FAF sk~ 0l M Ok B G A %

2019 2018

ZE | ZFE-NE

HK$’000 HK$’000

T # F ¥

Prepayments TH AT 30 15,042 16,345
Deposits W4 50,208 165,143
Other receivables (note) Atk JE Wk (M ) 81,850 3,898
Derivative financial instrument fit&p TR 194 -
Total At 147,294 185,386
Non-current portion I I ) & 43 - (114,741)
Current portion i B 43 147,294 70,645

Note: As at 31 March 2019, other receivables included receivables of
HK$74,669,000 that were escrowed by the lawyers and deposited
as the time deposits for interest earning. The balances would
be utilised to settle the related tax obligation of a disposed
subsidiary which is included in the Group’s other payables.

None of the above assets is either past due or impaired.

The financial assets included in the above balances relate

to receivables for which there was no recent history of

default.

Details of ECLs are disclosed in note 43 to the financial

statements.

ik s R oF-UEZAZ+—H o Hfh oK
H.9574,669,000 4 70 HE Wk I8l A R AR A4S
AR Ry 28 MRS > DURER] B - BB
A B AR S A B O e A W R
THEH » HARREAKE ] 0 H A ATk N o

it e I A 06 T A HE A o bt A5 B T
175 4 4 T AT o SIS A R 480 e 1 E

A7 B TEUI A5 FH AR A > 7 A 5 S
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

#mofE OB K A B A W

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

UE 5 0 o TR

31 March 2019
26.

27.

—FAEZA=—H

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 26. e RBLEFHY
2019 2018
ZE U | ZFN\E
HKS$’000 HK$’000
T# F T

Cash and cash equivalents: BReERB&%EEY :

Cash and bank balances Bl B SRAT 45 922,123 1,210,671
Non-pledged time deposits AR A7 K 630,000 270,000
1,552,123 1,480,671

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are
made for varying periods of between one day and twelve
months depending on the immediate cash requirements of
the Group, and earn interest at the respective short term
time deposit rates. The bank balances and non-pledged
time deposits are deposited with banks with high credit
ratings and no recent history of default.

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
An ageing analysis of the accounts payable as at the end

of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as

217.

SRAT B B AR IR A I GRAT A2 KR R E Y
T B R SR B IDOR UG, o S 300 5 90 A7 5K 1y 380 A
o H—RETZMAARE s WPAEEY
B R B < 7 o S 42 % A R 0 A R R e
BURJG, o SRAT 45 B B JE 4G 0 5 190 47 T 47 T
A M 488 20 301 2K T % M AR P R AR G Y RAT

R 45 Wi sk
TSI > AR DR 98 5 F U130 53 22 HE Mk
iy B B 53 AT 40

follows:
2019 2018
TR ZFE—N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
T T
Current to three months B3] = =M@ H 134,978 193,985
Four to six months WA (i 6,386 20,916
Over six months 48 S i H 202,551 229,465
343,915 444,366

At 31 March 2019, retention payables included in
accounts payable amounted to HK$174,863,000 (31
March 2018: HK$197,699,000), which are normally

settled within terms ranging from one to four years.

Accounts payable are non-interest-bearing. The payment

terms are stipulated in the relevant contracts.
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28. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
#"ofE OB OKR A OB A F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SO 5 0 B
31 March 2019 ZF—RE=H=1+—H

28. 3 Afib Ak B TH B B W

2019 2018
ZE U | ZFN\E
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Kt 7t T# F T
Receipts in advance FE Wk IE 3,081 96,556
Contract liabilities TR (a) - -
Provision for contract works E A TR 362,579 -
Other payables At 7 A5F 3k (b) 114,656 38,360
Accruals FEREH 1,605 1,998
481,921 136,914

Notes: MEE -
(a) Details of contract liabilities as at 31 March 2019 and 1 April (a) R-ZF—WFE=ZA=+—HE_F—/)U4EN

2018 are as follows: A—H » GHAEMHEHBNT :
31 March 1 April
2019 2018
e Sy 2 ZE—)\4
=H=+—H JWH—H
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#0 T+
Short-term advances received from customers: WHE By F R T I

Sale of properties EE R UES - 94,350

Contract liabilities mainly represent the sales proceeds from the
buyers in connection of the sale of properties of the Group. The
decrease in balance was mainly due to the delivery of properties in

the current year.

A B AR T A4 T 4 A S R
T 6 5 A KO o A BRI D TG R AEA
HEREANRZ T -

(b) Other payables are non-interest-bearing and are expected to be (b)  HAEAr K& Sut A B » WHE A —ENE

settled within one year.

1% -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
IO 5 i B ik

31 March 2019 Z=F—NhE=ZH=1—H

29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK LOANS

29. wl B #AT Bk

2019 2018
R -NUE | DENE
HK$’000 HK$’000
T# T T
Current i
Bank loans — secured and at floating RAT B — A A K
interest rates e A R AR 267,701 237,285
Bank loan — unsecured and at floating AT R K — AL K
interest rates Y By R GRS 250,000 -
Long term bank loans repayable on JRE 2 SR B Y R 0 SR AT B
demand — secured and at — 7 HRAH K i v B A %
floating interest rates (note) aHEA B (M EE) 1,053,262 1,142,876
1,570,963 1,380,161
Analysed into: S
Bank loans repayable: SATE . HEMWT -
Within one year or on demand — 4R Bl R IR
(note) (Kt at) 1,570,963 1,380,161
Note: As further explained in note 43 to the financial statements, Bt - wn B R R R RE43 P B — 2B AR > AR

the Group’s term loans with an aggregate amount of
HK$1,053,262,000 (31 March 2018: HK$1,142,876,000)
containing an on-demand clause have been classified as current
liabilities. For the purpose of the above analysis, the loans are
included within current interest-bearing bank loans and analysed
into bank loans repayable within one year or on demand.

Based on the maturity terms of the loans, the amounts repayable in

45 8 4456 74 1,053,262,000 7T (= — )\4E
ZH=+—H :1,142,876,000% 5T ) 1 & 4
Bk G TR BB e fHR k) T
B A - B L s > B R
TEF B FHESRATERRN > ST A —4E N

AR B Bk > B B AR Y 4

respect of the loans are: Bk
2019 2018
ZRJuip —F—)UE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FH#L F#T
Within one year or on demand —AE N R R 517,701 237,285
In the second year AR 382,725 92,414
In the third to fifth years, inclusive BEEEHEN (BEERMEE) 617,407 989,791
Beyond five years HAED L 53,130 60,671
1,570,963 1,380,161
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o VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
R =

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK LOANS

(continued)

The interest rates of the Group’s bank loans are primarily
repriced every month based on the prime rate or Hong
Kong Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR”) changes.

The Group’s secured bank loans and/or certain banking

facilities are secured by:

(i) legal charges over the Group’s investment properties,
which had an aggregate carrying amount at the end
of the reporting period of HK$2,138,000,000 (31
March 2018: HK$2,039,000,000);

(ii) legal charges over the Group’s land and buildings,

which had an aggregate carrying amount at the end

of the reporting period of HK$95,059,000 (31 March

2018: HK$85,354,000);

(iii) legal charges over the Group’s properties held for
development, which had an aggregate carrying amount
at the end of the reporting period of HK$67,949,000
(31 March 2018: HK$146,877,000);

(iv) legal charges over the Group’s properties under
development, which had an aggregate carrying amount
at the end of the reporting period of HK$445,846,000
(31 March 2018: HK$419,033,000);

(v) legal charges over the Group’s properties held for

sale, which had an aggregate carrying amount at the

end of the reporting period of HK$246,181,000 (31

March 2018: HK$246,053,000);

the assignment of the Group’s financial benefits
under certain contract works and rental arrangements
with accounts receivable related to such contract
works and rental arrangements amounting to
HK$21,963,000 (31 March 2018: HK$220,143,000,
which included unbilled revenue and retention
receivables of HK$2,333,000 and HK$55,148,000,
respectively) and HK$92,000 (31 March 2018:
HK$2,689,000), respectively; and

31 March 2019

VR85 0 o TR i

—EAEZH =LA

29. wt B 8T Kk (41)

A5 I SRAT SR A R 3% S AR Bt e B AR
B o BRAT ] SRR . ([ s 8T ] 2647 8. )
558 58 i 81 ) L M o

ACER I 2 AT HEAT ST B B B T BT
FUL T H B AR

(i)

(iii)

AR AR [ 0 B SE B E R R R
oK > JC 48 MR i {H %2,138,000,000
WL ( ZFEF—-NE=ZA=Z+—H:
2,039,000,000% J5) 3

7 £ [ iy b R M i 0 T 0 R R
IR > I 48 IR T E 2595,059,000% G
(ZF—/)\E=ZH=+—H : 85,354,000
Wt) 3

AREBMRAEEERZDENLE
R o B R OR > AR T
67,949,000 (ZF— N4E=H
=+—H :146,877,000¥ 5C)

AREEWEER P ENEEMT R
e R H 48 IR T AE 25445,846,000
WK (ZE—-NE=ZA=Z+—H:
419,033,000% JC ) 5

ALY FEAENGZHENEE
50 B R OR - AR R T %
246,181,000 L (ZF— N\NF=H
=+—H :246,053,000#C) 3

HEALARETOALRAMER
BB - AREZEFaHITRER
L& 224 0 JE WO 3K 43 3 %5 21,963,000
WL (ZF—-NE=ZH=+—H:
220,143,000% 7€ » £ ¥ A BH MRk B0 i
A B JRE W AR B8 sk T 43 32,333,000 76
555,148,000 J6) 92,0009 76 (=
Z—NE=ZH=+—H :2,689,000%
JL) s K&
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

#mofE OB K A B A W

v

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Vi 25 e B ke
31 March 2019 ZF—NWE=HA="1—H
29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK LOANS
(continued)
(vii)the assignment of the Group’s financial benefits
under certain contract works with unbilled
revenue and retention receivables related to such

contract works amounting to HK$23,255,000 and
HK$57,871,000, respectively, as at 31 March 2019.

The Group’s bank loans are denominated in Hong Kong

dollars.

30. DEFERRED TAX
The components of net deferred tax assets/(liabilities)
with the net balance recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position and the movements during

the year are as follows:

29.

30.

al B AT Bk (A

(vii) 5 58 A 45 77 2 & 4 T F2 0 B 5 )
woR_B-NE=HA=+—H F
B % 4 40 TR R B R B A I A B
R Wi A B K T 43 ) £ 23,255,0009 76 &
57,871,000% 75 °

A 4R T Y SRAT Bk DA W T A BELARL o

YE % BL B

TR AR JE PO 7 45 B 4R 0 o R A
BUIRE 7 (£ 400 ¥ J AEL 100 ) B 65 0
DAKAT BB T

Depreciation ~ Losses available
allowance in for offsetting Deductible
excess of related against future temporary
depreciation taxable profits differences Total
R LEit:F
L E MERRBLRR A G
il B Z# % 5 ik
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T#x T# TH#x T#x
At 1 April 2017 RZF—LENA—H (9,658) 5,648 226 (3,784)
Deferred tax charged JAAEBE R 41 4 45 1Y
to profit or loss during the BRI (Hfik11)
year (note 11) (1,403) (1,287) (226) (2,916)
At 31 March 2018 A ZF— \EZH
and 1 April 2018 =t—Hk
ZF)VENA—H (11,061) 4,361 - (6,700)
Deferred tax credited/(charged) R4EERFIA/ (H1H)
to profit or loss during the 1 45 1 4% 2L Bi I
year (note 11) (BiE11) (3,868) 4,637 - 769
At 31 March 2019 AT
=H=+—H (14,929) 8,998 - (5,931)
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

#mofE OB Ok A B A W

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and
liabilities have been offset in the consolidated statement
of financial position. The following is an analysis of the
deferred tax balances of the Group for financial reporting

VR85 0 o TR i

31 March 2019 ZF—RE=H=1+—H

30. MEHE B (4)

T BV A > 5 AR A R BB AR AR
AMBRIFEN ORI o DL 5 A4k
] 20 40 o T A4 i 4 B O T A 4 i 4
Mro:

purposes:
2019 2018
TR -JUE | ZE—)N\E
HKS$’000 HK$’000
T# T oc
Net deferred tax assets recognised in e A7 B R DL AR P e R
the consolidated statement of A E B VB
financial position 5,867 3,678
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised A MBRNERNEDRL
in the consolidated statement of PE T B IE A 5
financial position (11,798) (10,378)
(5,931) (6,700)

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of
HK$127,571,000 (31 March 2018: HK$93,417,000).
Subject to the final assessment of the Hong Kong Inland
Revenue Department, these tax losses are available
indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits
of the companies in which the losses arose. Deferred tax
assets have been recognised in respect of HK$54,534,000
(31 March 2018: HK$26,431,000) of such losses. Deferred
tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the
remaining amount of HK$73,037,000 (31 March 2018:
HK$66,986,000) as it is not considered probable that
there would be sufficient future taxable profits from the

relevant companies to utilise such amount.

At 31 March 2019 and 2018, there was no significant
unrecognised deferred tax liability for taxes that would
be payable on the unremitted earnings of certain of the
Group’s subsidiaries or joint ventures as the Group has
no liability to additional tax should such amounts be
remitted.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

A S B AE A o A A 2 B I 4 127,571,000
Wi (ZF—/)\FE=H=+—H :93,417,000
WIG) - BB HRE RREFBSZ > WEH
BiEE R E R E R L AR Z
AR 7 I A i A o B % 4 S 4H54,534,000%
JE(FE—/EZH=Z+—H 26,431,000
JC) TR AR R IE A o BN ER R A A
]S K BB R AR A A R HURE R DL
SR » WO M AR 3K73,037,000% 78 (=%
—)JEZH=+—H :66,986,000% It ) T %

PR -NERZFENEZA=+H o
A KR T B R 2 T R A A S 2 RTE AR
TR AT s A 482 1 0 20 T R OR i 20 28 A2E L 1
A > TR 43002 S ) 9 S o B A 4R I A
S B IE B AR o

Ay i i B SR S A M S A 1T A T A AR
% o
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
BofE OB OR A OB A F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

UE 5 0 o TR

31 March 2019 ZF—AE=H=—+—H

31. SHARE CAPITAL 31. A
Shares I8 4y
2019 2018
ZEJUE | ZFE )N\
HK$’000 HK$’000
T # T
Authorised: Vi A
4,000,000,000 ordinary shares 4,000,000,000 8% &3 % i &
of HK$0.025 each 0.025% 0 2 % 78 it 100,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: CEEAT R B AR -
1,682,966,400 ordinary shares of 1,682,966,400 % 45 B i {H
HK$0.025 each 0.025¥ o Z ¥ 4 it 42,074 42,074

A summary of the movements in the Company’s issued

ordinary share capital is as follows:

Aoy V] CL R AT A B S B RS A

Number Share
of shares Issued premium
in issue capital account Total
CEAT R R [Z%£H) B B3
¥ H JBe A e B e it
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Wit T#T T#T T
At 1 April 2017 HoF—tHFENH—H 1,761,664,400 44,042 342,430 386,472
Shares repurchased Ji [ % ke 6 I A
and cancelled (a) (78,878,000) (1,972) (89,269) (91,241)
Share options exercised CLATf 6 8 M e (b) 180,000 4 90 94
Transfer from share i PR REE s i A
option reserve (c) - - 23 23
At 31 March 2018, A ZF— 4
1 April 2018 and =A=Z+—H-
31 March 2019 ZR—)\HEMYH—H
BT LA
=A=+—H 1,682,966,400 42,074 253,274 295,348
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32.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

#mofE OB Ok A B A W

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes:

(a) During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Company repurchased
a total of 78,878,000 ordinary shares of the Company at an
aggregate consideration of approximately HK$91,241,000
(including direct expenses of approximately HK$466,000). All of
these repurchased shares were cancelled during the year ended 31
March 2018.

(b)  During the year ended 31 March 2018, the subscription rights
attaching to 180,000 share options were exercised at the
subscription prices of HK$0.526 per share, resulting in the issue
of 180,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each for a total cash
consideration, before expenses, of approximately HK$94,000.

(¢)  An amount of HK$23,000 was transferred from the “Share option
reserve” to the “Share premium” account upon the exercise of the
share options during the year ended 31 March 2018.

Share options
Details of the Company’s share option schemes are
included in note 32 to the financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

(i) The Company’s share option scheme
Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 7
September 2011, the shareholders of the Company
approved the termination of the existing share
option scheme (the “2002 Scheme”) and the
adoption of a new share option scheme (the “2011
Scheme”) (collectively, known as the “Schemes”).
As a result, the Company can no longer grant any
further options under the 2002 Scheme. However, all
options granted prior to the termination of the 2002
Scheme will remain in full force and effect. Unless
otherwise terminated or amended, the 2011 Scheme
will remain in force for 10 years from the date of

adoption.

The purpose of the 2011 Scheme is to provide
incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations.
Eligible participants of the 2011 Scheme include full-
time employees, including any executive and non-
executive directors of the Group. The 2011 Scheme
became effective on 7 September 2011 and, unless
otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force

for 10 years from that date.

31.

32.

SO 5 0 B
31 March 2019 ZF—RE=H=1+—H

JBe A (%)
Wi -

(a) RMBREZ—)N\E=ZA=+—HILHEER
A\ ] 1) A 378,878,000 % A 2 ] ¥ 3E
B > A B ARE A 591,241,0008 70 (B IFE
1 B X 49466,000908) © BT A % % B ] B4y
ERRERE_F - )EZA=Z+—HIR4E)E
RS o

(b) RAEE_Z—NE=ZA=+—HILFEER
FEF I 180,000 473 6 JE ARE 1 1y 5 B EE 0 9 B 4 It
0.526% JC WY 32 W A 4748 > BB 0k %% 47 180,000
JBE 45 15 i A 50,025 98 I8 B35 3 e e Ay » AR
o 2 ) A 48 B 4 AR 4 %494,00088 G ©

(c) REE_Z—NE=ZA=1+—HILFEER
T B JBE AR AT A IRE > 4 %523,0009 00 . i i

i JBe it
A i J M AR T ) A LA B S
32

& I A it

() 72 il 0y Jil B A it
MR —F ——F A LR E
DLk SE > A ) M A e 4 1k A T B
REGHE ([ ZFF A ) RRAH
i PR Mt ) ([ =% ——4p kil ]) (B8
Ay Tat#]) o BBb > ACA B A W] AR 3%
CRF ARG R T AR
BE o SR > A% Ik R AR R AT
BT 0 A IS AR B RO &
e o & ——4E gkl H &R A H 10
FEWNAR BRIEB I IR B -

TR-AEFHEIZ AN > BAEE A E
EBEMEZHDMENERZ G EK 2]
HHT I ASER o —F——4EFHEZ
BB ZHREOREARERZ 2SR
BRALT BT R TE R - —F——
EFHEIR R ——F A B AR B
T PE FE R SRS FT A 5 % E B E %
H R > B A 104 o
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BofE OB OR A OB A F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
IO 5 i B ik

31 March 2019 Z=F—NhE=ZH=1—H

32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(i) The Company’s share option scheme (continued)

The maximum number of share options permitted
to be granted under the 2011 Scheme is an amount
equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of the total
number of shares of the Company in issue as at the
date when the 2011 Scheme was approved by the
shareholders of the Company in a general meeting.
The maximum number of shares issuable under share
options to each eligible participant in the 2011
Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to 1%
of the shares of the Company in issue at any time.
Any further grant of share options in excess of this
limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general

meeting.

Share options granted to directors, officer or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to
any of their associates, are subject to approval
in advance by the independent non-executive
directors. In addition, any share options granted to
a substantial shareholder or an independent non-
executive director of the Company, or to any of their
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate
value (based on the price of the Company’s shares at
the date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within
any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’

approval in advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within 14 days from the date of offer, upon payment
of a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the
grantee. The exercise period of the share options
granted is determinable by the directors and ends on
a date which is not later than 10 years from the date
of offer of the share options.
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(i)

7 2 il Y i B it B (50)

AR — 4 G T o A
MW Rz R A B H > By — SRS
TE B R LA R BOR e =%
— AR HAR A T CBAT R A
10%Z K8 o AEALAT -+ A8 391 B 9 AR
PRI RE > T AR AL
FEKZ2HEER LT TRITRDZ R
ey B > DA RN A 2 T84T I
B 1975 B o AT P33 — 25 352 i) 8 o
W ) <2 e J G e SRR JBe R 7 Bt
e o

BPAAFES -~ BTN Bl F %
JBe SR B 45 8 2 A A T N 2 i e
RE > JER oMM S IR AT Ak o o b
Ab s TR WHEA > ZTARL
GESEY S % RV £ My o R T
B Z AT U 0 N\ b AT i B E >
AR F R R Z TBEAT A 0. 19% 3l 4 {8
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(i) The Company’s share option scheme (continued)

The exercise price of the share options is
determinable by the directors, but should not be
less than the highest of (i) the closing price of
the shares of the Company as stated in The Stock
Exchange daily quotation sheet on the date of grant
of the share options; (ii) the average closing price
of the shares of the Company as stated in The Stock
Exchange for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of the offer; and (iii) the nominal
value of the shares of the Company.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to

dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

The following share options were outstanding under
the 2011 Scheme during the year:

VR85 0 o TR i
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32. J B Al (%)

(i)

7 2 il Y i B it B (50)

i IR AT B R 3 R MEAN R
RFIN=ZFZmmH : ()ARA T B
Ji e AR % 1 I 9 7% T A2 i 4 H R P
H 2 Wi A 5 (i) AR 2 W e 3R B 82 1
H 39T AR 22 B HO 16 532 Bt B i 2 1 4
Wi 8 5 e (iii) A 2 7] e A v A

Ji e B S 2 SR T A S BB O B
WRE ERZTZHER -

W F 5l > AR ERATAES
Fy i JBEHEE

2019 2018
R R )\
Exercise Number Exercise Number
price of options price of options
i OB i S It HE
(R E ¥ H AT ¥ H
HK$ ’000 HK$ 000
per share per share
IR o T4 B¢ 78 T T3
At beginning of year A AEH] 0.526 10,200 0.526 10,620
Exercised during A BE AT
the year - - 0.526 (180)
Lapsed during the year  4F B I 2R 2% 0.526 (120) 0.526 (240)
At end of year AR 0.526 10,080 0.526 10,200

2018-20195EH &
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(i) The Company’s share option scheme (continued)

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share
options outstanding as at the end of the reporting
period are as follows:

2019
“F—JuUE
Number of options Exercise price*
U JB i 8 H A7 4481+
HK$
000 per share
T4 (5387 5T
10,080 0.526
2018
- )\F
Number of options Exercise price*
S JBLHE S H AT e
HK$
000 per share
T BB IC
10,200 0.526

The exercise price of the share options is subject to
adjustment in the case of rights or bonus issues, or other
similar changes in the Company’s share capital.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company
had 10,080,000 outstanding share options (31 March
2018: 10,200,000) under the 2011 Scheme. The
exercise in full of the outstanding share options
would, under the present capital structure of the
Company, result in the issue of 10,080,000 additional
ordinary shares of the Company and additional
share capital of approximately HK$252,000 (31
March 2018: approximately HK$255,000) and share
premium of approximately HK$5,050,000 (31 March
2018: approximately HK$5,110,000) (before issue

expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial
statements, the Company had 10,080,000 share
options outstanding under the 2011 Scheme, which
represented approximately 0.60% of the Company’s
shares in issue as at that date.
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32. J B Al (%)

7 2 il Y i B it B (50)
T IR > 1o AR AT e PR AT
B AT MM

Exercise period

(g2

10 March 2016 to 9 September 2020

ZE AR EZATHESFEZ4IUALE

Exercise period

Fr By

10 March 2016 to 9 September 2020

R -ANEEATHEZZSREIANE

R DR B S AL R B AT sl E AR A
JBE A B A LAl JSUA0L 8 ) > D AR BE Y 4T
AT A 5 B AT W A -

RMEN AR F——FE5 8 TAL
W] B 47 7E A 0 i B RE 2% 10,080,0004
(ZF—/)\#F=H=+—H 10,200,000
1) o F A B R E AR A > R
BEATAE AN 0 B IR A 58 B AT > KA H]
31 % £510,080,0008 i A4 388 B > 3
JBE AR #9 %5252,0008 50 (=& — \4E=
H=+—H : #255,000% 5T ) Fil B A %k
8 %9 455,050,000 76 (ZF— /)\“F=H
=+—H : £5,110,000¥ 5T ) (R 31 5%
fTEHH) -

Pt E M B HREZH  ZF——
AR T R AR A W) AT AR AP A
10,080,000 » #J % A2 W) H B 47
Ay 150.60% o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(ii) Able Engineering’s share option scheme

Pursuant to the respective resolution of the Company
and Able Engineering passed on 31 August 2018,
Able Engineering has adopted a share option
scheme (the “Subsidiary Share Option Scheme”)
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards
to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the operations of Able Engineering and
its subsidiaries (collectively the “Able Group”).
Eligible participants of the Subsidiary Share Option
Scheme include any directors (including executive
directors, non-executive directors and independent
non-executive directors) and full-time employees of
any member of the Able Group and the Group. The
Subsidiary Share Option Scheme became effective
on 31 August 2018 and, unless otherwise cancelled
or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from
that date. Pursuant to the Subsidiary Share Option
Scheme and subject to shareholders’ approval of
Able Engineering, the maximum number of shares in
respect of which options may be granted under the
Subsidiary Share Option Scheme is such a number of
shares representing 10% of the issued share capital
of Able Engineering from time to time (excluding
for this purpose any shares which have been duly
allotted and issued pursuant to the Subsidiary Share
Option Scheme and any other scheme).

The maximum number of unexercised share
options currently permitted to be granted under
the Subsidiary Share Option Scheme is an amount
equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of the total
number of shares of the Able Engineering in issue
as at the date when the Subsidiary Share Option
Scheme was approved by the shareholders of Able
Engineering in the general meeting at 31 August
2018. The maximum number of shares issuable
under share options to each eligible participant in
the Subsidiary Share Option Scheme within any
12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of
Able Engineering in issue at any time. Any further
grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject
to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to directors, officer or
substantial shareholder of Able Engineering, or
to any of their associates, are subject to approval
in advance by the independent non-executive
directors of Able Engineering. In addition, any
share options granted to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director of Able
Engineering, or to any of their associates, in excess
of 0.1% of the shares of Able Engineering in issue
at any time or with an aggregate value (based
on the price of Able Engineering’s shares at the
date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within
any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’
approval in advance in a general meeting.

VR85 0 o TR i

31 March 2019 ZF—RE=H=1+—H

32. J B Al (%)
(i) PR 9 B 10 il B At it )

MRPRAS 2y 7] e AR LA S e % — )\
FENA=ZT— HBEBRER > LR
JBe T A8 R 29 I I A it ) PR i 2 ) T
JBHE 1) > R D A A A
DR $22 Je T L WA i 2 ) (R G s [ PR B2
P 1) o o 4 AR R RR Y A 2 B
o PR 2 v i T A B Y £ A 2 B
B LA 2 DR T R A5 B AT Tk A
R Z AL (BRI ES - BT
EELELIERTES) A2RRER -
Pl Jg 2 ) i PR B — % — )\ 4\
= HRAER > WA HBI0ERA
3> BRIE T3 AN BAE T o AL B B g 2
] S AR T ) SN A P2 % A Bt 1 Je SR AL
HETTTSE > AR 9% B Jag 2 ) B R it ) T
RE 52 I JBERE F T S b PR 2 4l AR
5 JBEAS W L 347 IR AR v 109 B 3% 55 B
BCE (O 645 A B¢ BRE Jag 2 ) O B e - 8
Sl AT A 5 ) A 8 TE SO 3% K B AT 0
AT Je A )

R Pof i 2~ ) i B R it 8 A AL A
ZRATHE IHED M Z e e e
B EMEREFE - E N =1
SR AT 98 Je SRR 0 2 R 2 J SR S A
PO g 2 W) B SRR it 3 2 R AR B
AT B B 10% 2 KA o AEAEAT -
A8 3 S0 T PR AR 0 T A B > T e S 28 ]
i SR ) 2 R AR 2 L R AT
TR A Z I BB o DARAREE
JB Y AN g 2 B B AT B4 19% 2% BR o AT: ]
T HE— 25457 Hh 836 1 B ) 2 Ji F o
JBe SRR M SRR bt o

BT RRERES - BmiTB A B3
IR ESBZIEMBFEREALZ
B > T M 2 A e I A B S JE L
TTHEEHAE o BLAD » AT+ =W 3 B
I » % T 22 A 5 B 0 B i el o o
AT EREINE{HEBZEMHEEAL
ZATAT A > B R R B AR 2
B B 47 B 40, 1%8% 48 {f # 755,000,000
Wt (MR IR R P R B2 1 H 0 =2 B
iirﬁ,ﬁ$%ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁkak
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(ii) Able Engineering’s share option scheme (continued)
The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within 14 days from the date of offer, upon payment
of a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the
grantee. The exercise period of the share options
granted is determinable by the directors of Able
Engineering and ends on a date which is not later
than 10 years from the date of offer of the share
options.

The exercise price of the share options is
determinable by the directors of Able Engineering,
but should not be less than the highest of (i) the
closing price of the shares of Able Engineering
as stated in The Stock Exchange daily quotation
sheet on the date of grant of the share options;
(ii) the average closing price of the shares of Able
Engineering as stated in The Stock Exchange for the
five trading days immediately preceding the date of
the offer; and (iii) the nominal value of the shares of
Able Engineering.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders
to dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings of
Able Engineering.

No option was granted from the date of adoption
of the Subsidiary Share Option Scheme up to the
date of approval of these consolidated financial
statements.

33. RESERVES
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

(a) Contributed surplus

The Group’s contributed surplus represents the
excess of the nominal value of the shares and the
share premium account of the subsidiaries acquired
pursuant to the Group reorganisation prior to the
listing of the Company’s shares, over the nominal
value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange
therefor.

(b) Capital reserve
Capital reserve represents the difference between the
amounts of net consideration and the carrying values
of non-controlling interests acquired or disposed of.
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32. Nk JBe b k= (4
(ii) 2D 3 JBE i ik JBE Mk 0 (7DD

i 9y S A TR U i U E|
AR > MR IR N ZE AT HRET I G
Z R FARA o 32 2 A 2 AT i 0 )
TR ERME > M2
b HH > RSB R R H AR
HEFF104E o

Vi Je W 2 AT AR Pl o2 AR B R
E > MARHER TR =FZHHE (1)
LR T SR  T J PBE R 452ty D O M 52
Fn B H AR B 8 2 o ] 5 (i) & PR
e P Aoy B 2 Y 0 A 32 S R
gt 32 FT Bt it 2 - 3 Wi 4B 5 B (i) % AR
$2 JBJBE o TG L o

S e O I JHE R R A S R B R K
PR$2E P 0 JBE SRR B B4R S 2 WA

B g 2 0 BB s 4R A D 5
T B AR A HOYT > RBEAE 457 Hh A o S
JBCHEE o
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RESERVES (continued) 33. fift i (4)

(c) Share option reserve (c) Tk JBE Al A
Share option reserve represents the fair value of Vi IRERE fe A0 P L~ W R AT AR i
share options vested which are yet to be exercised, as REZ AP R - 3F AR B 5 e
further explained in the accounting policy of share- FEI B DL By 2 B 0 S A | RHBOR
based payments in note 3 to the financial statements. SRR o AH R I HEAT 6B 4% > 4G PR
The amount will either be transferred to the share R 4 B N T Ay i A MR > R A R I
premium account when the related share options are RE RS R W A% > AR B R A o
exercised, or transferred to retained profits should the
related share options lapse or be forfeited.

(d) Other reserve (d) b i o
Other reserve represents the Group’s share of T A £ 495 2 A £ [ AV 57 A SE 1Y BE
exchange fluctuation reserve of its joint ventures. S B A o

PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH 34. A7 K JE P VM 2 0 23 B AT B

MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING J& 2 vl

INTERESTS

Details of the Group’s subsidiaries, i.e. the Able Group, A T R I e ol e W R 10 A 4 T e 2 D (D

that have material non-controlling interests are set out ZAREM) R E RS W F

below:

2019 2018
R | DR N\E
Percentage of equity interest held by e e i 4k WE 25 R A AR
non-controlling interests REZR H 4 L 25% 25%
2019 2018
“E | ZEFNE
HK$’000 HK$’000
T# T#7T
Profit for the year allocated to non- 4yt 3 e )k RE 25 Y
controlling interests 4F BE RS ) 35,358 43,743
Other comprehensive income for the year 4y il 38 Jf 22 ] v K 25 149
allocated to non-controlling interests AR FE HAth 2 THT Wk 25 442 _
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 3 {5} 2 4 322 % Ik ¢ i 1t B 25
of Able Engineering i i B 25,000 _
Accumulated balances of non-controlling A # 45 H B IE 35 ) : HE 25 14
interests at the reporting date B4 328,159 294,286
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34. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH

MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING

INTERESTS (continued)

The following table illustrates the summarised

consolidated financial information of the above

34. A7 K Je P M 2 0 23 B AT B
J& 2 ) (%)

AR b R 4 ) B A B
L o Fiv 452 8 B s AR EHE T 2 ) ] 38 4 i

subsidiaries. The amounts disclosed are before any inter- o
company eliminations:
The Able Group ZRHEM
2019 2018
SE | SRR
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHE TR
Revenue A 2,385,415 3,112,264
Other income and gains At e A % Wt 25 16,222 4,793
Total expenses B 7 48 % (2,260,205) (2,942,086)
Profit for the year 4. BE i A 141,432 174,971
Total comprehensive income A R 2 WL 25 AR AR
for the year 143,198 174,971
Current assets L By 7 1,250,598 1,761,665
Non-current assets I G 794,862 125,801
Current liabilities i B HAE (732,826) (710,280)
Non-current liabilities JE o B A K - (43)
Net cash flows from operating REEBEANB SRR
activities & 511,498 618,432
Net cash flows used in investing WEEBMH MBI &R &
activities ekl (700,539) (114,358)
Net cash flows used in financing il S5 M B A R
activities i (99,623) (50,769)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash Ble RBLEEHEY
and cash equivalents Whm, (@A) FHE (288,664) 453,305
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35. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY THAT IS

NOT A BUSINESS
Year ended 31 March 2019

On 15 March 2019, the Group entered into a sale
and purchase agreement with an independent third
party to acquire the entire equity interest in York
Star and the shareholder’s loan owned by York Star to
its then shareholder at a total cash consideration of
HK$338,000,000 (the “Cash Consideration”). York Star
is principally engaged in property investment in Hong

VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
#"ofE OB OKR A OB A F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YA 5 i B ek
31 March 2019 ZZF—NE=H=4+—H
35. WO iz i 3 5 0 B I8 A W)

BEZZ-NIWE=ZA=Z1—HILEE

RE-B—EZHTHHE > ARGEE R
=T HE Wk DU York Starff &
TR AHE 25 T York StarR HF F 22 5 o Y i
WK > A B A8 B4 A %4 338,000,0009 TG
(B4R ) o York Starz EEEEHK LR
WHEAT Y SEARE > OE H 3 > B &9
— I AP > York Stardf i #E 47 (E ] B K

Kong and, as at the date of acquisition, York Star did not BRG o
carry out any significant business transaction except for
holding a property in Hong Kong.
The net assets acquired by the Group are as follows: AR FEENT ¢
HK$’000
T#7T
Net assets acquired: WAL B i R
Property LIE'S 338,000
Prepayments and deposit T AT AR S 4 33
338,033
Satisfied by: AT
Cash Bl 338,033

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition

of York Star is as follows:

Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect

of the acquisition of York Star

B WEYork StarBl &t BT WT ¢

HK$’000
F#or
Wl York Scarli Bl 4 R B &2 EY
Y (338,033)

The above acquisition has been accounted for by the

Group as acquisition of assets as the entity acquired by

the Group does not constitute a business.

R A 58 [ o MO A A R — TR S
PEIIE > A J I It A = A o G
AT -
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36. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED 36. % 43 B4 i LA Wik
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities P il i o) g R Y B R A )
Interest-
bearing
bank loans
wh B BT B
2019 2018
“R A ZFN\E
HK$’000 HK$’000
T# T
At 1 April BMEHA—H 1,380,161 1,681,490
Changes from financing cash flows il B A U R A A ) 190,802 (301,329)
At 31 March R=E=H=+—H 1,570,963 1,380,161
37. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 37. KA A
(a) At 31 March 2019, the guarantees given by the (a) MREF-NEZA=Z+—H » REMEH
Group to certain banks in respect of performance MYTAHIREP ZEARE WA TA
bonds in favour of certain contract works customers TR AT M4 IR % #0278,485,000% T (=
amounted to HK$278,485,000 (31 March 2018: F—/)E=ZH=1—H :179,443,000%
HK$179,443,000). Jo) °
(b) Claims (b) #il
(i) Personal injuries (i) AZEH

In the ordinary course of the Group’s
construction business, the Group has been
subject to a number of claims due to personal
injuries suffered by employees of the Group or
the Group’s sub-contractors in accidents arising
out of and in the course of their employment.
The directors are of the opinion that such claims
are well covered by insurance and would not
result in any material adverse impact on the
financial position or results and operations of
the Group.

TEASE B 2 W s SRR
AT ARG A o T 2 R B
X1 52 0 S50 1] 280 8 T A1 DA B 32 485 1 1k
AL R o HFRB R A R
AR B Z 2 REER > MR B R A
7 3 A 45 2 B BOIR P ek S A
HS-E LRI N2

(ii) Sub-contractors’ claims (ii) A E

In the ordinary course of the Group’s
construction business, the Group has been
subject to various claims from sub-contractors
from time to time. Provision would be made for
claims when the management assessed and can
reasonably estimate the probable outcome of the
claims. No provision would be made for claims
when the claims cannot be reasonably estimated
or management believes that the probability of
loss is remote.
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38. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 38. MB ALK
(a) As lessor (a) FfEZHHA
The Group leases its investment properties (note A A E AR R LB R R LB E W)
16) under operating lease arrangements, with leases ¥k (Watie) -HEZHMEN S —4£ 2
negotiated for terms ranging from one to ten years. AR o R K — R B RS ZH K AR
The terms of the leases generally also require the B Z SR -
tenants to pay rental deposits or arrange guarantee.
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had R IR > A B 1 AR 4% B HC AR\
total future minimum lease receivables under non- TR AT S S ML I R 2 H AR
cancellable operating leases with its tenants falling W o AR AR B A sk A B T -
due as follows:
2019 2018
R | RN
HK$’000 HK$’000
T Tl
Within one year — R 47,002 40,325
In the second to fifth years, inclusive 48 — % 48 H.4F
(BiEERW4) 49,704 56,771
After five years TLAFER 12,280 -
108,986 97,096
(b) As lessee (b) fEARAA
The Group leases certain of its office properties AR AR AR 488 A R PR AR T A
under operating lease arrangements. Leases for B - MBEWEE EZMEN T
properties are negotiated for terms ranging from one =X
to three years.
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had R IR > A B AR RS R AR AR
total future minimum lease payments under non- FE B 2 H 1% R A 5 AR FH 5 ) 3k 4
cancellable operating leases falling due as follows: W
2019 2018
R | RN\
HK$’000 HK$’000
T# T# T
Within one year —4E RN 402 501
In the second to fifth years, inclusive 48 — % 48 H 4%
(BHEHERRS) - 3
402 504

2018-20195EH &
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39. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 39. B ARk
In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed B b SC B 38 (b) w1 48 88 AL & AR A A
in note 38(b) above, the Group had the following capital AR > AL AE LT ARG ¢
commitments at the end of the reporting period:
2019 2018
“E g | 2R N\
HK$’000 HK$’000
TF# T T
Contracted, but not provided for, CEAH AR .
in respect of:
Properties under development BRY Y E 47,775 57,168
Investment properties EYH 11,290 1,960
Property, plant and equipment LEBR T Y &L - 556,740
Acquisition of subsidiaries Wi S B I A ) 105,000 105,000
164,065 720,868
40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 40. BIHL TR B
(a) In addition to the transactions and balances detailed (a) B A S 5 i 32 JLAR TR A Por s el 2 3% 5%

elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group had
the following transaction with a related party during

the year:

Rental income from Lanon M REARAA
Development Limited (TEEMest R ) Wi >
(“Lanon Development”) HL4 WA

B2 5 Be AR AN o AR A ACAE B A 1 5L

BRI HEAT T BB 5
2019 2018
—E AR 2R\
HK$’000 HK$°000
T#x T#7
2,232 2,232

Mr. Ngai Wing Yin, the son of Mr. Ngai, who is the
chairman of the board of directors of the Company
and a controlling shareholder of the Company, has
a controlling interest in Lanon Development. The
rental income was determined with reference to
the rate of other similar premises and comparable

transactions.
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 40. W TR 5 ()
(continued)
(b) Compensation of key management personnel of the (b) RS B4 EL A B 0l A
Group
2019 2018
R JUE | DB )\E
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHE T
Short term employee benefits R B A 15,939 11,685
Post-employment benefits R 33k 1% 1 R 108 108
Total compensation paid to key YA TPTEESHABRDN
management personnel 48 3 1 16,047 11,793

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included

in note 9 to the financial statements.

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
Except for a derivative financial instrument included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets which is
classified as a financial asset at fair value through profit
or loss and measured at fair value, the financial assets
and liabilities of the Group as at 31 March 2019 were
financial assets stated at amortised cost and financial
liabilities stated at amortised cost, respectively.

All financial assets and liabilities of the Group as at 31
March 2018 were loans and receivables and financial
liabilities stated at amortised cost, respectively.

42. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, accounts receivable, contract assets,
loans and interest receivables, financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets, amount
due from a joint venture, accounts payable, financial
liabilities included in other payables and accruals,
amounts due to joint ventures and interest-bearing bank
loans approximate to their carrying amounts largely due
to the short term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could
be exchanged in a current transaction between willing
parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

41.

42.

A B S I W — 2D R o R M
WA i k9 -

4k T 3L 0N

PR -NAEZA=Z+—H o BREEAREM
AR~ H At A B Al Y W A ik T
Ho B0 U o PR a2 B Bt AR
V1 < il S % DA P A > ACAR Y
T S B A 0 R D B AR R Y
Tl 7 DA B DA R R B AS A < L £ A

PR NEZA=Z+—H o REEB A
< 00 7 D A 4 ) 2y A AR S DA
VL i A 5 1 Y S LA o

%Eﬂiﬁ%&?ﬁﬁ&&?ﬁﬁ@

TG CASREAG o A B T EL A ) 2 3
W > Bl RBLESFEY - BUORS - 64
R~ MWK S A B~ A A AT KO
JFC Al Ak B L At Y < L E - MM —
A SRR ~ EATIRK A1 AR I b FE A
K S T B e R AR SRR
TE VL Bt B BRAT Bk il 2 P AR B B BT
W T <2 M o

EhE A R A EN A PEENZ TR ARZ
S5 75 (3 30 R 5 A A5 B Ah) 132 5 R I
R k% YN
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31 March 2019 ZF—AE=ZHA=1—H

43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
The Group’s principal financial instruments include
interest-bearing bank loans, accounts receivable, other
receivables, loans and interest receivables, accounts
payable, other payables and bank balances and time
deposits. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in the respective notes to the financial

statements.

The Group’s ordinary activities expose it to various
financial risks, including interest rate risk, credit risk
and liquidity risk. The risks associated with financial
instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these
risks are described below. Management monitors closely
the Group’s exposures to financial risks to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented in a timely and

effective manner.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s debt
obligations with floating interest rates.

At 31 March 2019, it was estimated that an increase/
decrease of 25 basis points in interest rates, with all
other variables held constant, would decrease/increase
the Group’s profit after tax and retained profits by
HK$3,279,000 (2018: HK$2,881,000), arising as a result
of higher/lower interest expense on the Group’s floating-
rate borrowings. There would be no impact on other
components of the Group’s equity.

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred
at the end of the reporting period. For the purposes of
the analysis, it is assumed that the amount of variable-
rate borrowings outstanding at the end of the reporting
period was outstanding throughout the whole year. The
25 basis point increase or decrease represents management
assessment of a reasonably possible change in interest
rates over the period until the reporting date of the next
financial year. The analysis was performed on the same
basis for the year ended 31 March 2018.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
accounts receivables, contract assets, loans and interest
receivables, financial assets included in prepayments,
other receivables and other assets and cash and bank
balances. The Group’s maximum credit risk exposure at
the end of each reporting period in the event of other
parties failing to perform their obligations is represented
by the carrying amounts of financial assets as stated in the

consolidated statements of financial position.

Management monitors the creditworthiness and payment

patterns of each debtor closely and on an ongoing basis.

The Group’s accounts receivable and contract assets from
contract works represent interim payments or retentions
certified by the customers under terms as stipulated in
the contracts and the Group does not hold any collateral
over these accounts receivable and contract assets. As the
Group’s customers in respect of contract works primarily
consist of government departments and developers or
owners with strong financial backgrounds, management
considers that the risk of irrecoverable receivables from

contract works is not significant.

In respect of rentals receivable, to limit the credit risk
exposure, deposits or guarantee are required from each
tenant upon inception of the leases and monthly rentals
are received in advance. Payments from each tenant are

monitored and collectability is reviewed closely.

In respect of loans and interest receivables, individual
credit evaluations are performed on all borrowers
requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations
focus on the borrowers’ past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and take into
account information specific to the borrowers. Certain
of these loans and interest receivables are secured by the

properties owned by respective borrowers.
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued)
At 31 March 2019, the Group had certain concentrations
of credit risk as 30% (31 March 2018: 68%) and 84%
(31 March 2018: 81%) of the total accounts receivable,
contract assets and loans and interest receivables were
due from the Group’s largest external customer and the

Group’s five largest external customers, respectively.

The Group has applied the simplified approach to provide
for impairment for ECLs prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision
for impairment of all accounts receivable and contract
assets. To measure the ECLs, accounts receivable and
contract assets have been grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics and the days past due. With
the incorporation of forward-looking information in the
ECLs, management considered that the ECL rate for
the Group’s accounts receivable and contract assets is
minimal and therefore no provision for impairment of
accounts receivable and contract assets was necessary as

at 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2018.

For loans and interest receivables, the Group applied the
general approach to provide for impairment for ECLs
prescribed by HKFRS 9. As at 31 March 2019, loans
and interest receivables that were overdue amounted to
HK$91,137,000 (31 March 2018: nil) and all the balances
were categorised within Stage 1 or Stage 2 for the

measurement of ECLs.

An impairment analysis is performed throughout the
reporting period, which are estimated by applying the
probability of default approach with reference to the risks
of default of the borrowers. As certain loans and interest
receivables are covered by the pledge of properties of the
borrowers, management considered that the ECL rate
for the Group’s loans and interest receivables is minimal
and therefore no provision for impairment of loans and
interest receivables was made as at 31 March 2019 and 1
April 2018.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

#mofE OB Ok A B A W

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued)

For financial assets included in prepayments, other
receivables and other assets (the “Other Financial
Assets”), the Group applied the general approach to
provide for impairment for ECLs prescribed by HKFRS
9. None of the Other Financial Assets as at 31 March
2019 and 1 April 2018 were overdue, and all balances
were categorised within Stage 1 for the measurement of
ECLs. An impairment analysis is performed throughout
the reporting period, which are estimated by applying
the probability of default approach with reference to the
risks of default of the debtors. Management considered
that the ECL rate for the Group’s Other Financial Assets
is minimal and therefore no provision for impairment of
Other Financial Assets was made as at 31 March 2019
and 1 April 2018.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31 March 2019

The table below shows the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s
credit policy, which is mainly based on past due
information unless other information is available without

undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification as

at 31 March 2019.
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 43. W WL B 4% B H B B BOSR (%)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued) 1 £ B BE (%)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31 March B ZEAEZH = A H 8957 i e 2 R
2019 (continued) TFAE T I 11 B B ()
12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
120 A W B
GYEPS B A 500 W BN R K
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
B—Re B KB BERB fiife s At

HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
T#x T#x T#x Ti#x T#x

Accounts receivable* B Wi B 2 - - - 110,382 110,382
Contract assets* BHE R - - - 220,160 220,160
Loans and interest receivables FEWe 2 A B 298,263 91,137 - - 389,400
Financial assets included AR HE
in prepayments, Al B ek &
other receivables ot 2 1y
and other assets — normal** Mg E
— IE g 132,058 - - - 132,058
Amount due from Elk—a8
a joint venture REHE 114 - - - 114
Cash and cash equivalents B kB RSN
— Not yet past due - R 1,552,123 - - - 1,552,123
1,982,558 91,137 - 330,542 2,404,237

* For accounts receivable and contract assets to which the Group * 2 45 [ R PR A £ A T 3 1 M ACHR 3k % & 4
applies the simplified approach for impairment is disclosed as HE > A RERE E X -
above.

#*  The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, R AR TR AT K~ M R B b Y
other receivables and other assets is considered to be “normal” S 1T 7 AE N A Y] L A R AR ) Al
when they are not past due and there is no information indicating E A5 B0 R B ) 4G TR AR LR R > B
that the financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk FREEGHG A TIER ] o AR > &8 E
since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the MG ERGWE ] -

financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”.

Maximum exposure as at 31 March 2018 WBZF—NEZJ =A— H B 5w g
The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, A A 55 L Y G b 4 i AR (LR B KB
which comprise cash and cash equivalents and other S SAE A DA B oAt B WOk ) o A5 B R B R A2
receivables, arises from default of the counterparty, with a Sy T AT A - e BB A N A T
maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these By IR T e o

instruments.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to monitor regularly the current
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and long term. In addition, banking facilities have been

put in place for contingency purposes.

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the
Group’s financial liabilities, which are based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest
payments computed using contractual rates, or if floating,
based on rates current at the end of the reporting period)
and the earliest date that the Group could be required to

repay:

43.

YA 5 i B ek
31 March 2019 ZZF—NE=H=4+—H
W B B A PR H OB R R ()

L ) ¥ 4 e B

7 452 1 B SR A B 5 B R TR O B
S > DU DRI AR R A B KA
S A Sl T R Y A R > DL
R R R MR B ST o A > K
FHFCLIRITRER > UFARFZT o

TS A SR A £ BRUR HR 8R B R
BRE K - TRIMBGARTBEB SRR
(356 DA £ 20 0 52 0 g 4 S 0 2 AR 7Y
e st 391 R PR B AT R R A AR AR R0 T B
B > % 5 G AR SR A SR I T RE 2Rk
A 5 a2

Within one In the In the
year or on second  third to fifth
demand year years Total
—~4 R LSt
BRIk BAEW BHER i
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T#L T#L T#L T#L
At 31 March 2019 REZ-WEZA =11
Interest-bearing bank loans (note) SRR ML) 1,612,403 - - 1,612,403
Accounts payable (note 27) TR IRk (H727) 220,447 56,046 67,422 343,915
Financial liabilities included in other payables & £57E S A e} 3%
(note 28) e B & i) 114,656 - - 114,636
Amounts due to joint ventures (note 17) TERH A8 3308 (it 7) 801 - - 801
1,948,307 56,046 67,422 2,071,775
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

43. S %5 b B 4% B H B B BOR (AR

Liquidity risk (continued) Uit By 4 L B (7))
Within one In the In the
year or on second third to fifth
demand year years Total
B R B=%
FHEK B FHER ot
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
T#7 T#7 T#L T#
At 31 March 2018 REF-NEZA=4—H
Interest-bearing bank loans (note) SRR ML) 1,410,695 - - 1,410,695
Accounts payable (note 27) TR (M 7E27) 312,503 16,553 105,308 444,366
Financial liabilities included in other payables 45 7E S A FEF %
(note 28) W & (Hi29) 38,360 - - 38,360
Amounts due to joint ventures (note 17) TErt &8 3R M it17) 8,114 - - 8,114
1,779,074 16,553 105,308 1,901,535
Note: Included in interest-bearing bank loans are certain term loans Kt @ wF BSRAT B B T 0 8 ok B A 3

in an aggregate amount of HK$1,570,963,000 (31 March 2018:
HK$1,380,161,000). The loan agreements of these term loans
contain a repayment on demand clause giving the bank the
unconditional right to call in the loan at any time and therefore,
for the purposes of the above maturity profile, the total amount is
classified as “on demand”.

Notwithstanding the above clause, the directors do not believe
that the related loans will be called in their entirety within
12 months, and they consider that the loans will be repaid
in accordance with the maturity dates as set out in the loan
agreements. This evaluation was made considering: the financial
position of the Group at the date of approval of the financial
statements; the Group’s compliance with the loan covenants; the
lack of events of default; and the fact that the Group has made all
previously scheduled repayments on time. In accordance with the
terms of the loans, the contractual undiscounted payments are as

1,570,963,000% 76 (ZF— \F=H=+—
H :1,380,161,000% JC) ° #% % & M & %
B B Bk R e R B R A R GR - 4R
T ERAT AR PR RER o WY BE RES R
M B Bk BN ARG > SR R
[HgER] -

A A LAk > EEME A B RO
AEFI2AA N AEH B > SRR H
IR B0 A AR O B K b T R 28
H AR o WP 7575 B3 « SR B I 2 it
A H O B DL - AR A
Bk~ MR TP > DU RACHE [
IR G 25 O A P T 0 LR OB o AR R Rk P A0
Ko BHRTTBA W :

follows:
2019 2018
e S I S RN\
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#xL T
Within one year or on demand —AE N B R R 557,335 266,376
In the second year AN 406,375 116,732
In the third to fifth years, inclusive BEFEAAEN (B ERWAAE) 625,644 1,012,531
Beyond five years HAED, E 58,057 65,248
1,647,411 1,460,887
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Capital management

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management
policy is to ensure that the Group will be able to continue
as a going concern while maximising the return to
stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
on a periodical basis. As part of this review, the directors
of the Company consider the cost of capital and the risks
associated with each class of capital and will balance
the Group’s overall capital structure through new share
issues as well as the raising of new debts and repayment of

existing debts.

The Group monitors capital using a net gearing ratio,
which is net debt divided by the equity attributable to
owners of the parent. Net debt includes total interest-
bearing bank loans less cash and cash equivalents as
shown in the consolidated statement of financial position.
The following table is an analysis of the Group’s capital

structure as at 31 March:

VR85 0 o TR i

31 March 2019 ZF—RE=H=1+—H

43. S %5 b B 4% B H B B BOR (AR

wan

ARG A A BRI R H B - BB IR
A A T B e A i 2 TR 4R P A o TR
A SR B o A AL > ] IR A A 4 T SR [
# o

Aoy ] B o AR AR o AR A ]
DL S PR B A SO 4 R R e B A
Hy OBt i — Ay o 5N B AT R e A A
B S BT AR I S AR B R P B A 4R 1
R G AL o

AR BB R AR E & > K
B BR B A R A 5 A AR o % B
175 £ B W B IR DL A BT 71 1w B SRAT Bk A
BORBL & R B & FEY » TRAAEER=
H=+—HE AR Z 4

2019 2018

ZEJUE | ZE N\

HK$’000 HK$’000

T# T#C

Total interest-bearing bank loans (note 29) # B4R 47 B sk 2840 (M 7E29) 1,570,963 1,380,161
Less: Cash and cash equivalents (note 26) ¥ : Bl 4 M L ZEW

(Mit26) (1,552,123)[  (1,480,671)

Net debt T B 18,840 (100,510)

Equity attributable to owners of the parent £}/ 5] F¢ G % HEAL HE 25 4,205,519 3,464,114

Net gearing ratio R b 0.4% | N/A K
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44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position

44. 7 2y ) 0 S IR OL

A7 R A T S A G A R A 1 R

of the Company at the end of the reporting period is as mF
follows:
2019 2018
ZE | ZF-NE
HK$’000 HK$’000
T #C F# T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS Ik i By o e
Investments in subsidiaries i NGRS S 4 895,454 576,586
CURRENT ASSETS W) ¥
Prepayments, other receivables and FEAT R ~ oAt
other assets JRE WLk B F At A 13 150
Tax recoverable ) g [l At IE - 81
Cash and cash equivalents B4 RBE&EEY 52,677 101,206
Total current assets T B & A AR 52,690 101,437
CURRENT LIABILITIES i ) £1
Other payables JHC Ath B A 3 1,107 1,127
Tax payable JRE A+ 5 I 259 -
Total current liabilities B A AR 1,366 1,127
NET CURRENT ASSETS ) ¥ E 51,324 100,310
Net assets EEFE 946,778 676,896
EQUITY BE %5
Issued capital OB AT A 42,074 42,074
Reserves (note) it t (B E) 904,704 634,822
Total equity HORERR 946,778 676,896

NGAI Chun Hung

B Ik i
Director

#HH
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44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF  44. AR 2A 6l iy W %Mo % (4)
THE COMPANY (continued)

Note: Mat ¢
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: AKAFREFIENT
Share Share
premium Contributed option Retained
account surplus reserve profits Total
Beprae e BB WIRBER  REEA Hm

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T#0 T T T T

At 1 April 2017 W _F—tHEN—H 342,430 63,948 1,368 349,067 756,813
Profit and total comprehensive — AS4E B s Il S 4 i 25 4R 45

income for the year - - - 905 905
2017 final dividend ZE LR - - - (33,717) (33,717)
Shares repurchased and cancelled i 5] 5 w8 JB 4 (89,269) - - - (89,269)
Transfer of share option reserve i I Bl 25 2% IR il 43

upon the lapse of share option B HEf# M - - (31) 31 -
Issue of shares BT A 113 - (23) - 90
At 31 March 2018 and B NE=ZHA=1H

1 April 2018 K _F—)\FWNH—H 253,274 63,948 1,314 316,286 634,822
Profit and total comprehensive — AS4F JB ¥ Il K 2 1 Wi 25 A8 41

income for the year - - - 303,541 303,541
2018 final dividend R )ER B S - - - (33,659) (33,659)
Transfer of share option reserve i B A R 25 IRF i 43¢

upon the lapse of share option  Ji A fifi f5 - - (15) 15 -
At 31 March 2019 R NWFE=H=+—H 253,274 63,948 1,299 586,183 904,704
The contributed surplus of the Company represents O] Z BT AR TR A AR A B B A b i AR
the excess of the nominal value of the shares of the R AR 4 [ o A W < R A ] R 2 T
subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the Group reorganisation 9 R AL A 5 WO A ) B AT 2 AR
prior to the listing of the Company’s shares, over A Ry i 2 B 4 o ARAE T AR U4
the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in A > ARA R TR B SRR
exchange therefor. Under the Bermuda Companies H i G e A H 43 R o

Act 1981, the Company may make distributions to
its members out of the contributed surplus in certain

circumstances.

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of WEERERE A TR T - WRATRE O B 2
share options granted which are yet to be exercised, as AP E R AL > 5F AR B B IR M R3O
further explained in the accounting policy for share- Jie A5 0 HERE By S A BOR B R o A B I
based payments in note 3 to the financial statements. The PR REAT AR > 5% faft 4 v bH B <5 7 A I 03 ¥
amount will either be transferred to the share premium AR > S P A O A 2 Aok el e i % -
account when the related options are exercised, or be AR A o

transferred to retained profits should the related options

expire or be forfeited.
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45.

46.

47.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

In April 2019, the Group entered into a provisional sale
and purchase agreement with an independent third party
to acquire an investment property located in Hong Kong
at an aggregate consideration of HK$140 million. This
acquisition was completed in May 2019.

Further details of this acquisition are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 11 April 2019.

COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS
Certain comparative amounts have been re-presented to

conform with the current year’s presentation.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the board of directors on 25 June 2019.
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